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At Seventh Avenue and 42nd Street, rehabilitation of the Times Square station complex continues.
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Message from the Chairman
and the Executive Director

Peter S. Kalikow, Chairman

From Bay Shore to Buffalo, from Poughkeepsie to Plattsburgh,
economic benefits of the Capital Program are felt as the myriad
components of the MTA’s subways, commuter trains, and buses are
manufactured and assembled by businesses located all across the
state. The “ripple effect” of dollars invested in the MTA’s 2000-2004
Capital Program has generated impressive economic benefits for
the overall New York State economy:
• 301,552 total worker-years of employment, or between 16,000
and 35,000 jobs annually for nine years
• $10.2 billion in salaries and wages
• $941 million in state and local personal income and sales
taxes
• $25.3 billion in economic activity/sales

Katherine N. Lapp, Executive Director

May 1, 2005

In 2004, we completed
the MTA’s fifth five-year
Capital Program. That
nearly $20 billion effort
delivered thousands of
high-tech rail cars and
new buses for our eight
million daily customers,
renovated and made
ADA-accessible dozens
of stations and parking
facilities, and invested in
a host of “invisible”
infrastructure improvements that provide
greater safety and reliability. But the impacts of
the Capital Program
reach far beyond the
MTA’s network and the
customers it serves.
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Mass transit — subways, buses, commuter rail, bridges and
tunnels — and our region’s economic and social life have long been
intertwined. Three milestones in 2004 — the 100th anniversary of
the subways, the 170th anniversary of MTA Long Island Rail Road,
and the 40th anniversary of the Verrazano-Narrows Bridge —
demonstrate the dimensions of these interrelationships.
The Subway Centennial celebrated the enormous impetus the
subways gave to New York City’s evolution, transforming it in an
incredibly short time from a densely populated, traffic-choked
Lower Manhattan into five thriving boroughs united as a prosperous economic and social entity. Productivity and prosperity grew
explosively. A huge building boom raised new buildings and blocks
of spacious apartments around announced routes. Between 1910
and 1940, the population of New York increased by 56 percent, but
the population of Manhattan fell 19 percent. People were moving
to more affordable and comfortable homes in upper Manhattan
and the former fields and farms of the Bronx, Brooklyn, Queens,
and Staten Island.
Our commuter railroads performed a similar service for Long
Island and the northern suburbs, with prosperous bedroom communities growing up around new train stations. Today, Long Island
Rail Road’s Atlantic Terminal is an important part of the economic
revitalization of that neighborhood. MTA Metro-North Railroad’s
electrification of the Harlem Line beyond Brewster (1982-1984)
resulted in a 370 percent increase in ridership on the Dover Plains
line since 1980. After the Verrazano-Narrows Bridge opened in
1964, the population of Staten Island grew by 20 percent between
1970 and 1990.
But these kinds of economic benefits depend on continuing
investment and maintenance — disinvestment and deferred maintenance brought the subways to near ruin in the 70s and 80s, when
a third of the fleet was typically out of service during the morning
rush hours and the commuter railroads suffered similar, albeit less
severe, damage. The resulting delays and lost time wreaked havoc
on worker productivity and diminished the desirability of the metropolitan area as a business center.

The MTA has worked diligently over the last 22
years to prevent the recurrence of this scenario, and
we are pleased that our 2005-2009 Capital Program
proposals represent a balance between our commitment to maintaining and upgrading the system and
a realistic vision of expansion that will alleviate
strains on the current system, provide new facilities
to meet the projected needs of population growth
and future customers, and build transportation
infrastructure that will spur and support further economic development.
Our core concern is the system’s repair, maintenance, and upgrading — most of the infrastructure
is fifty to a hundred years old, and so we’ve allocated substantial resources to these ongoing activities.
But we’re also planning for a system that will support regional economic development and prosperity.
One step in this direction was the creation of the
MTA Bus Company in September to take over the
operations of seven bus companies operating under
franchises granted by the New York City Department
of Transportation. Beginning in January 2005, these
lines are being taken over on a staggered basis, and
MTA Bus will consolidate and be responsible for
their local and express operations.

such increases well in advance we can keep pace
with inflationary pressures, while the increases are
predictable and more moderate, causing less hardship for riders.
Increased efficiency and budgetary discipline are
both necessary, and we are exploring more innovative revenue-generating initiatives. But we must also
obtain increased support from our federal, state, and
local partners, and we are taking every opportunity
to make our case aggressively in these forums as well
as with the business community. Our strongest argument is that first-rate public transportation is necessary, not only for mobility and prosperity in the metropolitan region, but also to generate significant
benefits to the New York State economy from continued investment in the 2005-2009 Capital Program.
The past year was full of challenges and even
some frustration, but the accomplishments cited in
this report clearly testify that the people of the MTA
continue to pursue the goal of safe, reliable, and
efficient public transportation despite these difficulties. We remain committed to providing that essential service in a form the future of the region and its
citizens desire.

We continue to look to the future as we plan for
East Side Access and the Second Avenue Subway, two
visionary projects that are poised to get underway.
On the operating side of the ledger, the MTA’s
budget showed a significant surplus in 2004 and we
have taken great measures to lower deficits previously projected for 2005 and beyond. The first quarter of 2005 showed progress toward a balanced
budget with real estate taxes ahead of plan, fares
and tolls increased as planned, and cost-reduction
programs implemented.
Our 2006 budget will benefit from the recently
adopted state budget which provided new revenues
to the MTA (increased sales tax and mortgage
recording tax revenues, Department of Motor
Vehicles fees) as well as the stabilization reserves set
aside from the 2004 budget (assuming 2005 continues on plan) and continuing cost-efficiency programs. As a result, our budget planning for 2006 is
progressing well.

Peter S. Kalikow
Chairman

Katherine N. Lapp
Executive Director

In addition, our 2007 budget is looking manageable because of new cost-efficiency programs in
shared services and reorganization, new revenue
sources including sponsorship revenues, and previously planned fare and toll increases. By planning
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MTA Leadership
MTA Board

Peter S. Kalikow, Chairman
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David S.
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Edward B.
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John H.
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MTA Management

Katherine N. Lapp, Executive Director

Stephen L. Kessler, Chief Financial Officer; Christopher P. Boylan, Deputy Executive
Director, Corporate and Community Affairs; Linda G. Kleinbaum, Deputy Executive Director,
Administration; Gary M. Lanigan, Director, Budgets and Financial Management
(left to right)

William A. Morange, Deputy Executive Director, Director of Security; Timothy A. O’Brien,
Corporate Secretary, Chief of Staff; Catherine A. Rinaldi, Deputy Executive Director, General
Counsel; Paul Spinelli, Auditor General

Agency Presidents

Michael C. Ascher, MTA Bridges and Tunnels; Peter A. Cannito,
MTA Metro-North Railroad; James J. Dermody, MTA Long Island Rail Road

(left to right)

Mysore L. Nagaraja, MTA Capital Construction; Lawrence G. Reuter, MTA New York City
Transit; Thomas J. Savage, MTA Bus Company; Neil S. Yellin, MTA Long Island Bus
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2004 Consolidated Financial Highlights
Assets and Liabilities
($ millions)

Assets
Capital assets, net
Other assets

Liabilities and Net Assets

$43,837

100.00%

$33,654

76.77%

10,183

23.23

$43,837

100.00%

Current liabilities

$2,487

5.67%

Long-term liabilities

23,754

54.19

Net assets

17,596

40.14

Income and Expenses
($ millions)

Income
Fares and operating revenues,

$3,740

42.14%

except tolls
Tolls

1,097

12.36

State subsidies

206

2.32

Local subsidies

317

3.57

Other subsidies

52

0.59

State/regional taxes

2,453

27.64

Other

1,010

11.38

0

0.00

Federal subsidies
Total

$8,875

100.00%

$5,240

59.05%

Expenses
NYC buses and subways
Commuter rail, suburban buses,

2,417

27.23

Bridges and tunnels

356

4.01

Debt service and other

862

9.71

Staten Island Railway, and
MTA headquarters

Total
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$8,875

100.00%

Capital Program Progress
Capital Program Funding Received Through December 31, 2004*
($ millions)

MTA federal grants
State service contracts**
State appropriations
City appropriations
MTA bonds
MTA debt restructuring
MAC surplus
Lessor equity/Asset sales†
Investment income
Capital-operating transfer/Pay-as-you-go
Other§
Total

1982–2004
$15,581
1,867
622
3,549
12,477
4,480
925
830
2,031
1,214
2,454

2004
$284
-3
1
90
983
1,345
–
53
97
62
965

$46,029

$3,878

* Funding for MTA Bridges and Tunnels Capital Programs not included.
** As part of reconciliation by the MTA Office of the Comptroller, state service contract receipts have been
recalculated. Negative figure for 2004 represents the effect of the recalculation.
† Asset sales figures have been consolidated with Lessor equity. Asset sales represent one-time gains from the
sales of the East Side Airlines Terminal and the New York Coliseum.
§ Includes consolidation of funds from Beneficial Interest Certificates ($80 million total; no additional funds
in 2004), Port Authority of New York and New Jersey ($413 million total; no additional funds in 2004), and
Nassau County ($3 million total; $3 million in 2004).
Note: Because of rounding, totals may not add exactly.

Capital Program Progress, 1982-2004
($ millions)

Commitments

Expenditures

Completions

$49,039
33,836
6,580
4,815
2,067
1,407

$42,541
29,675
5,748
4,207
1,685
977

$36,024
26,282
4,675
3,309
1,478
98

Commitments

Expenditures

Completions

$1,759
876
137
361
79
245

$3,355
1,923
469
393
198
295

$2,850
1,540
471
447
328
64

MTA Total*†
MTA New York City Transit
MTA Long Island Rail Road
MTA Metro-North Railroad
MTA Bridges and Tunnels
MTA Capital Construction

Capital Program Progress, 2004
($ millions)

MTA Total*
MTA New York City Transit
MTA Long Island Rail Road
MTA Metro-North Railroad
MTA Bridges and Tunnels
MTA Capital Construction

* MTA totals include the following amounts:
World Trade Center recovery: Total commitments, $206 million; total expenditures, $200 million; total completions,
$148 million; 2004 expenditures, $62 million.
Planning and Customer Service Projects: Total commitments, $67 million; total expenditures, $49 million; total
completions, $34 million; 2004 expenditures, $15 million.
MTA Bus Company: 2004 commitments, $61 million.
† Does not include $92 million of commuter rail project commitments made in the 1982-1991 Capital Program for
projects that could not be assigned to either railroad since they benefited both.
Note: Because of rounding, totals may not add exactly. Commitments may be more than receipts since bonds are
sold as cash is needed.
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Capital Program:
Statewide Benefit
Utica

Since 1982 a series of five-year Capital
Programs has maintained, rebuilt, and
improved the MTA’s physical system and
thus enhanced our ability to provide our
customers with better service. They have
also created jobs and important economic benefits throughout the entire New
York State economy because the components of the subways, commuter trains,
and buses purchased by the MTA are
manufactured and assembled by firms
located all across the state.
Four principal New York State contractors
provide the MTA with subway cars, buses,
and commuter rail cars: Alstom (Hornell),
Orion Bus Industries (Oriskany),
Bombardier (Plattsburgh), and Kawasaki
(Yonkers). Another 73 principal subcontractors in 42 cities across the state manufacture electrical systems, subway
wheels and air springs, bus filters and
hydraulic lines, rail car HVAC, and countless other components.
A Port Authority study conducted in the
mid-1990s used a sophisticated “inputoutput” computer model to estimate the
“ripple effect” of dollars invested in the
MTA’s 1992-1996 Capital Program.
Applying those same ratios to the MTA’s
$19.6 billion 2000-2004 Capital Program
dramatizes its impressive economic benefits for New York State’s economy:

Lockport
Tonawanda

Rochester
Eagle Bridge

Buffalo
Orchard Park

Henrietta

Westfield

Albany
Johnson City

Hornell

Binghamton

Sidney

• Locations of Principal Contractors for Subway, Bus, and Rail Cars
Hornell and Yonkers
Alstom and Kawasaki
R160 subway cars
Oriskany
Orion Bus Industries
Orion VII, Hybrid, and CNG buses
Plattsburgh
Bombardier
R142 subway cars and M7 rail cars
Yonkers
Kawasaki Rail Car
R142A, R142S, R143 subway cars
• Locations of Principal Subcontractors for Subway, Bus, and Rail Cars

• $25.3 billion in economic
activity/sales

Arkport
Silk Road Transport
Rail car transportation
Auburn
Auburn Technology
Subway car HVAC
Bay Shore
UFC Aerospace
Subway car lock-tite
Binghamton
Harris Assembly Group
Bus electrical
MELCO
Subway car HVAC
Westcode
Subway car truck final assembly
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Glenville

Auburn

Albany
Albatros US Corp
Rail car HVAC, auxiliary power, and
monitoring

• $10.2 billion in salaries and wages.

Syracuse

Arkport

• 301,552 total worker-years of employment or between 16,000 to 35,000
jobs annually for nine years

• $941 million in state and local personal income and sales taxes

Plattsburgh

Oriskany

Buffalo
Luminator
Subway car lighting and signs
Vibratech
Subway car truck vibration dampers
Deer Park
Dynalantic
Subway car cab simulator
Woodbine
Subway car communications parts
Eagle Bridge
Cambridge Nicole Industries
Rail car machining
Eagle Bridge
Rail car truck casting

Brewster
Hudson Machine Works
Subway car floor heat assembly

Elmsford
BBA
Subway car hardware
Koito/KPS
Subway car monitoring and diagnostic
systems
WABCO
Rail car coupler

Brooklyn
Altech Electronics
Subway car radio transceiver

Farmingdale
Air & Power Transmission
Bus filters and hydraulic lines

Locations of Principal Contractors and Subcontractors for Subway, Bus, and Rail Cars

Great Neck
Greenlawn

Elmsford
White Plains
Yonkers
New York City

Ronkonkoma
Long Island City
Melville
Syosset

Troy
Brooklyn
Queens
Woodside
Kingston

Poughkeepsie
Brewster

Westbury
Mineola
New Hyde Park
Valley Stream

Product Technology
Subway car fabricated metal parts
Tape Switch
Bus touch tapes
Telephonics
Subway car communications
Glenville
Melco (Super Steel)
Rail car propulsion

See Inset above

Great Neck
Nishiyama
Subway car air hoses
Greenlawn
Phazer Antenna
Subway car communication network
assembly
Henrietta
SMC Pneumatics
Subway car door system parts
Johnson City
BAE Systems N.A.
Bus HybriDrive™ diesel-electric propulsion
system
Kingston
Smith Henneke
Subway car fabricated metal parts
Lockport
Diversified Manufacturing Inc.
Bus sheet metal
Long Island City
Honeywell Sensing
Subway car connectors
Melville
Allen Machine
Subway car door system parts
Mineola
Safe T Metals
Subway car door thresholds
New Hyde Park
Motion Industries
Subway car Lock-tite
New York
Big Apple Sign Corporation
Subway car graphic designs
Cox & Company Inc.
Rail car weldments
Newark
Subway car electrical parts

Deer Park
Farmingdale
Bay Shore

Sumitomo
Subway car wheels and air springs
Orchard Park
Enidine
Subway car vertical shock
absorbers
Oriskany
Seifert Graphics
Bus decals
Plattsburgh
Axion Technologies LTD
(former Pocatec/PCS)
Subway car electronic signs
Rail car communication
Curtis Door Systems
Subway car door parts, end door tracks,
and door closures
Group Multina
Rail car passenger seats
Knorr Brake
Subway Car Brake Parts and Subassemblies
Rail car friction brake
PCS Technologies
Subway car information signs
Railtech
Subway car plymetal flooring
Rail car ceiling panels
Temoinsa Corporation
Rail car toilet modules
TransEd
Subway car truck assembly
Rail car truck manufacturing
Vapor
Subway car door systems
Vapor/WABCO
Rail car door operator
WABCO
Subway car brakes, pneumatics, couplers,
and current collectors
X-Plo/E-Z Sto
Rail car transportation
Poughkeepsie
Koshii
Subway car floor and interior panels
Queens
Peerless Electronics
Subway car event recorder
Rochester
Acro Industries
Subway car FRP plastics and moldings

Chamberlin Rubber
Subway car elastomers/seals
Garston Sign & Screen
Subway car sealer
Integrated Logistics Solution
Bus hardware
Ronkonkoma
Hytech Industries
Subway car panels
Sidney
Amphenol
Subway car cable assemblies
Rail Car receptacles/jumpers and harness
cables
Syosset
Clever Devices
Bus message player
Syracuse
Syracuse Diesel & Electric
Subway car control valves
Tonawanda
Sinclair
Subway car radio antenna
Troy
VPS Control Systems
Subway car control cables
Utica
New Hartford Sheet Metal
Bus sheet metal
Oriskany Manufacturing Technology
Bus sheet metal
Valley Stream
Walker International Transportation Inc.
Rail car warehousing
Westbury
Lin Industries
Subway car floor panels and assemblies
Rail car electro-mechanical assembly
fabrication
Westfield
Renold
Subway car gear unit and coupling
assembly
White Plains
Benfield Electric
Subway car electric parts
Woodside
Jamaica Bearings
Subway car journal bearings
Yonkers
BBA Project Inc.
Rail car distribution-batteries
Benfield Electric
Subway car electrical parts
Graybar
Subway car conduit
Panasonic
Subway car communications
Tamperproof Screw
Subway car hardware

9

MTA Operations
Capital Program Overview 2000-2004
In May 2000 the $17.1 billion 2000-2004 Capital Program was approved
by the Capital Program Review Board; by December 2004, the addition of
World Trade Center repair work (rebuilding the 1/9 line), the MTA security
program, the Lower Manhattan recovery projects, the acceleration of M-7
rail car purchases, and the addition of funds for MTA Bus ultimately
increased the value of the program to $19.6 billion.
By the end of 2004, 95 percent of the core work of
the five-year program had been committed. Thirtyfive percent of the core program funding supported
the state-of-good-repair needs of the MTA system,
49 percent supported normal replacement of system components at or near the end of their useful
life, and 13 percent went to system improvement.
MTA Capital Construction committed 58 percent of
a $2.6 billion budget for the major expansion projects under its auspices.
Over the course of the 2000-04 Capital Program,
MTA New York City Transit fully retired its old
“Redbird” fleet and purchased 1,210 new “hightech” rail cars, 520 of which are currently in service. Of 885 new buses ordered, 685 are in service.
A total of 68 station rehabilitations, including
Times Square, are underway and 19 have been
completed. These rehabilitations are perhaps the
most dramatic evidence of capital improvement
and upgrading, but improvements are also underway in invisible infrastructure essential to system
operation, such as pumps, fans, relays, and signals.
Along with these accomplishments, NYC Transit
restored 1/9 service in a remarkably quick ninemonth recovery from the World Trade Center
attacks.
MTA Long Island Rail Road’s new bi-level diesel
fleet is fully in service as are 344 of 678 ordered
M-7 electric cars. The railroad’s 2000-2004 track
and concrete tie program has been completed as
planned and 700 of 1,400 new parking spaces are
under construction or complete. LIRR’s M-3 overhauls and Atlantic Terminal and Jamaica Station
projects are well underway.
The 2000-04 Capital Program witnessed the purchase and delivery of the first 180 of 300 new M-7
electric cars MTA Metro-North Railroad has
ordered; 65 coaches have also been ordered and
nine locomotives have been delivered. Nine Hudson
Line stations are being rehabilitated; two — including the historic Yonkers station — have been completed, and seven others are underway. Other projects that are underway include 1,532 of 2,027 new
Times Square station complex rehabilitation.
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parking spaces, Hudson Line Overpass improvements, design work for Harlem Line station renovations, and network infrastructure upgrades. Phase II
of the Harmon Shop and Yard replacement is underway and Phase III design is complete.
MTA Bridges and Tunnels completed the largest
rehabilitation project in its history, the roadway
deck rehabilitation of the suspension span and
Queens viaduct of the Triborough Bridge, and completely replaced the roadway deck of the Marine
Parkway-Gil Hodges Bridge.

By December 2004, 95 percent of the core
work of the 2000-2004 Capital Program
had been committed.
Construction has begun on the Fulton Street Transit
Center, a major reconstruction project that will support the recovery and revitalization of Lower
Manhattan. The new transit center, which is being
built with 100 percent federal funding, will benefit
hundreds of thousands of Lower Manhattan commuters a day as well as accommodate the five million or more visitors a year anticipated for the World
Trade Center Memorial and the current 3.5 million
visitors to the Statue of Liberty.
At the site of the most heavily used subway lines in
Lower Manhattan, the Fulton Street Transit Center
(FSTC) will provide a direct connection to the WTC
site. The current Fulton Street facility serves over
225,000 passengers each day; the existing complex
and nearby stations provide 100 million trips annually. These facilities are poorly connected and difficult to access from the street. The new transit center
will create a major connection for 12 subway lines
that serve the Fulton Street/Broadway-Nassau complex and nearby stations, improving circulation and
reducing crowding by reconfiguring the current
maze of narrow ramps and stairs.
The South Ferry Terminal project, which is also 100
percent federally funded, will replace the obsolete
curved, single-track number 1 line station — which
accommodates only half the length of a subway
train — with a straight two-track terminal that will
accommodate full-length trains and improve average trip time and reliability of the entire number 1
line. This will also support growth that is already
underway and expected to accelerate with the development of the WTC site, the Staten Island Ferry
Terminal reconstruction, and planned rehabilitation

Atlantic Avenue station complex rehabilitation; at left is part
of Hook, Line, and Sinker, a wall sculpture created by George
Trakas in collaboration with diDomenico+Partners.

of Battery Park and expansion of its cultural event
offerings. Lower Manhattan’s residential population
is also growing with Battery Park City expansion
and new downtown conversions from commercial to
residential space.
The Capital Program is funded by a combination of
bond sales, resources from debt restructuring, interest income, insurance proceeds, proceeds from selling or leasing assets, and federal, state, and local
allocations.

The Fulton Street Transit Center and the
South Ferry Terminal are 100 percent
federally funded.
Capital Program 2004 Highlights
Rehabilitation and Improvement One of the
largest station complexes in the MTA New York City
Transit subway system, the Atlantic Avenue complex
is made up of three parts: Atlantic Avenue (B, Q),
Atlantic Ave (2, 3, 4, 5), and Pacific Street (D, M, N,
R), and adjoins Long Island Rail Road’s Atlantic
Avenue Terminal. Part of the downtown Brooklyn
renaissance, its $163.8 million rehabilitation
improved passenger flow and Americans with
Disabilities Act (ADA) accessibility with a new wide
interconnecting passageway between the three stations, new stairs, new control area, new floor and
wall finishes, fluorescent lighting, turnstiles, new
signage, new toilets, and other amenities.
Although work at Stillwell Avenue Terminal in
Coney Island, the terminus of four subway lines, is
not fully complete, NYC Transit has reopened the

11

MTA Operations
facility to the public and most service has been
restored. The terminal features solar panels, a
European-style train shed over all tracks instead of just
canopies over the platforms, and commercial space.
The $141.3 million White Plains Road signal rehabilitation project installed a fixed-block signal system
along the right-of-way from 149th Street-Grand
Concourse to East 180th Street. This modernization
paves the way for automated train supervision. In
addition, four subway
stations that were part of
the original 1904 IRT line
— 103rd, 110th, 116th,
and 125th Streets on the
number 1 line — were
rehabilitated in 2004.
Long Island Rail Road
completed electric fleet
yard renovations at Far
Rockaway Yard to facilitate car cleaning, toilet
servicing, and running
repair ($1.6 million) and
yard re-configuration at
Long Beach Yard to
expand car capacity by
24 cars ($5.5 million).
Synchronous Optical
Network (SONET) and
Asynchronous Transfer
Mode (ATM) equipment
Rehabilitated Stillwell Avenue Terminal.
was installed on the Port
Washington Branch for
monitoring and controlling substations and a portion of the signal system, completing the first phase
of LIRR’s fiber optic network ($28 million) and
including the installation of over one million feet of
cable throughout the system.
A multistory parking facility at Long Beach with 170
additional parking spaces that incorporates the
Long Island Bus terminal next to the station was
completed. At Jamaica Station the opening of the
overpass which interconnects the station to the Air
Train and the NYC Transit system was a milestone
in the station’s continuing revitalization.
Metro-North completed station and parking
improvements at five West-of-Hudson stations:
Harriman, Campbell Hall, Otisville, Pearl River,
and Nanuet ($14 million) and completed projects to
install new ticket vending machines at stations
throughout the system ($18 million). The Mid12

Harlem third track project was completed at a cost
of $57 million.
In its Capital Program, Bridges and Tunnels rehabilitated the structural steel and improved the
drainage system at the Throgs Neck Bridge ($32 million) and replaced the concrete roadway decks on
the suspended span of the Triborough Bridge
($194.3 million). The existing strengthening truss on
the Bronx-Whitestone Bridge was removed and wind
fairing was installed to reduce the dead load on the
suspension cables and provide stability during periods
of high winds ($38 million).
Rolling Stock NYC
Transit received 50 R-142
cars in 2004, part of the 80car purchase from
Kawasaki in 2003. No new
bus orders were placed in
2004, but 319 vehicles —
43 New Flyer articulated
buses, 157 compressed natural gas (CNG) standard
buses, and 119 hybrid
buses — were received,
along with 262 new paratransit vehicles.
Long Island Rail Road took
delivery of an additional
142 Bombardier M-7 cars to
continue replacement of the
M-1 electric fleet ($325 million). This is a joint procurement with Metro-North
which began in the 1995-1999 Capital Program.
After the initial Metro-North pilot cars were delivered in December 2003, Metro-North accepted an
additional 126 Bombardier M-7 cars to continue
replacement of the ACMU (Alternating Current
Multiple Unit cars manufactured in 1965) and M-1
electric fleet ($238 million) in a joint procurement
with LIRR, and ordered an additional 120 cars,
accelerating a purchase planned for the 2005-2009
Capital Program. The delivery of 65 Comet V
Coaches for Metro-North’s West-of-Hudson service
($74 million) was also completed.

Total network ridership was up by
53,794,029 paid rides in 2004, or
2.3 percent.

Ridership
Total network ridership was up by 2.3 percent in 2004, and all MTA agencies except Long Island Rail Road
experienced increases.
Ridership
2003
2,111,675,448

2004
2,166,626,296

% change
2.60%

1,384,068,220
727,607,228*

1,426,040,136
740,586,160

3.03%
1.78%

80,924,069
30,433,281
71,967,650*

79,253,721
30,594,795
72,374,775

-2.06%
0.53%
0.57%

Bridges and Tunnels (vehicles)
297,465,352*
Total System (except Bridges and Tunnels) 2,298,398,680
Average Weekday (except Bridges and Tunnels)
7,501,955*

302,903,321
2,352,192,709
7,614,397

1.83%
2.34%
1.50%

New York City Transit
Subway
Bus
Long Island Rail Road
Long Island Bus
Metro-North Railroad

*Restated from 2003 Annual Report.

Customer Satisfaction
Fare and toll increases historically tend to depress customer satisfaction levels (measured by independent citywide and regional surveys) for overall service as well as for specifics such as cost and value of a ride, station
environment, and perception of personal safety.
In 2004, however, ratings of overall service generally remained strong and ratings for cost of the fare/value of
the ride began to rise once again.
All survey results are on a scale of 0 to 10.
New York City Transit/Subway
Overall
Cost
Value
On time
Station environment
Safe/secure in cars
Police in station

2002
6.4
7.0
7.2
6.7
6.0
6.3
5.5

Long Island Bus
2003
6.2
5.0
5.9
6.7
5.8
6.2
5.3

2004
6.1
5.3
6.0
6.6
5.7
6.1
5.5

New York City Transit/Bus

Overall
Cost
Value
On time
Safe/secure on bus

2001*
7.4
8.1
8.4
7.5
8.4

2003
6.9
5.3
6.4
6.9
7.3

2004
7.2
5.9
6.8
7.3
7.3

*There was no customer satisfaction survey for Long Island Bus in 2002

Metro-North Railroad

2002

2003

2004

2002

2003

2004

Overall
Cost
Value
On time

6.3
7.0
7.1
6.0

6.1
5.3
5.8
5.7

5.9
5.5
5.9
5.6

Overall
Cost
On time
Personal security

8.1
7.2
8.4
7.7

7.3
6.2
7.6
7.6

7.1
6.4
7.6
7.4

Safe/secure on bus

7.4

7.1

7.1

Comfort

7.2

6.9

6.8

2002
7.6
6.9

2003
6.9
5.7

2004
6.9
6.0

2002
7.5
6.3

2003
7.3
6.2

2004
7.4
6.3

On time
Personal security

7.3
7.3

7.3
7.0

7.2
6.6

Comfort

7.2

7.1

7.0

Long Island Rail Road
Overall
Cost

Bridges and Tunnels
Overall*
Cost/value

* With ratings of 7.5 versus 7.2, Bridges and Tunnels E-ZPass customers remained more
satisfied with overall service than cash customers, although the cash customer rating rose
from the 2003 figure of 6.7. Cash customers also improved their rating of the value of
service from 5.1 to 5.5, but E-ZPass customers continued to rate value higher at 6.7.
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Average Cost of a Ride on New York City Transit
($)
2.50 —

1.50 —

$2.00

$2.00

2.00 —
$1.50

$1.50

$1.50
$1.26

$1.07

$1.06

$1.24

$1.04

1.00 —
.50 —
0 —

2000

2001

2002

2003
Base fare

2004
Average cost of a ride

Note: 2003 figure represents cost of a ride during the portion of the year that
the higher $2.00 base fare was in effect (May 3 through December 31).

MetroCard
Over the last decade New Yorkers have responded
very positively to the package of options and discounts offered by MetroCard®, and tourists have
found it a convenient, flexible, and cost-effective
way to travel in New York.
MetroCard sales in the tourist market are up substantially since 2000, when 277,000 were sold. In
2004, tourists bought 440,000 cards worth $4.5 million. Many visitors bought MetroCard as part of
their tour package: $2.5 million of the total revenue
came through tour operators and travel agents.
Especially popular with tourists are the 1-Day Fun
Pass, sold at hotels and at popular city attractions,
and the 7-Day Unlimited Ride MetroCard.
Tourism is one of New York City’s largest industries,
and the growth of this market for the MTA reflects
growing national and international awareness that
Capital Program investments have made the transit
system safer and more reliable.

Safety
All agencies improved their safety performance in
2004, indicating that safety programs are producing
results.
NYC Transit’s employee lost and restricted time accident total of 1,343 (2.70 per 100 employees) in 2004
surpassed the previous 12-year low of 1,447 accidents (2.94 per 100 employees) set in 2003.
Two efforts in particular contributed to Transit’s
improved safety performance. Continuing a 2003
initiative, employee lost-time accidents at each
Responsibility Center were analyzed each month to
identify centers with increases and the types of
injury that contributed to the increase. Special
efforts were then developed to remedy the problem.
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Safety gear and procedures protect workers.

In another effort, every injury caused by a piece of
equipment or a workplace condition was audited to
ensure that the equipment or condition was inspected and repaired to prevent future accidents.
Long Island Rail Road’s employee lost-time and
restricted duty rate of 2.76 per 200,000 work hours
surpassed its 2003 performance of 3.44. Its
enhanced accident investigation training program
and safety auditing program have driven the accident rate down.
At Long Island Bus, lost-time claims declined dramatically from 74 in 2003 to 27 and its lost-time
rate fell from 6.6 to 2.4 in 2004. Training, communications, and safety audits resulted in the lowest
number of employee lost-time accidents in five
years.
Metro-North also achieved its best year ever across
all safety categories in 2004. Total employee
injuries were down by 14 percent compared with
the previous record set in 2002. Federal Railroad
Administration (FRA) reportable injuries dropped by
4 percent compared to the previous record also set
in 2002. And lost-time injuries were down 3 percent
from the railroad’s previous record lost-time injury
rate set in 1998. Metro-North’s employee lost-time
and restricted duty accidents, at 203 and a rate of
3.5 per 200,000 work hours, showed a marked
reduction from the 247 accidents and 4.3 rate of
2003. The railroad’s safety success in 2004 is due to
its Priority One safety program – especially the 24/7
and Safety Audits components of the program.
Lost-time injuries for Bridges and Tunnels employees,

on Bridges and Tunnels facilities must now meet the
same high safety standards as agency employees.

Customer Injuries
Per million customers

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
New York City Transit
Subway

3.25

3.05

2.94

2.85

3.10

Bus

1.79

1.67

1.58

1.45

1.52

3.97

3.80

2.95

4.83

4.89

Long Island Rail Road
Long Island Bus

2.84

1.60

1.75

1.90

1.72

Metro-North Railroad

5.87

4.82

4.30

5.47

6.43

Bridges and Tunnels*

1.95

1.85

1.95

1.46

1.20

* Vehicle accidents with injury per 1 million vehicle crossings.

Lost-time and Restricted Duty Injury Rate*
Per 200,000 work hours

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
New York City Transit** 3.78

3.01

3.17

2.94

2.70

Long Island Rail Road

5.06

4.10

3.44

2.76

5.26

Long Island Bus†

5.56

4.33

3.49

6.58

2.40

Metro-North Railroad

5.97

5.25

4.26

4.34

3.49

Bridges and Tunnels†

3.10

3.80

3.70

3.50

2.20

* Some figures have been restated from 2003 Annual Report based on
additional information from operating agencies.
** NYC Transit measures lost-time and restricted duty injury rates on an
equivalent “per 100 employees” basis.
† Figures reflect lost-time injuries only.

at just 41, were down 37 percent from the previous
year’s 65. Over the long term, the frequency rate of
lost-time injuries per 200,000 hours has been reduced
from 22.0 in 1994 to 2.2 last year. Capital and major
maintenance construction programs reduced contractor lost-time accidents by 38 percent. Despite
record traffic, collisions with serious
injury per million vehicles were
reduced by 18 percent to 1.20, down
from 1.46 in 2003.

Security and Preparedness
In 2004, the MTA Office of Security’s Interagency
Counterterrorism Task Force (ICTF) generated 91
emergency management projects. Target hardening
and security vulnerability assessments were performed along with an in-depth review and evaluation of agency-wide emergency action plans; target
hardening and mitigation strategies were developed
and implemented throughout the MTA network.
Emergency management equipment procured for
MTA Police and Bridges and Tunnels officers
includes gas masks, certified escape hoods, and
personal radiation detection devices.
In collaboration with MTA agencies and other partners, security plans were developed for two major
events: the 2004 United States Golf Association
Open held at the Shinnecock Hills Golf Club, Long
Island, and the Republican National Convention at
Madison Square Garden, both of which were models
for similar events throughout the country.
In 2004, the ICTF aggressively investigated 170 separate reported incidents of suspicious activity occurring on MTA properties, an increase of 172 percent
over 2003. Of these investigations, 89 percent have
been satisfactorily closed.
To ensure that all employees are aware of new or
emerging threats, the “MTA Guide for Security
Awareness for Employees” and “Emergency Action
Plan Training” were developed and distributed to
employees and customers alike. In partnership with
the U.S. Department of Homeland Security, training

Bridges and Tunnels continues to
improve roadway safety and enforce
roadway safety regulations, focusing
attention on problem areas identified
through the Achieving Collision
Reduction on Bridges and Tunnels
(ACROBAT) program. In addition, both
traffic incidents and remediation
efforts are reviewed to help focus the
entire organization on improving customer safety. And contractors working
Enforcing speed regulations at
Bridges and Tunnels facilities.
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in “Incident Response to Terrorist Bombings” was
provided to MTA Police, Bridges and Tunnels officers, and partnering law enforcement agencies;
other training included “Response to Suspicious
Package & Substance Incidents” and “Emergency
Evacuation Procedures.” Evacuation videos for the
subways and commuter railroads have been posted
on the internet, and the campaign to enlist everyone’s involvement in security continues to be
emphasized with the MTA’s “If You See Something,
Say Something” advertising campaign.

Target hardening and mitigation strategies
were developed and implemented throughout the MTA network.
The MTA Police dramatically expanded its Canine
Unit to ensure that explosive-detecting dogs are
available for both Metro-North and LIRR. Key training components included cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) and automated external defibrillator
(AED) certification as well as executive leadership
programs and mandated supervisory training
required by the state Department of Criminal Justice
Services. Department members have been assigned
to form Emergency Service Units and dedicated
Train Patrol Units.
Capital Construction ensures that security is an integral component of all capital construction projects.
With $591 million earmarked for security measures
in the MTA’s 2000-04 Capital Program and another
$500 million in the 2005-09 Program, Capital
Construction is aggressively planning and implementing security work for all MTA agencies.
At New York City Transit vital assets and infrastructure are being hardened. Actions taken in 2004
include: installing access control devices, intrusion
detection devices, closed circuit television surveillance equipment, perimeter security bollards, and
motorized gates at vehicle entrances; replacing
aging fencing with newer, more secure fencing; and
installing fencing at unfenced areas.
To ensure that all Transit employees know how to
recognize, report, and respond to a nuclear, biological, or chemical incident, 335 newly hired train
operators, conductors, station agents, and station
cleaners received “Eyes and Ears Security Awareness”
and “Escape Mask” training.
At Bridges and Tunnels, overt security (visible check-
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Commuter trains display emergency instructions prominently.

points and patrols) is maintained at all facilities.
Security throughout the agency has been enhanced,
including hardening of facilities and the addition of
new and more effective electronic security systems.
Communications and coordination through the
Bridges and Tunnels Command Center has contributed to effective cooperation among law enforcement agencies at all levels of government.

Environment
By the end of 2004, New York City Transit had
installed a total of 2,553 diesel particulate filters on
existing buses and accepted delivery of 43 new articulated buses and 119 hybrid buses, all with factoryinstalled filters. Combined with the use of ultra-lowsulfur diesel fuel, the filters have reduced particulate
and total hydrocarbon emissions by more than 90
percent. Guidelines on the proper procedures for
replacing HVAC system coolant on older fleets have
been issued to all maintenance and overhaul shops
and actual refrigerant handling and usage are
audited quarterly at each maintenance shop.
The Paratransit Carrier Fueling Program was
expanded and incorporated into Transit’s bulk fuel

delivery contract. This reduced adverse environmental impact by requiring the use of ultra-low-sulfur
diesel fuel for on-site fueling.
The amount of hazardous waste generated by Transit
car equipment shop operations is being substantially
reduced by identifying products and waste treatment
equipment and systems that produce effluent considered to be industrial or sewerable water. Shop and
safety audits are performed twice a year to ensure
that all shops comply with procedures, including
those for the handling of hazardous waste.
As part of longer-term initiatives to assure continued
environmental success, a compliance workshop on
petroleum spills for subway and bus personnel, the
third to date, was conducted in 2004 with the support of the Office of System Safety, Department of
Law, and the MTA environmental policy staff.
In accordance with United States Environmental
Protection Agency Phase II storm water regulations
under the federal Clean Water Act, all agencies prepared a Phase II Storm Water Management Program
for numerous facilities under their jurisdiction with
the aim of preventing contamination of storm water
runoff discharges.
Long Island Rail Road adopted a Corporate
Environmental Strategy in 2004 to develop a proactive long-term plan for completing environmental
remediation projects at LIRR facilities. The strategy
includes a proposed schedule of future environmental remediation projects with cost estimates and
anticipated means of remediating each project.
Environmental remediation project work is programmed in conjunction with LIRR’s five-year capital

planning programs to help ensure that adequate
funding is in place within future capital programs
and that remediation projects are coordinated across
the board.
Long Island Bus’s fixed-route fleet is now entirely
composed of compressed natural gas (CNG) vehicles,
making it the largest all-CNG fleet in North
America. Its CNG buses have cut emissions sharply:
non-methane hydrocarbons by 51.4 percent and
particulates by 91.4 percent.
Metro-North continued its own environmentally
friendly agenda with the replacement of petroleumbased elevator oil with vegetable oil, reuse of recovered oil, use of aerosol can and fluorescent light
bulb crushers, operation of petroleum recovery systems at North White Plains and Harmon yards, and
finalization of remaining contingency plans.
Working with the Town of Southeast and environmental groups, Metro-North helped cap a municipal
landfill adjoining the railroad’s embankment that
was leaching contaminants into the watershed.
Metro-North helped to remove waste material in a
way that accommodates future construction along
its right-of-way and helped develop an alternative
drainage concept that would solve the problem.
The railroad worked with the New York State
Department of Environmental Conservation (NYSDEC) to determine how to remove tons of railroad
ties buried along the Hudson and Harlem lines, and
began removing them. It also worked with NYSDEC
to improve Hudson River views by removing about
200 obsolete utility poles from along the shoreline in
the area between Manitou Marsh and Poughkeepsie.

Hybrid electric buses contribute to clean operations.
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Metro-North assisted in creating river access for the
general public in two areas along the Hudson River:
a one-mile trail from Beacon Station to Dennings
Point, a New York State Park and future location of
the Hudson River Estuary Center, and at Croton-onHudson on a trail that connects Senasqua Park with
Croton Point Park. The railroad also created access
points at Riverdale and Greystone during the rehabilitation of the stations.
Over the past two years, Bridges and Tunnels has
integrated three new gasoline-electric hybrid vehi-

Transit Center, and project-specific sustainable
design guidelines for the Second Avenue Subway
and 7 Line Extension projects.

People with Disabilities
In 2003, NYC Transit’s paratransit program — by far
the largest in the world — attained a less than 1
percent denial rate and improved that in 2004 with
a zero-percent denial rate for a 21-month period
(April 2003 through December 2004). The number
of trips completed in 2004 (2,877,476) increased 12
percent over the previous year (2,576,302). Average
weekday trips (9,421) rose 11 percent over 2003
(8,508). By updating and modifying its software
scheduling system, NYCT Paratransit was able to
make use of state-of-the-art approaches to scheduling, process multiple transactions at the same time,
and reduce the Access-A-Ride customer reservation
booking period from four days in advance to two
days. Paratransit had an average total of 2.4 complaints per 1,000 boardings, down from 3.3 in 2003.
In April 2004, Paratransit expanded the voucherbased “black car” service program, awarding seven
new three-year contracts covering all five boroughs
of New York City.

A 100-percent-accessible bus fleet provides options for
people with disabilities.

cles and 38 flexible fuel (ethanol) vehicles into its
fleet, reducing use of fossil fuel and emissions.
Capital Construction is working closely with other
Lower Manhattan Recovery project sponsors (New
York State Department of Transportation, Lower
Manhattan Development Corporation, and the Port
Authority of NY & NJ) to lower environmental
impacts and mitigate negative environmental
impacts of our Fulton Street Transit Center and
South Ferry projects through the use of
Environmental Performance Commitments (EPCs).
Contract specifications are a key tool in this effort.
For example, Capital Construction will protect
Lower Manhattan air quality by requiring its construction contractors to use ultra-low-sulfur diesel
fuel in their construction equipment. A monitoring
and environmental implementation plan is being
developed to ensure adherence to each EPC.
Capital Construction is also incorporating sustainable design elements in all of its projects where
they make sense. Leadership in Energy and
Environmental Design (LEED®) goals are included for
major facility projects such as the Fulton Street
18

Paratransit staff participated in 117 outreach events
throughout New York City, including meetings of the
Paratransit Advisory Committee, the 15-member consumer advisory committee. In addition, a “Train the
Trainer” workshop was held for human service professionals from over 30 agencies to better acquaint them
with information about Access-A-Ride. At the request
of the Paratransit Advisory Committee, Paratransit
established 87 Access-A-Ride vehicle stops, which are
now listed on the MTA website.
Initiatives to strengthen customer communication
included changing the format of “On the Move,” an
informational newsletter sent to all Access-A-Ride
customers, to large print to accommodate senior and
visually impaired registrants; revising the Paratransit
User’s Guide and making it available in large print;
and translating both the assessment application and
the subscription application into Spanish.
In 2004 five subway stations were made ADA accessible. At the Atlantic Avenue station complex (B, D,
M, N, Q, R, 2, 3, 4, 5) this included entrances, doors,
elevators, MetroCard Vending Machines, platforms
and platform warning strips, and PA system; at
Marcy Avenue phones and signage were included.

Robert Wilson’s My Coney Island Baby at the Stillwell Avenue Terminal.

MTA Arts for Transit
The MTA Arts for Transit (AFT) program, which will
celebrate its 20th anniversary next year, has
installed 157 permanent art works in the MTA network since 1985; another 63 are in progress. Of the
19 Arts for Transit installations completed in 2004,
two are especially noteworthy. At the Stillwell
Avenue Terminal, world-renowned artist Robert
Wilson has created My Coney Island Baby, a panorama of images of the activities, people, and artifacts
related to the history of Coney Island silkscreened
onto glass bricks and embedded into a 370-foot-long
Vista glass brick wall that ranges from eight to 17
feet tall — an esthetically pleasing and nostalgic
environment for commuters passing through the
station complex.
In the walls at the Eastern Parkway-Brooklyn
Museum station of the 2, 3, 4, and 5 lines, AFT has
installed molded terra cotta keystones, plaques,
lunettes, and borders, drawn from the Brooklyn
Museum’s collection that were salvaged from nowdemolished structures throughout the metropolitan
area. These artifacts are typical of ornamental forms
that once decorated and still adorn many 19th and
early 20th century buildings in New York City and
illustrate greater New York’s architectural richness.

status as a scholarly institution, the Museum also
collaborated on the publication of three books.
Subway Style examines 100 years of architecture and
design in the subway; The City Beneath Us showcases
250 exquisite glass negative photos of subway construction from Transit Museum archives; and New
York City Subway Trains contains 12 punch-out renderings of classic subway cars from the Museum’s
vintage fleet.
Another first was the publication of the Museum’s
retail catalogue, which complemented and bolstered
sales from store locations in Brooklyn and Grand
Central Terminal and its on-line store. Museum
attendance, at 359,000, also broke prior records, as
did attendance at the Museum’s annual fundraising
dinner, with 1,230 guests.
The Transit Museum’s educational website
“Education Station” won a coveted MUSE Award
from the American Association of Museums for
excellence in community outreach. The site recorded
120,000 hits in 2004 and added a series of three online illustrated gallery talks, the Subway Centennial
Student Activity Depot, and new interactive activities for young learners.

Transit Museum
In its busiest year to date, the New York Transit
Museum helped New York City Transit celebrate the
Subway Centennial with eight exhibits in four locations and hundreds of educational programs for
adults and children. Thousands of MTA customers
were also treated to a series of special Nostalgia
Train rides on vintage cars throughout the city.
For the first time in its history and confirming its
The Transit Museum’s Subway Style exhibit was part
of the Subway Centennial celebration.
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Revenue
In 2004, MTA subsidies, particularly receipts from real estate-related
taxes, were significantly better than planned. This was fueled by an
improving local economy and low interest rates that generated a significant amount of mortgage refinancing and other real estate activity. Low
interest rates also resulted in lower-than-planned
debt service payments for the MTA. This favorable
economic activity, coupled with strong ridership
and bridge and tunnel traffic along with a full
year of the higher fares and tolls instituted in
2003, enabled the MTA to end 2004 with a significant cash surplus.
Nearly $500 million of the 2004 cash surplus will
be allocated to fund 2005 operations. The remaining $200 million is being held in a reserve fund to
safeguard against a shortfall in the MTA’s share of
real estate tax revenue. If that revenue remains
strong through 2005, the MTA will use the funds to
reassess planned 2006 service cuts.
Fare and toll revenue was up 4.4 percent from
2004. Fare revenue rose from $3.31 billion to $3.42
billion, an increase of 3.4 percent, while toll revenue at MTA Bridges and Tunnels rose from $1.02
billion to $1.10 billion, an increase of 7.3 percent.
MTA New York City Transit fare revenue rose 2.8
percent, from $2.50 billion in 2003 to $2.57 billion
in 2004. MTA Long Island Bus fare revenue rose
12.3 percent, from $35.4 million in 2003 to $37.5
million in 2004.
Fare revenue at the MTA Long Island Rail Road
reached $410.8 million in 2004, up 4.4 percent
from $393.3 million in 2003. MTA Metro-North
Railroad fare revenue increased to $403.1 million in
2004, up 6.6 percent from $378.1 million in 2003.

Fare and Toll Revenue
($ millions)
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004

An average of 72 percent of all vehicles used E-ZPass on weekdays.
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MTA Long Island Rail Road
MTA Long Island Bus
* Includes revenue of Staten Island Railway.
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To confront mounting deficits in 2006, 2007, and
2008, the MTA Board approved fare and toll increases to be implemented during the first quarter of
2005. While the base fare for subway and bus trips
remained at $2.00, the cost for 7-Day and 30-Day
Unlimited Ride MetroCard was increased to $24 and
$76 respectively, from $21 and $70, while the cost of
a 7-Day Express Bus Plus MetroCard was increased
to $41 from $33.
The fare increases approved for the commuter railroads — also effective in the first quarter of 2005 —
are expected to raise revenue by a total of 5 percent
per year. Reflecting the fact that many commuters
now use the railroad to reach jobs outside of New
York City, Metro-North will begin charging peak
fares for morning northbound service out of Grand
Central Terminal.

Stronger ridership and bridge and tunnel
traffic along with a full year of the higher
fares and tolls instituted in 2003 increased
revenue, enabling the MTA to end 2004
with a significant cash surplus.
The MTA Board also approved increases for Bridges
and Tunnels — effective March 13, 2005 — that
raise the toll by 50 cents for major crossings to
$4.50 each way ($9.00 at the Verrazano-Narrows
Bridge, on which tolls are collected in the westbound direction only) and 25 cents for minor crossings to $2.25, with similar increases for motorcycles,
trucks, buses, and multi-axle vehicles. E-ZPassSM discounts remain in effect.

MetroCard sales in the tourist market rose substantially.

Budget
MTA’s long-term financial plan continues to project
growing deficits. These are due to structural imbalances that are principally attributable to rising
debt service costs; increasing pension, health, and
welfare expenses; and the depletion of nonrecurring
resources.
The combination of the retained 2004 cash surplus
and the 2005 fare and toll increases is expected to
balance the 2005 budget, a legal requirement for
the MTA. The MTA is forecasting deficits in the nearterm future, projected at $607 million in 2006, $689
million in 2007, and $991 million in 2008.
It is expected that these deficits will be reduced by
new revenues authorized in the recently adopted
state budget. The MTA also hopes to make further
progress in Albany on securing approval of its reorganization proposal, which will help save money
through a comprehensive streamlining of MTA operations while improving service to the customer.
Independently, the MTA will continue to pursue a
host of internal cost containment strategies, such as
expanding the use of shared services among its

Actual and Projected Expenses*

Addressing MTA Deficits

($ millions)

($ millions)

3,500

_

3,000

_

2,500

_

2,000

_

1,500

_

703

1,000

_

309

500

_

0

_

887

974

1,065

810
711

753

1,631

848

2003

2004

2008

_

0

_

-500

_

1,208

1,401

1,525

2005

2006

2007

(Actual)

Debt service
Pension expenses
*From February 2005 Financial Plan.

Health and welfare costs

$56

-1,000

_

-1,500

_

-2,000

_

-2,500

_

638

480

868

(Actual)

729

755

500

-$607

-$689
-$991

-$436

-$1,359
-$1,681
-$2,081

2005

2006
July 2004 Plan

2007

2008

February 2005 Plan

21

Financial Performance
operating agencies and aggressively pursuing revenue-producing sponsorship opportunities.
To strengthen its budget and financial management
processes, in 2004 the MTA purchased a new comprehensive software program from PeopleSoft for its
headquarters financial management, financial
reporting, accounting, procurement, payroll, and
human resources functions. Phase one, completed in
December, included accounting, treasury, financial
consolidations, human resources, and payroll. The
remainder will be phased in over the next year and a
half and will provide better financial controls, including a common defined benefits pension system. It will
also improve the MTA’s ability to produce financial
forecasts and model financial contingencies.

Finance
The MTA’s credit ratings remained strong in 2004,
with all bonds maintaining ratings of A or better
from the three bond rating agencies: Moody’s,
Standard & Poors, and Fitch. The MTA issued new
debt totaling $2.2 billion in new money issues during the year at an estimated average annual interest
rate of 3.9 percent. The funds were used to continue
financing the 2000-2004 Capital Program.

Insurance Operations
The MTA’s captive insurance company, First Mutual
Transportation Assurance Company (FMTAC), negotiated a global settlement with insurers to cover the
losses incurred on and after the September 11
attacks on the World Trade Center. Through the
agreement, the MTA received the final payment of
Ronkonkoma Station rehabilitation includes retail space.
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$20 million, bringing the total to $378.0 million for
costs related to physical damage, operating expenses, additional police expenses, and business interruption, including $18.6 million in reimbursements
from the Federal Emergency Management Agency
(FEMA).

Fare and toll revenue was up 4.4 percent
from 2004. Fare revenue rose from $3.31
billion to $3.42 billion, while toll revenue
at MTA Bridges and Tunnels rose from
$1.02 billion to $1.10 billion.
FMTAC also created a Master Builder’s Risk program
to cover all capital construction projects under an
Owner Controlled Insurance Program (OCIP). An
OCIP enables the MTA to exercise greater control
over the costs of construction by providing contractors with liability insurance that links insurance
costs to on-the-job safety. These programs have lowered the cost of insurance for contractors — and as a
result have lowered the MTA’s construction costs.
Under the Master Builder’s Risk program, the MTA
will self-insure the first $100 million of any loss and
purchase excess insurance to protect against catastrophic losses.

Real Estate and Advertising
The MTA’s real estate and advertising operations
remained strong in 2004. Revenue from real estate
operations was $59.0 million, down 5.1 percent

from $62.2 million in 2003; advertising revenue was
up 11.2 percent to $86.5 million from $77.8 million.
Real Estate and Advertising Revenue
($ millions)
2000
2001
2002
2003
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Economic Impact
After a two-year renovation that was completed in
1998, Grand Central Terminal reopened with a new
business plan: to transform itself from a building
that had been considered little more than an exit
into a destination for shoppers and tourists as well
as commuters.
It took another two years to lease all of the retail
and restaurant space in the terminal — including a
new lower-level dining concourse. The shops and
restaurants attracted to the “new” GCT are an
impressive list. Joining the venerable Oyster Bar in
the building are some of New York’s finest new dining spots, including Michael Jordan’s The Steak
House, Cipriani Dolci, and the Campbell Apartment.
Retail vendors include upscale food merchants in
Grand Central Market, Banana Republic, Kenneth
Cole, Swatch, Tumi, two Starbucks (one at either
end), and a host of others.

PIC TO
COME

Grand Central emerged as a major tourist attraction
drawing thousands of visitors daily, adding to the
bustle of Metro-North’s 125,000 commuters. In 2004,
the retail outlets and restaurants generated gross
sales of $144.2 million, up 8 percent over 2003,
when sales were $134.1 million. Since the Terminal
was fully rented in 2000, gross sales have increased
from $120.6 million, an increase of nearly 20 percent during a five-year period.
In a recent independent survey commissioned by
GCT, 83 percent of New Yorkers said they had visited
Grand Central in the past six months, while 93 percent of those surveyed knew it was much more than
a commuter rail station.
Grand Central Terminal, a landmark space with
food markets and restaurants.

23

Subway Centennial
Building a City; Moving the Region to Prosperity
On October 27, 2004, the MTA reenacted the inaugural ride that opened
New York City’s new subway a hundred years earlier. Vintage cars pulled
out of the historic original City Hall station, with its elegant tiles and vaulted roof, and employees in period costumes enhanced the nostalgic effect of
the ride.
The subway that opened in 1904 was
only a small first part of the system we
know today, running 9.1 miles on the
East Side from City Hall, across 42nd
Street, and up the West Side to 135th
Street. The current system — 660 track
miles, 228 route miles, 468 stations,
and 26 lines — was essentially in place
by 1940. From then and into our century the story of the subway is that of a
vision realized in cold steel and high
speed that literally shaped the city,
drove its economic development and
preeminence, and, after rebounding
from a long, almost fatal period of
decline, continues to be a major contributor to the prosperity of the city and
the region.
Subway Centennial commemorative map.

The details are readily available in
books, articles, archives, and websites — and many aficionados have happily lost themselves in rich and fascinating intersections of nostalgia, history, engineering, economics, politics, and personalities. But it’s more revealing to focus on the big picture: the impact of the creation of our vast subway system.
New York City at the end of the 19th century was the second-largest city in
the world — yet most of its 3.4 million people were squeezed into Lower
Manhattan. The Lower East Side may well have been the most crowded
place in the world, with a density of about a half-million people per square
mile even though most buildings were less than seven stories high. Mobility
was limited and painfully slow: getting from Wall Street to Harlem took
hours. The Bronx, Brooklyn, Queens, and even Manhattan above 42nd
Street were largely undeveloped because they were impractical to reach. The
city was bottled up; dense, unhealthy, expensive housing options, crippled
transportation, and its own growth threatened to strangle it.

Nostalgia trains celebrated the Centennial.
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The subway brought enormous changes with extraordinary rapidity,
despite the physical scale and difficulty of its construction. By 1906, the
center of the city’s theatrical life shifted from 34th Street and Broadway to
42nd Street because of the subway’s superior ability to deliver customers to
theaters. By 1905, the subway reached the Bronx, Brooklyn by 1908, and
Queens by 1915. Huge areas of fields, farms, and country estates in upper
Manhattan, Queens, Brooklyn, and the Bronx were rapidly developed and
transformed into affordable housing. Between 1910 and 1940, the population of New York increased by 56 percent, but the population of

Manhattan fell 19 percent: people were moving out
of congestion and tenements to more affordable,
comfortable, healthier homes now easily accessible
because of fast, cheap, reliable transportation. The
population of the outer boroughs soared: by 309 percent in the Bronx, 218 percent in Queens, 165 percent in Brooklyn. In the 1940s daily rides averaged 8
million; Monday, December 23, 1946 set a standing
record: 8,872,244 rides. The subway made it possible
to live a better life in a better home and conveniently commute to work just about anywhere in the five
boroughs, no longer isolated suburbs, but one city.
The track of New York’s productivity and prosperity
literally followed the subway tracks and stops, where
buildings and apartments were quickly erected. New
York residents still recognize the added value of an
apartment within a convenient distance of a subway
stop, as do those with a business to locate. (Recently,
young professionals and artists, leaving behind the
high rents of Manhattan, have “colonized” Brooklyn
neighborhoods like Cobble Hill, Park Slope, and
Williamsburg that have good subway links to
Manhattan.)

The story of the subway is that of a vision
realized in cold steel and high speed that
literally shaped the city.
The next, darker, phase of subway history is also
intertwined with economics. For 44 years after the
first subway opened in 1904 the fare remained a
nickel, an unrealistic, but politically expedient fare
inadequate for maintaining trains and aging infrastructure. And ridership decreased as customers
moved out of the city, following the new highways
that opened up new suburbs much as the subway
had earlier. Modest fare increases in the 60s and 70s
did not keep the subways from going into a steep
decline, reaching rock bottom in the late 70s and
early 80s. By then, a third of the fleet was typically
out of service during the morning rush hours, cars
broke down or caught fire, trains derailed on hazardous track, and graffiti covered virtually every car.
In 1982 the MTA began to rehabilitate its subways,
buses, and railroads through a series of five-year
Capital Programs, in what has become the largest
public transportation rebuilding effort in national
history. The two-decade-long uphill struggle to bring
the subways back indicates the severe effects of

deferred maintenance.
Over $49 billion has
been committed since
the program began,
creating an economic
“ripple effect” that benefited businesses across
New York State that
manufactured and
assembled rail cars and
buses. By 1990, the New
York City subway system
was returned substantially to
a state of good repair and the
MTA began to change the face of
transit in the region.
Perhaps the biggest change came in
the 1990s with an innovation that modernized the way riders paid their fares, ultimately
obviating the token at the end of 2003, and
transforming the economics of subway travel.
On May 14, 1997, the entire New York City
Transit bus and subway system as well as Long
Island Bus began to accept MetroCard, the flexible fare collection system that enabled free busto-subway, subway-to-bus, and bus-to-bus transfers as well as a full range of fare and travel
options including volume discounts and unlimited-ride 1-day, 7-day, and 30-day passes. This
package of options and discounts, combined
with the renovation and rehabilitation of the
system, brought a new surge of ridership. Along
with renewed economic health, the pent-up
need to expand the system to meet the needs of
21st century customers became possible. Plans
for a full-length Second Avenue Subway, East
Side Access, and a 7 line extension have been
developed.
With careful stewardship — continuous investment in maintenance to keep the system in good
repair and up to date along with visionary planning to meet tomorrow’s needs and opportunities
— New York’s subways will move through their
second century enabling people to earn a better
living and live a better life, and invigorating the
region’s economy.
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MTA New York City Transit
Capital Program Improvements The completion of major projects —
the rehabilitation of the Manhattan Bridge, the reopening of the Stillwell
Avenue Terminal, and the rehabilitation of the Atlantic Avenue station
complex — enabled MTA New York City Transit to provide significant
service improvements in 2004.
In early February, all four tracks of the Manhattan Bridge were returned to
service following a 20-year bridge rehabilitation project by the New York
City Department of Transportation. Throughout the period, subway service
had suffered as NYCT was forced to use just two of the four tracks, with
access either to the Broadway line or the Sixth Avenue line.
A new service plan for traffic across the bridge was developed. It restored
full express service on the N line from Brooklyn through Times Square and
initiated new service patterns on the Fourth Avenue, West End, and
Brighton lines in Brooklyn and along Broadway in Manhattan.
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In May, Transit reached a major milestone in the rebuilding of the Stillwell
Avenue Terminal in Coney Island, reopening the terminal and restoring full
service to the D, F, and Q lines (N service is slated to resume in 2005). The
terminal has the look of European train depots with a soaring glass canopy
over the platforms but is made of hundreds of photovoltaic cells that provide electricity to support the needs of the terminal, making the station the
most energy efficient in the subway system.
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The Stillwell Avenue Terminal is an important part of a renaissance of the
area that was solidified, in part, with the 2000 opening of a minor league
baseball stadium just two blocks from the terminal. The new terminal is
designed with space for up to ten retail stores, five of which may be open
only during the summer season, that will help anchor the surrounding
neighborhood, and Transit is working with McDonald’s to provide direct
access to a restaurant the chain is building adjacent to the terminal.

109,914

2001

114,619

2002

139,960

2003

156,815

2004

0

60,000

120,000

180,000

Mean Distance Between Service Interruptions-Buses
(distance in miles)
2,771

2000

3,477

2001
2002

3,692

2003

3,721

2004

3,705

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

All four tracks of the Manhattan Bridge are now back in service.
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Stillwell Avenue Terminal with Verrazano-Narrows Bridge in the background.

Stillwell Avenue is being viewed as an important
new anchor for the Coney Island area in terms of
regular riders and tourists.
Also in Brooklyn, Transit completed a $163.8 million rehabilitation of the Atlantic Avenue station
complex. The project included rehabilitation of the
three stations that converge at the complex. The
original stations — built between 1908 and 1920 —
were linked in the 1950s after the two independent
subway systems were acquired by the city and
merged with the city’s lines. For four decades transfers were through narrow tunnels and included
multiple stairways. Today, wider stairways and corridors, some of which extend directly to subway
platforms, an escalator, and eight ADA-accessible
elevators, link all 10 subway lines with the MTA
Long Island Rail Road. There is new flooring
throughout the station and on platforms, tiles have
been restored or replaced, and in a collaboration
between art and architecture, marble and granite
have been installed to create distinct lines and
curves that flow in wave-like shapes, invoking the
street names above ground, Atlantic and Pacific.

Designed with space for retail stores that
will anchor the surrounding neighborhood,
the Stillwell Avenue Terminal is helping to
fuel the Coney Island renaissance.
The rebuilt station sits below the Atlantic Terminal
complex, a new retail mall that is anchored by
Target. Also in the planning stage is a basketball

stadium for the current New Jersey Nets and new
housing in the area. All of these projects take
advantage of subway access and its link to the LIRR
as well as local bus services along both Flatbush and
Atlantic Avenues.
Rolling Stock and Infrastructure Transit
continued to upgrade its rolling stock, accepting 50
R-142 subway cars, with 40 placed into revenue
service on the A division (numbered lines) by yearend. Thirty additional cars will be delivered in the
first quarter of 2005. All of these cars represent an
expansion of the fleet.
A $128.6 million purchase of 260 articulated buses
— which provide increased capacity on the city’s
busiest routes — reached substantial completion in
March when the final 43 buses were accepted.
The first 119 of 325 ordered Orion VII diesel hybridelectric buses went into service in the Bronx and
Queens in 2004. Hybrid buses produce exhaust emissions as clean as or cleaner than compressed natural
gas (CNG) buses, but use up to 30 percent less fuel
than a standard diesel bus and up to 40 percent less
fuel than a CNG bus. Transit also added 157 CNG
buses to its fleet, further lowering the emissions profile.
All of the subway cars and buses were assembled at
sites in New York State, and many of the subsidiary
components and parts were manufactured by subcontractors in the state, bringing an economic boost
to local communities across the state as well as better service to New York City riders.
Four station rehabilitations on the BroadwaySeventh Avenue line — 103rd, 110th, 116th, and
125th Streets — were completed during the year.
27

MTA New York City Transit
The renovations took just 14 months, in time for
nearby Columbia University’s 250th anniversary.
Columbia contributed $1.5 million of the $64.5
million combined construction cost.
In 2004, Transit began work on nine stations in
Brooklyn — Alabama Avenue, Van Siclen Avenue,
Cleveland Street, Norwood Avenue, Crescent Street,
Sutter Avenue, Livonia Avenue, New Lots Avenue,
and East 105th Street.
While rolling stock and stations remain the projects
that are most visible to customers, Transit’s Capital
Program continues to allocate the bulk of its funds
to the invisible infrastructure needs of the system,
such as pump rooms, ventilation plants, maintenance facilities, signals, and electrical components.
In 2004, Transit completed the reconfiguration of
tracks at Atlantic Avenue on the Canarsie Line,
rehabilitation of tunnels and lighting on the
Flushing Line, new signals that will improve safety
and reliability on the White Plains Road line, and
two new fan plants in Lower Manhattan on the
Broadway-Seventh Avenue line.
Among the contracts awarded in 2004 were $73 mil-

Rehabilitated Atlantic Avenue station complex.

lion for modernization of the Queensboro Plaza
interlockings on the Flushing Line, two contracts
totaling $129.2 million for rehabilitation of ventilation plants at four locations in Queens and two in
Brooklyn, and $86.7 million for completion of the
fiber optic communications network on the B
Division (lettered trains).
When completed, the fiber optic Asynchronous
Transfer Mode (ATM) system will support customer
information screens that can provide real-time service information and automated train supervision,
allowing additional trains to run more frequently.
Ridership and Service The Capital Program
investments in new rolling stock and infrastructure
improvements continued to bring better service to
Transit customers. Ridership was up in 2004 as the
city continued its recovery from the recent economic
recession. Both subway and bus ridership were up;
subways by 3.0 percent and buses by 1.8 percent.
Transit ridership, which usually reflects changes in
the employment market, has outperformed this economic indicator since the introduction of MetroCard
discounts and free transfers.
A key to better service is measured in subway and
bus reliability, which in the past decade has
improved dramatically, especially for the subway
fleet. Since 1995, the mean distance between failure
(MDBF) for subway cars has almost tripled and the

Signals and other invisible infrastructure are key to
safety and reliability.
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Energy-efficient articulated bus.

mean distance between service interruptions
(MDBSI) for buses has more than doubled. This
means customers are less frequently asked to disembark because of mechanical difficulties.
The reliability improvements are a direct result of
Capital Program investments in the system, which
have provided new rolling stock and improved
maintenance facilities. In 2004, MDBF for subways
rose 12.0 percent from 139,960 miles to 156,815
miles. Bus MDBSI remained nearly constant at more
than 3,700 miles, off less than one half of one percent in 2004 from 2003’s record high.
Service reliability measured from a customer perspective dropped slightly on the subways and
increased slightly on buses. During daytime hours,
87.2 percent of subways arrived within scheduled
intervals, down from 88.2 percent in 2003; 82.1 percent of buses were on time, up from 81.4 percent.
During nighttime hours, 75.4 percent of subways
were on time, down from 76.8 percent, while 74.1
percent of buses were on time, an improvement

New, improved Access-A-Ride vehicles were added to the fleet.

from the 72.5 percent achieved in 2003.
Paratransit Operations The Access-A-Ride system
of paratransit service for people with disabilities is
operated by private companies under contract to
and under the supervision of the Department of
Buses. In 2004, Paratransit achieved a zero percent
denial rate for the year while providing approximately 2.88 million trips, an increase of 11.7 percent. Paratransit has maintained a zero percent
denial rate for 21 consecutive months beginning in
April 2003. To meet the increasing demand for service, Transit added 310 vehicles to its paratransit fleet
in 2004, including 128 vehicles that had been
ordered in 2003.

Economic Impact
New York City Transit infrastructure projects provide
significant additional benefits to the local economy.
According to studies done by the United States
Department of Commerce, the economic multiplier
effect for construction work in New York City is 2.5,
meaning that for every dollar invested there is $2.50
in local economic impact. In 2004, Transit expenditures on infrastructure were $1.66 billion, or a total
local impact of $4.15 billion.
Included in the formula of this multiplier are the
hundreds of construction jobs supported by the
Capital Program. While estimates regarding job creation vary, a study by Columbia University in the
mid-1990s, which examined the impact of the university’s own construction projects, showed that
every $100 million spent on construction translated
into the equivalent of 695 full-time construction
jobs. Based on this estimate, NYC Transit’s Capital
Program infrastructure spending in 2004, exclusive
of rolling stock purchases, supported more than
11,600 construction jobs.
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MTA Long Island Rail Road
Rolling Stock and Capital
Program Service on the MTA Long
Island Rail Road continued to improve
in 2004 as 142 state-of-the-art M-7 rail
cars went into service, bringing the
total complement of the new cars in
revenue service to 344. At the same
time, the railroad was able to retire
120 M-1 cars, which at more than 30
years old were the oldest in its fleet.
The new cars are eight times more
reliable, averaging close to 250,000
miles without breaking down, even
greater than the 100,000 miles originally envisioned. Fleet Mean Distance
Between Failures rose to 44,760 miles,
a 13.1 percent increase from 39,579
miles in 2003.
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Infrastructure projects completed included the Freeport Interlocking, which
uses more reliable microprocessor technology for signals and circuits and a
reconfiguration of the Long Beach yard, including the construction of two
new 10-car tracks and the extension of two tracks, to increase yard capacity
by 24 cars.
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Other Capital Program projects are
Bomb-sniffing dogs aided security at
also providing improved services to
Republican National Convention.
customers. Among the 2004 stationrelated completions were improvements to the parking area at the Long
Beach Station that increased capacity by 170 spaces; refurbishing of the
Laurelton Station building, including an ADA-compliant restroom,
improved lighting and customer seating, and a new public address system;
improvements to the exterior and main stairway at Amityville; and replacement of staircases at Wantagh and Bellmore.

50,000

A new audio-visual public address system is being installed at 41 stations to
provide customers with real-time
schedule information, with display
signs on platforms that meet ADA
requirements. In 2004, the system
became operational at the first five
stations — Bayside, Freeport, Great
Neck, Patchogue, and Ronkonkoma.
Major construction continued during
the year at Jamaica, where the western
half of the mezzanine — connected to
the platforms by new escalators and
elevators — opened for public use. At
Atlantic Terminal in Brooklyn, a new
entry area opened. It houses a modern
waiting area, temporary ticket office,

Rehabilitated Amityville Station.
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and renovated stairways to
the platforms.
Ridership and Service
Ridership was down in
2004, although the rate of
decline slowed during the
fourth quarter, indicating
possible improvement in
2005 linked to the economic recovery and revitalization of Lower
Manhattan. Total ridership was 79.3 million, off 2.1
percent from 80.9 million in 2003.
The decline was concentrated in monthly commutation tickets, while sales of 10-trip and one-way peak
and off-peak tickets continued to grow.
The railroad also experienced increased weekend incity ridership following the January introduction of
a pilot CityTicket program. CityTicket permits riders
to take LIRR trips within New York City at a reduced
price: $2.50 for a one-way ticket ($3.00 beginning
March 5, 2005). To meet demand for the service —
an alternative to other modes of travel for these trips
— the railroad increased the crews for, and the size
of, some weekend trains.
The railroad’s ability to maintain quality service
was presented with a unique challenge in July by
the Republican National Convention, which was
held at Madison Square Garden, directly above Penn
Station. Working with the Secret Service, MTA Police,
and the New York City Police Department, the railroad integrated significant security-related access
changes into its plans for moving customers to and
from platforms and the streets above. To help customers prepare for the security-related changes,
including some closed entrances to the terminal, the
railroad created an extensive awareness campaign
that included brochures, posters, banners, website
updates, and an online video. The efforts paid off.
Despite the security concerns and changes in pedestrian flow, the bustle of Penn Station remained
under control at all times, with little inconvenience
to customers reported.

The United States Golf Association
Championship tournament pumped
between $60 and $90 million into the
Long Island economy.

Improved parking at Long Beach Station.

Economic Impact
Providing service to the United States Golf
Association Championship (USGA) tournament at
Shinnecock Hills Golf Course in August generated
$1 million in new revenue for the Long Island Rail
Road, and the Open pumped $60 to $90 million
into the Long Island economy.
The 2004 Open drew more than 280,000 spectators;
26.8 percent of them — more than 75,000 — traveled to Shinnecock on the LIRR, greatly relieving
the pressure on local roads and available parking
facilities. LIRR ridership to the Open was up 551
percent over 1995 numbers, the last time the event
was held there. The growth was due in large part to
joint marketing and promotional efforts by the
LIRR and the USGA. Both included a link about the
service on their websites, and the LIRR offered ticket
packages at ticket machines, distributed special
timetables and promotional material at local
hotels, and produced on-train and local advertising
to promote the service. To accommodate the expected crowds, the USGA built a temporary 12-car railroad platform that allowed trains to stop directly
across the street from the course entrance (in 1995,
the rail platform accommodated just two cars). The
USGA also mailed a brochure prepared by the railroad to all ticketholders.
Just two years ago, the LIRR and MTA Long Island
Bus teamed to provide service to the U.S. Open when
it was held at Bethpage State Park in Farmingdale.
Based on that experience, and reinforced by the
high level of service at Shinnecock, the USGA has
scheduled its championships at Winged Foot Golf
Club in Mamaroneck (served by MTA Metro-North)
in 2006 and at Bethpage again in 2008, bringing
this high-profile, high-revenue event back to the
New York region and promising significant boosts in
tourism to the local economy.
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MTA Long Island Bus
In November, MTA Long Island Bus
attained a long-anticipated milestone — with the delivery of 58 new
compressed natural gas (CNG) buses,
it retired its last diesel engine bus to
become the largest all-CNG transit
fleet in North America.
The benefits from the purchases were
spread across the state as well, as the
buses were manufactured by Orion
Industries in Oriskany, New York.
Many of Orion’s subcontractors also
operate in the state, which further
spread the economic benefit to many
local communities.
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The changeover from diesel to natural gas involved extensive infrastructure
modifications and improvements — as well as training programs for bus
operators and maintenance staff — as bus depots were equipped with new
fueling stations, storage facilities, and maintenance facilities to accommodate the new technology.
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Ridership and Service Ridership grew for the sixth of the past seven
years in 2004, up just over half a percent from 30.4 million in 2003 to 30.6
million. Much of the growth was in weekend fixed-route service, reflecting
emerging employment opportunities on Long Island in the health services
and retailing industries.
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CNG buses substantially lower emissions.

LI Bus began the transition to CNG
operations a dozen years ago in an effort to improve the air quality in
Nassau County by shifting to alternative-fuel buses. The buses are significantly cleaner than the original diesel engine buses in use when the transition began. Since acquiring its first CNG bus in 1992, LI Bus has lowered
total non-methane hydrocarbon emissions by 51.4 percent and particulate
emissions by 91.4 percent.
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To meet the needs of local workers, LI Bus expanded weekend service on
many fixed routes that serve shopping malls, hospitals, and health
providers. Ridership surveys have shown that the largest increases have
been in early morning and late evening travel, times that indicate people
are using public transportation to get to and from work. In 2004 Saturday
service rose 2.4 percent over 2003 and on Sunday, 3.3 percent, both figures
well above the company’s annual ridership growth of 0.5 percent.
LI Bus has initiated new services that serve other business and community
needs and that immediately led to significant ridership gains. On the N43
Freeport to Roosevelt Field route, ridership grew 21 percent in 2004 from
2003. LI Bus created the N43 in 2003 to provide direct access to the Nassau
Hub area, with service to the Roosevelt Field shopping mall, Hofstra
University, Nassau Community College, and the Nassau Coliseum.
To provide these and other innovative services, Long Island Bus has
increased its use of federal grants, including Community Solutions for
Transportation, Job Access Reverse Commute, and Congestion Mitigation
Air Quality. The programs enabled the agency to provide its customers
greater access to jobs, training programs, and educational facilities.
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Along with service expansion, LI Bus is addressing the need for that service
to be reliable. Bus pullouts during 2004 were nearly perfect: only one bus

failed to begin its run on time during the year;
scheduled trips completed matched the 2003 figure
of 99.6 percent; and bus maintenance programs
kept the fleet operating at a high level, with the
mean distance between failures rising to 1,963 miles
in 2004 from 1,944 miles the year before.
Working to further improve service reliability, LI Bus
has invested in an Automatic Vehicle Location system for all buses in both the fixed-route and paratransit fleets. Using Global Positioning System technology, it allows real-time monitoring of buses,
enabling LI Bus to optimize its schedule with more
accurate speed and traffic data and to end bus
bunching on high-traffic routes.
Paratransit Operations An aging population
across Nassau County has brought strong growth in
Able-Ride, the paratransit operation of LI Bus.
Paratransit users are individuals whose disabilities
prevent them from using other modes of public
transportation. By year-end, more than 1.5 percent
of Nassau County’s population, more than 20,000
individuals, was certified as eligible to use the service, and ridership continued its steady growth in
2004, up 2.8 percent from the prior year — 318,377
passengers in 2004 compared to 309,667 in 2003. To
ensure that it will continue to meet demands for its
service, Able-Ride added 22 buses to replace aging
equipment, bringing its fleet to 86 buses.

Long Island Bus is providing new and
growing Sunday service in response to the
changing needs of Nassau county residents
and businesses.

Caption goes here

LI Bus paratransit ridership continues to grow.

Economic Impact
Long Island Bus is providing new and growing
Sunday service in response to the changing needs of
Nassau county residents and businesses, enabling
their employees to travel to their jobs quickly and
conveniently.
The past few years have seen substantial growth in
Sunday ridership, creating new “peak” periods when
people were obviously traveling to and from work,
rather than to recreational activities or shopping. To
meet the demand, in 2004, LI Bus added additional
Sunday service along the Route 110 portion of its
Hempstead to Babylon route to support growing
employment opportunities along the commercial
corridor. The service was inaugurated in 2003, and
initial ridership doubled in less than a year, prompting the additional service.
Long Island Bus also recorded a significant increase
in Sunday ridership in its Hempstead to Glen Cove
route, which jumped 8.4 percent in 2004 from 2003.
LI Bus began the service in 2002, also in response to
the needs of local businesses and their employees.

N43 ridership grew 21 percent in 2004.
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MTA Metro-North Railroad
Capital Program and
Service Improvements
MTA Metro-North Railroad
completed $447.5 million
worth of capital projects in
2004, 92 percent of plan.
Metro-North ordered 180 M-7
cars — which have superior
winter performance and reliability — in August 2002 and
exercised a contract option to
purchase 120 more cars in
April 2004. By the end of the
year, Metro-North had accepted 126 cars; the remaining
cars will be delivered throughout 2005 and replace the railroad’s oldest cars, the 40-yearold ACMU (alternating current multiple unit) fleet and
the 30-year-old M-1 fleet.
New M-7 cars are more reliable, especially in severe
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Construction continued on
Phase II of the Harmon Shop
and Yard rehabilitation. Design was completed for Phase III, which features
construction of a new coach shop and locomotive repair facility.
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*Restated from 2003 Annual Report.

West of the Hudson River, all 65 Comet V coaches being purchased on
Metro-North’s behalf by New Jersey Transit were delivered and placed in
service. In January, the second and final F-40 locomotive was delivered (the
first locomotive was delivered in 2003).
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The West-of-Hudson stations parking project (including Harriman,
Campbell Hall, Otisville, Pearl River, and Nanuet stations) was completed in
2004, as was the Cortlandt short-term parking expansion project.
Begun in 2001 and completed in 2004, Metro-North’s Mid-Harlem third
track project upgraded existing track, constructed new track, installed new
signal and communication cable, and erected new bridge spans in the total
project length of 3.2 miles. Like all capital construction in public transportation, this project provided more than short-term economic stimulus to
the region and its contractors: it enabled Metro-North to launch direct
rush-hour train service to commuters traveling from Westchester to jobs in
the Bronx, a borough undergoing an economic revival. The “one-seat ride”
from key stations and discounted tickets, sold online and at Metro-North’s
Ticket Vending Machines, add further value for those working in and visiting the Bronx. Connecting new users with businesses, hospitals, and
schools in the borough, Metro-North’s service also opens up Westchester,
Putnam, and Dutchess counties as viable recruitment areas, benefiting the
Bronx business community. Conversely, Bronx residents are able to take
advantage of jobs in the employment centers north of New York City.
Similar patterns of economic development and enhanced property values
have arisen throughout Metro-North’s service territory as capital investment has allowed service expansion as far north as Poughkeepsie and
Wassaic in Dutchess County.

Sign-up web page for Metro-North’s e-mail notification service.

Approximately 10,000 customers have signed up for
Metro-North's e-mail notification service since it was
launched in December of 2003. They can receive
information on routine or planned service changes
— ranging from when new timetables are available
to changes in service because of a major construction project. They can also receive e-mail alerts and
updates that provide information on major disruptions that cancel or curtail service for a prolonged
period of time. Customers can choose to receive
information only about issues that affect the line
they commute on or all the railroad’s lines.
Ridership Despite a fare increase and the harsh
winter of 2004, Metro-North ridership remained
essentially stable. Total ridership increased 0.6 percent from 72.0 million in 2003 to 72.4 million. At
70.8 million, East-of-Hudson ridership was down
0.45 percent from 71.1 million in 2003, but West-ofHudson was up 10.32 percent to 1.6 million.

Driving the 80-mile round-trip commute
from Peekskill to Manhattan costs about
$10,500 a year (without parking); taking
Metro-North is less than a third of that cost.

Economic Impact
Historically, Metro-North has served the region by
carrying some 80 percent of the commuter market
into Manhattan from six northern New York and
two Connecticut counties. The railroad remains a
reliable and reasonably priced commuter option.

Reverse-commute service encourages companies to locate near
Metro-North stations.

Driving the 80-mile daily round-trip commute from
Peekskill to Manhattan, for example, costs about
$10,500 a year (without parking); taking MetroNorth is less than a third of that cost, a significant
savings as well as freedom from traffic delays and
reduced air pollution.
Untraditional markets such as reverse-peak ridership
— commuters from Manhattan and the Bronx traveling to new employment centers outside the city, such
as White Plains and Stamford — have doubled
between 1994 and 2004 and increased by 260 percent
since 1985. Metro-North has actively cultivated these
new riders by creating schedules and express service
that meet their needs. It also works with companies
that are relocating to the suburbs to make them
aware of the service and its value in retaining
employees, and with local bus companies to arrange
connecting service routes.
Companies throughout Metro-North’s service area
have chosen to locate near stations in order to provide convenient access for employees as well as
quick access to Manhattan. Swiss Re built its new
trading floor across from the Stamford Metro-North
station. Metro-North now provides a reliable and
reasonably priced travel alternative for those traveling to work both in the suburbs and in the city. And
on weekends the pilot CityTicket program gives customers a $2.50 ($3 beginning March 2005) alternative when traveling within the city.
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MTA Bridges and Tunnels
Capital Program The ongoing program to reduce the weight and extend
the service life of the Bronx-Whitestone Bridge continued in 2004, following
the 2003 removal of the stiffening trusses along both sides of the bridge that
were installed in 1946 to improve the bridge’s resistance to wind. The trusses
were replaced with a triangular, lightweight fairing that slices the wind as it
passes over the bridge, which also reduced the dead load on the bridge by
more than 1,300 tons. The bridge’s original appearance was restored, and
the useful life of its suspension cables extended.
The concrete roadway decks on the main suspension span and Queens
viaduct of the Triborough Bridge were replaced with stronger, lightweight
steel decks in a $194.3 million project that is part of a more than $1 billion
rehabilitation of the bridge over the next decade. In addition, after all lead
paint was removed under total containment of the worksite in an environmentally safe manner, the structural steel on the Queens viaduct was
repainted with a high-performance three-coat system.
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In a $33 million project that also included structural steel repairs, the Henry
Hudson Bridge was completely repainted in its original gray color, restoring
its classic appearance. Old lead paint was removed under total containment
in an environmentally safe manner, and the new paint will protect the
bridge for many years to come.

Queue Waiting Time, Peak Hours*
(seconds)

_
_
_
70
_
60
_
50
_
40
30 _
20 _
10 _
0_
90

83

80

61
52
34
27
18
8

2000

2001

4

2002

8

2003

5

2004

Cash Customers
E-ZPass Customers
* Measure for 2000-2002 is average waiting time; measure for 2003-2004 is median
waiting time, which is a more accurate depiction of customer experience.
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MTA Bridges and Tunnels completed a $41.5 million rehabilitation of the
Battery Parking Garage, including a new louver and brick façade, and also
modernized and improved the building’s lighting, electrical, and firefighting
systems. The exterior louvers provide natural ventilation for the building,
eliminating the need for a powered system, while also enhancing the skyline of lower Manhattan. “In the history of architecture, it is unlikely that
custom extruded aluminum louvers, set into a continuous grille system,
have ever looked quite as dapper as this,” the New York Sun observed.
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Customer Service According to the Spring 2004 SKYCOMP Toll Delay
Census, the users of the seven surveyed Bridges and Tunnels facilities
incurred about 3,490 vehicle-hours of delay (VHD) on each of the spring
survey dates (morning and evening survey periods) — a big improvement
over the 7,000 to 9,000 VHD recorded on the pre-E-ZPass survey dates in
1994 and 1995. The SKYCOMP Census also notes that E-ZPass users do not
generally encounter toll plaza delays.
In 2004 the median queue time
was 12 seconds, well below the
agency’s goal of 20 seconds for
the year. The E-ZPass electronic
toll system enabled Bridges and
Tunnels facilities to maintain
low average peak hour queue
times while managing recordlevel traffic volumes in 2004.
Plaza toll lane reconfigurations,
line striping, new signage, and
expedited tollbooth personnel
changes are continually introduced to improve traffic flow
A record 212 million vehicles used E-ZPass in 2004.
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Rehabilitated Henry Hudson Bridge with Whitestone Bridge and Triborough Bridge in background.

through the toll plazas. Toll lane changeovers are
performed in 90 seconds or less.
Crossings and E-ZPass Over 3.1 million active
MTA Bridges and Tunnels E-ZPass tags are currently
in circulation. The electronic toll collection system
continued to enable Bridges and Tunnels facilities to
manage heavy traffic volumes while minimizing
traffic congestion and improving customer satisfaction. As in 2003, weekday market share averaged 72
percent for all vehicles in 2004 but were two points
higher (82 percent) for commercial vehicles in 2004.
E-ZPass traffic reached a record high of over 212
million vehicles, and satisfaction with the performance of the E-ZPass system remained at 8.5 on a
scale of 0 to 10, as it was in 2003.
Since 2002, Bridges and Tunnels has been replacing
E-ZPass tags that are nearing the end of their service
lives. By the end of 2004, 1.5 million E-ZPass tags
had been replaced; the remainder will be replaced
over the next three years.
Total paid traffic volume reached 302.9 million
vehicles in 2004, 1.8 percent higher than the 297.5
million vehicles of 2003 and surpassing the previous
record high of 300.0 million vehicles in 2002. Toll
revenue in 2004 was more than $75 million higher
than in 2003.

E-ZPass has reduced delays at toll plazas by
about 40 hours of waiting time per customer
annually, a time savings worth almost $200
million a year.

Economic Impact
The introduction of E-ZPass has reduced delays at
Bridges and Tunnels toll plazas by about 40 hours of
waiting time per customer annually. Drawing from
a methodology used by the New York State
Department of Transportation to evaluate timevalue issues, Bridges and Tunnels estimates the
value of that saved time at just under $200 million
a year. This figure includes the roughly $20.4 million value of an estimated 10.2 million gallons of
fuel saved each year because of reduced delays — a
savings that has additional environmental impact
and value.
For the New York metropolitan region, with its distinctive river-crossed geography, the MTA’s bridges
and tunnels are essential links for the delivery of
goods and services as well as for commuter and visitor travel, and have long been an integral part of its
regional economy. Last year, the 65th anniversary of
the Bronx-Whitestone Bridge — which opened on
April 29, 1939 to accommodate visitors to the
World’s Fair which opened the next day — and the
40th anniversary of the Verrazano-Narrows Bridge
— which spurred a 20 percent population growth on
Staten Island between 1970 and 1990 — underlined
this fact.
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MTA Capital Construction
MTA Capital Construction began construction on two major Lower
Manhattan mobility revitalization projects, continued work on East Side
Access, received important federal approvals for both East Side Access and
the Second Avenue Subway, and worked closely with New York City officials
in planning the extension of the 7 line to the West Side and south to the
Javits Convention Center.
Downtown Revitalization The new Fulton Street Transit Center will
untangle the maze of stairways and underground passageways that connect
nine subway lines running near the intersection of Broadway and Fulton
Street, just one block east of the World Trade Center site. The hub was
pieced together nearly 60 years ago after New York’s subways were consolidated. The complex has multiple entrances to bring people into the station,
but not necessarily to the subway line they need, and navigating among
the lines remains difficult and time consuming.

Expansion Projects Progress, 2000-2004*
($ millions)
Commitments Expenditures Completions**

East Side Access†

902.77

674.58

106.49

Second Avenue Subway

296.90

209.44

—

7 Line Extension§
Fulton St. Transit Center
South Ferry Terminal

56.54

39.25

43.60

103.11

39.94

—

25.31

12.30

9.00

Expansion Projects Progress, 2004*
($ millions)
Commitments Expenditures Completions**

East Side Access†

108.20

139.65

20.01

87.61

—

9.60

20.42

43.60

Fulton St. Transit Center

63.26

33.24

—

South Ferry Terminal

25.31

12.30

9.00

Second Avenue Subway
7 Line Extension§

11.17

* Figures do not include MTA security-related projects.
** Includes partial completions.
† East Side Access figures include amounts attributable to the 1995-1999 Capital
Program. Total East Side Access completions, 2000-2004 are $94.64 million.
§ The MTA expects that construction of the 7 line extension will be fully funded
by New York City.

The Transit Center will rationalize travel with easily accessible connections
among the A, C, J, M, Z, 2, 3, 4, and 5 subway lines and an underground
pedestrian concourse leading to E, R, and W service and extending to the
PATH World Trade Center station, the World Financial Center, and ferry
services. The building — which will create a prominent street presence for
the subway — and other new street entrances will improve access and make
the station ADA-accessible.
In 2004, Capital Construction began rehabilitation of the 2/3 Fulton Street
station and construction of southern exit stairs of the 4/5 station. Following
the issuance of a Record of Decision (ROD) by the Federal Transit
Administration (FTA), Capital Construction began advanced design of the
remaining components of the project.
At South Ferry, Capital Construction will build a two-track terminal to
replace the inefficient single-track loop terminal — which can accommodate only half the length of a subway train — that has been in service since
1908. The new station will allow full-length trains to pull in and out,
improving local service along the Broadway-Seventh Avenue line. In 2004,
Capital Construction completed negotiations for a design-build contract for
the structural steel box of the station and the connecting right-of-way track
work. Construction will start in early 2005.
Expansion Projects The East Side Access project completed the Arch
Street Yard and Shop for MTA Long Island Rail Road, which will provide the
maintenance facility required to initiate service to Grand Central Terminal.
East Side Access is expected to provide 162,000 daily passenger trips to and
from Long Island to the terminal, shortening their commutes by up to 20
minutes each way and supporting new business development in the area
around Grand Central.
The Second Avenue Subway moved closer to construction during the year
after the Federal Transit Administration issued its Record of Decision in July
2004. At the FTA’s urging, the line will be built in segments so that service
can begin as quickly as possible. The first segment will begin at 96th Street
and connect to the Broadway line at 63rd Street. In subsequent phases it
will be extended north to 125th Street and south to Chinatown and the
Financial District.
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Planning for the extension of the 7 line to the far West Side and south to
serve the Javits Center concluded with the publication of the Final Generic
Impact Statement. The extension, to be funded entirely by New York City,
will pave the way for the redevelopment and revitalization of the Hudson

At far left: artist’s rendering of Fulton Street Transit Center.
Artist’s rendering of Staten Island Ferry Terminal, with
planned subway entrance at left.

Economic Impact
Lack of mobility in Lower Manhattan has long been
recognized as an impediment to the area’s growth as
one of New York City’s key central business districts.
Narrow streets, slow buses, and a maze of subway
lines provide few or inconvenient transfer points.
In the aftermath of the attack on the World Trade
Center in 2001, it became clear that the devastated
area could not be rebuilt and revitalized without
also addressing its mobility problems.
Yards neighborhood. The investment will help transform the area into a 24-hour neighborhood with a
mix of commercial, residential, retail, and open and
recreational space and, according to the New York
City Economic Development Corporation, create
more than 110,000 jobs in Hudson Yards.
System Security Capital Construction is also
responsible for MTA-wide system security projects. In
2004 the agency — working with national and local
planners and both the MTA and New York City
Police Departments — began moving forward on
numerous projects that will strengthen the surveillance capabilities or harden the system to better
withstand terrorist activities.

The Fulton Street Transit Center will be the
centerpiece of a revived Fulton Street, which
will feature a unique blend of retail, arts,
culture, and entertainment venues.
Environmental Planning In 2004 Capital
Construction created a new Sustainability and
Environmental Management Division to ensure that
all of its projects are environmentally sound and
that they incorporate principles of green design.
Capital Construction has been recognized for its
environmentally sound planning, and in 2004 the
agency won the Green Building Design Competition
(sponsored by the NYC Department of
Environmental Protection and the United States
Environmental Protection Agency) for New York City
for the Second Avenue Subway project.

At the urging of Governor George E. Pataki and the
Lower Manhattan Development Corporation, the
federal government earmarked recovery funds to
rebuild the Fulton Street subway hub to serve the
World Trade Center site, including the memorial,
museum, and 10 million square feet of new office,
hotel, and retail space; the World Financial Center;
Battery Park City; and the Financial District. Also
funded was a plan to construct a new two-track terminal at South Ferry for the Broadway-Seventh
Avenue local.
The Fulton Street Transit Center will be the centerpiece of a revived Fulton Street, which is being transformed into a major east-west artery with a unique
blend of retail, arts, culture, and entertainment venues. With 85 percent of trips to the area made by
public transportation, the center will play a key role
in the area’s economic recovery and future development and anchor a lively mixed-use neighborhood
linking the Hudson and East Rivers.
At South Ferry, the new terminal will allow for fulllength trains to pull in and out of the station, provide an improved link to the Staten Island Ferry terminal, and create an underground transfer to the
Whitehall Street station of the Broadway line.
Together, these mobility improvement projects will
help attract businesses back to Lower Manhattan
and improve access for the millions of visitors
expected in the future, helping to provide the economic boost that will ensure the area’s — and the
city’s — prosperity.
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Letter of Transmittal

April 29, 2005
Chairman and Members of the Board
Metropolitan Transportation Authority
I hereby submit the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (“CAFR”) of the
Metropolitan Transportation Authority (“MTA,” the “Authority”) prepared by the
Comptroller’s Office for the year ended December 31, 2004. Responsibility for both
the accuracy of the enclosed data and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the MTA. I believe that the data as presented is accurate in all material respects and that the information is presented in a
manner designed to set forth fairly the financial position and results of operations
of the MTA in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. To the best of my knowledge, all disclosures necessary to
enable the reader to gain an understanding of the MTA’s financial affairs have been
included.
The CAFR is presented in three parts:
Introductory Section, including a copy of the 2003 Government Finance
Officers Association Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial
Reporting, this Letter of Transmittal, and the MTA Organizational Structure.
Financial Section, including Independent Auditors’ Report, Management’s
Discussion and Analysis, Consolidated Basic Financial Statements for the Years
Ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, and accompanying notes to the financial
statements.
Statistical Section, including a number of tables and graphs of unaudited
data for the past 10 years and other information.

The Reporting Entity
The MTA is the largest public transportation provider in the Western Hemisphere.
Its agencies serve 14.6 million people spread over 5,000 square miles from New York
City through Long Island, southeastern New York State, and Connecticut. MTA
agencies move more than 2.3 billion rail and bus customers a year.
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A public benefit corporation chartered by the New York State Legislature in 1965,
the MTA is governed by a 17-member Board.* Members are nominated by the
Governor, with four recommended by New York City’s mayor and one each by the
county executives of Nassau, Suffolk, Westchester, Dutchess, Orange, Rockland, and
Putnam counties. (Members representing the last four cast one collective vote.)
The Board also has six rotating nonvoting seats, three held by members of the
Permanent Citizens Advisory Committee (“PCAC”), which serves as a voice for users
of MTA transit and commuter facilities, and three held by representatives of organized labor. All Board members are confirmed by the New York State Senate.
The following table shows the agencies’ legal and popular names:
Legal Name:
New York City Transit Authority
Staten Island Rapid Transit Operating Authority
The Long Island Rail Road Company
Metropolitan Suburban Bus Authority
Metro-North Commuter Railroad Company
Triborough Bridge and Tunnel Authority
MTA Capital Construction Company
MTA Bus Company

Popular Name:
MTA New York City Transit
MTA Staten Island Railway
MTA Long Island Rail Road
MTA Long Island Bus
MTA Metro-North Railroad
MTA Bridges and Tunnels
MTA Capital Construction
MTA Bus

For financial reporting purposes, the above agencies are consolidated with MTA
headquarters (MTAHQ) for the consolidated financial statements because the oversight boards of each agency consist of the same members.

Major Initiatives, Service Efforts, and Accomplishments
In 2004, the MTA continued to address its financial needs for its operating budget
and its proposed 2005-2009 Capital Programs.
To ensure that its 2005 budget would be in balance, in 2004 the MTA Board
approved fare and toll increases that were effective in March 2005. Coupled with
other measures to close its budget gap, the MTA expects to have a balanced budget
in 2005.
An analysis of the MTA’s February 2005 Financial Plan shows that it confronts
increasing operating deficits beginning in 2006 and continuing at least through
2009. The deficits are primarily a result of increases in debt service, pension fund
payments, and health and welfare benefit costs.

*The current board (as of April 5, 2005) includes 17 voting and 6 nonvoting members.
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The MTA worked with the Governor and state legislature to develop new dedicated
tax resources that support our operations as well as proposals to regularize fare
increases to offset inflationary pressures.
The MTA also addressed ongoing capital construction needs with a draft 2005-2009
Capital Program submitted for state approval in September. The state withheld
approval of the program pending the completion of the 2005-2006 state budget.
The state legislature passed a revised budget in mid-April, enabling the MTA to fund
its core program of system maintenance, repair, and improvement for $16.0 billion
and its expansion projects for $4.5 billion. Specific proposals for a revised network
expansion program must await resolution of the proposed New York State
Transportation Bond Act as well as additional planning with the MTA’s federal funding partners to craft an expansion program that can be effectively implemented at a
slower pace.
Following approval by the MTA Board, the MTA submitted a revised 2005-2009
Capital Program budget to the New York State Capital Program Review Board.
During 2004, the Federal Transit Administration (“FTA”) recommended the East Side
Access project for a full funding agreement and issued a Record of Decision (“ROD”)
for the Second Avenue Subway, an important milestone that allows us to proceed to
final design for the first segment of that line.
The two Lower Manhattan mobility projects — Fulton Street Transit Center and the
South Ferry Terminal — have received full funding from the federal government as
part of the Lower Manhattan rebuilding process. The FTA issued a ROD for the
Fulton Street Transit Center in November, and construction began on the platform
of the 2/3 lines and on the southern exit stairs of the 4/5 lines. Construction of the
new two-track terminal at South Ferry began early in 2005. The station will include
an underground connection to the R/W lines at Whitehall Street and will improve
access to the Staten Island Ferry.

Results of Operations
Ridership rebounded in 2004 to 2.35 billion, up from 2.30 billion in 2003. New York
City Transit carried a total of 2.17 billion customers in 2004, up from 2.11 billion in
2003. Ridership on the Long Island Rail Road was down to 79.3 million from 80.9
million. Long Island Bus ridership, including its paratransit operations, rose to 30.6
million from 30.4 million. Metro-North Railroad ridership was 72.4 million in 2004,
up from 72.0 million in 2003.
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MetroCard Vending Machine sales totaled approximately $1.22 billion in 2004 and
accounted for 48 percent of all MetroCard transactions. Debit card and credit card
purchases accounted for 54 percent of all vending machine revenue.
Vehicle crossings at facilities of MTA Bridges and Tunnels reached 302.9 million in
2004, up from 297.5 million in 2003. The market share of the E-ZPass electronic toll
collection system continued to grow, reaching 72.5 percent of all weekday crossings
and 82.3 percent of commercial vehicle weekday crossings on Bridges and Tunnels
facilities — an average of 614,908 customers each weekday. The E-ZPass program is
the largest electronic toll collection system in the world.

Operating Revenues

Operating Revenues
($ millions)
Passenger Fares
Tolls
Rent, freight, and
sundry
Total

Percent of
Total

2003

Dollar
Change

$3,424

71%

$3,206

$218

1,097

23%

1,022

75

2004

316

7%

316

0

$4,837

100%

$4,544

$293

Operating Expenses

Operating Expenses
($ millions)

2004

Salaries and wages
$3,645
Retirement and other
employee benefits
1,403
Traction and propulsion power 203
Fuel for buses and trains
95
Insurance
66
Claims
133
Paratransit service contracts
135
Maintenance and other
operating contracts
408
Professional service contracts
180
Materials and supplies
370
Depreciation
1,344
Other
31
Total

4
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$8,013

T R A N S P O R T A T I O N

Percent of
Total

Dollar
2003 Change

45%

$3,548

$97

18%
3%
1%
1%
2%
2%

1,185
185
73
56
187
124

218
18
22
10
(54)
11

5%
2%
5%
17%
>1%

387
202
390
1,235
10

21
(22)
(20)
109
21

100%

$7,582

$431
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Salaries and benefit expenses increased across all reporting groups, principally
because of higher levels of overtime and wage increases associated with labor contracts for many of the MTA’s represented staff. Benefit expenses increased commensurate with the higher salaries and wages and were affected by the nationwide
increase in health benefit costs and recalculated pension contributions necessitated
by stock market losses.

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
2004

Percent of
Total

2003

Dollar
Change

Tax-supported subsidies:
New York State
New York City and local

$1,442
1,011

58%
40%

$1,357
619

$85
392

Operating subsidies:
New York State
New York City and local

206
188

8%
8%

211
207

(5)
(19)

Operating subsidies recoverable from
Connecticut Department of Transportation
related to Metro-North Commuter Railroad’s
New Haven line

52

2%

56

(4)

Subsidies paid to Dutchess, Orange,
and Rockland counties

(22)

(1%)

(20)

(2)

($ millions)

Suburban Highway Transportation Fund
subsidy
Interest on long-term debt
Station maintenance, operation,
and use assessments

(20)

(1%)

(19)

(1)

(819)

(33%)

(780)

(39)

5%

125

4

(1)

0%

(31)

30

Revenue from WTC insurance settlement

—

0%

398

Unrealized gain (loss) on investment

15

1%

(18)

Loss on disposal of subway cars

Other nonoperating income
Total

129

(398)
33

317

13%

162

155

$2,498

100%

$2,267

$231

Risk Management
The MTA has an extensive risk management program, including its own captive
insurance company, and combines self-insurance with insurance policy contract
coverage.
Following the terrorist attack on the World Trade Center, the MTA began working
with its insurance carriers to settle claims for damage to MTA property, expenses
relating to additional operating expenses, and losses due to business interruption.
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On August 27, 2004, the MTA received a final payment of $20 million. This resulted
in a total WTC settlement of $398 million, which includes $18.6 million from FEMA.

Accounting and Budgetary Control
Management of the MTA is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control structure to ensure that the assets of the MTA are protected from loss,
theft, or misuse and ensure that adequate accounting data is compiled to allow for
the preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.
Basis of Accounting The MTA prepares its financial statements using the accrual
basis of accounting. The activities of the MTA are similar to those of proprietary
funds of local jurisdictions and are therefore reported in conformity with governmental accounting and financial reporting principles issued by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”).
Budgetary Controls The MTA maintains budgetary procedures in order to ensure
compliance with the annual operating budgets approved by the MTA’s Board. It is
the responsibility of each office to administer its operation in such a manner as to
ensure that the use of funds is consistent with the goals and programs authorized by
the Board and that approved levels are not exceeded.
Cash Management The MTA’s investment policies comply with the New York State
Comptroller’s guidelines. These polices permit investments in, among others, obligations of the U.S. Treasury and its agencies and instrumentalities, and repurchase
agreements secured by such obligations.

Independent Audit
The accounting firm of Deloitte & Touche LLP performed the annual audit of the
financial records of the MTA in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. The report of the independent auditors on the
financial statements of the MTA is included in the Financial Section of this CAFR.

Awards
The Government Finance Officers Association (“GFOA”) awarded a Certificate of
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the MTA for its 2003 annual
report. This was the tenth consecutive year the MTA received this prestigious award.
In order to be eligible for a Certificate of Achievement, the MTA published an easily
readable and efficiently organized comprehensive annual financial report. This
report satisfied both accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America and applicable legal requirements.
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Report of Independent Auditors

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Members of the Board of
Metropolitan Transportation Authority
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of the Metropolitan Transportation Authority
(the “MTA”), a component unit of the State of New York, as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the
consolidated statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net assets, and consolidated cash flows for the
years then ended, which collectively comprise the MTA’s basic consolidated financial statements as listed in the
table of contents. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the MTA’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We did not
audit the financial statements of the New York City Transit Authority (“NYCTA”), Staten Island Rapid Transit
Operating Authority (“SIRTOA”), and the Metropolitan Suburban Bus Authority (“MSBA”), which represent
55 percent and 54 percent and 45 percent and 45 percent, as of and for the years ended December 31, 2004 and
2003 respectively, the assets and revenues of the MTA. Those financial statements were audited by other
auditors whose reports thereon have been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts
included for NYCTA, SIRTOA and MSBA, is based solely on the report of the other auditors.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the respective financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration
of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the MTA’s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements, assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits and the reports of other auditors
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, based on our audits and the reports of other auditors, the consolidated financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the MTA, as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the changes in the consolidated statements of revenues, expenses and
changes in net assets, and consolidated cash flows, thereof for the years then ended in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
The Management’s Discussion and Analysis on pages 14 through 25 is not a required part of the basic
consolidated financial statements but is supplementary information required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board. This supplementary information is the responsibility of the MTA’s management. We and the
other auditors have applied certain limited procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of management
regarding the methods of measurement and presentation of the supplementary information. However, we did
not audit the information and express no opinion on it.
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the MTA’s basic consolidated financial
statements. The introductory section, statistical section, schedule of pension funding progress, schedule of
financial plan to financial statements reconciliation, schedule of consolidated subsidy accrual reconciliation
between financial plan and financial statements, and the schedule of consolidated reconciliation between
financial plan and financial statements are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required
part of the basic consolidated financial statements. This supplementary information is the responsibility of the
MTA’s management. The schedule of pension funding progress has been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied by us and the other auditors in the audit of the basic consolidated financial statements and, in our
opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to
the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole. The introductory section, schedule of financial
plan to financial statements reconciliation, schedule of consolidated subsidy accrual reconciliation between
financial plan and financial statements, schedule of consolidated reconciliation between financial plan and
financial statements, and the statistical section have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the basic consolidated financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on them.

March 31, 2005
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1. Overview of the Financial Statements
Introduction
This report consists of four parts: Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”), Financial Statements,
Notes to the Financial Statements and Supplementary Information.
Financial Statements include:
• Consolidated Balance Sheets which provide information about the nature and amounts of investments
in resources (assets) and the obligations to Metropolitan Transportation Authority (the “Authority”)
creditors (liabilities), with the difference between the two reported as net assets.
• Consolidated Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in net Assets, which provide information
about the Authority’s changes in net assets for the period then ended and accounts for all of the period’s revenues and expenses, measures the success of the Authority’s operations during the period and
can be used to determine how the Authority has funded its costs.
• The Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows provide information about the Authority’s cash receipts,
cash payments, and net changes in cash resulting from operations, noncapital financing, capital and
related financing, and investing activities.
Notes to the Financial Statements provide information that is essential to understanding the financial
statements, such as the Authority’s accounting methods and policies, details of cash and investments,
employee benefits, long-term debt, lease transactions, future commitments and contingencies of the Authority
and information about other events or developing situations that could materially affect the Authority’s
financial position.
Required Supplementary Information provides information concerning the Authority’s progress in funding its obligation to provide pension benefits to its employees.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis provides a narrative overview and analysis of the financial
activities of the Authority for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. This management discussion
and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the Authority’s financial statements. It provides an
assessment of how the Authority’s position has improved or deteriorated and identifies the factors that, in
management’s view, significantly affected the Authority’s overall financial position. It may contain opinions,
assumptions, or conclusions by the Authority’s management that should not be considered a replacement for,
and must be read in conjunction with, the financial statements.
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2. Financial Reporting Entity
The Metropolitan Transportation Authority was established under New York State Public Authorities Law and
is a public benefit corporation and a component unit of the State of New York whose mission is to continue,
develop, and improve public transportation and to develop and implement a unified public transportation
policy in the New York metropolitan area.
MTA Related Groups
• Headquarters (“MTAHQ”) – provides general oversight, planning, and administration, including budget, cash management, finance, legal, real estate, treasury, risk management, and other functions to the
agencies listed below.
• The Long Island Rail Road Company (“LIRR”) – provides passenger transportation between New York
City and Long Island.
• Metro-North Commuter Railroad Company (“MNCR”) – provides passenger transportation between
New York City and the suburban communities in Westchester, Dutchess, Putnam, Orange, and
Rockland counties in New York State and New Haven and Fairfield counties in Connecticut.
• Staten Island Rapid Transit Operating Authority (“SIRTOA”) – provides passenger rail transportation on
Staten Island.
• Metropolitan Suburban Bus Authority (“MSBA”) – provides public bus service in Nassau and Queens
Counties.
• First Mutual Transportation Assurance Company (“FMTAC”) – operates as a captive insurance company
to provide insurance coverage for property and primary liability.
• MTA Excess Loss Trust Fund (“ELF”) – provides coverage against losses from catastrophic events and provides budget stability in the event annual aggregate losses impact negatively upon the operating budgets of its participants. ELF was terminated in the fourth quarter of 2003 and the assets were transferred
to First Mutual Transportation Assurance Company (“FMTAC”) (as defined above). FMTAC will be
responsible for ELF’s past liabilities and issue a new policy covering similar claims.
• New York City Transit Authority (“NYCTA”) and the Manhattan and Bronx Surface Transit Operating
Authority (“MaBSTOA”) – provide subway and public bus service within the five boroughs of New York
City.
• Triborough Bridge and Tunnel Authority (“TBTA”) – operates seven toll bridges, two tunnels, and the
Battery Parking Garage.
• MTA Capital Construction Company (“Capital Construction”) – provides oversight for the planning,
design, and construction of current and future major MTA system expansion projects.
• MTA Bus Company (“MTA Bus”) – operates certain bus routes in areas previously served by private bus
operators pursuant to franchises granted by the City.
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3. Condensed Financial Information
The following sections discuss the significant changes in the Authority’s financial position for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003. An analysis of major economic factors and industry trends that have contributed to these changes is provided. It should be noted that for purposes of the MD&A, the information contained within the summaries of the financial statements and the various exhibits presented were derived from
the Authorities financial statements. All dollar amounts are in millions.
Total Assets, Distinguished Between Capital Assets, Net and Other Assets
December
December
2004
2003

December
2002

Capital assets, net (see note 5)
Other assets

$33,654
10,183
_________________

$31,556
10,474
_________________

$29,079
10,689
_________________

Total assets

$43,837

$42,030

$39,768

Capital Assets
2004

2003

2004

■ Construction work-in-progress
■ Building and structures
■ Bridges and tunnels
■ Passenger cars and locomotives
■ Buses
■ Infrastructure
■ Other
■ Land

2003

16%

16%

23%

24%

4%

3%

18%

18%

2%

2%

23%

23%

14%

14%

0%

0%

December 31, 2004 versus 2003
• Net capital assets increased in 2004 by $2,098. The most significant portion of the increase occurred in
infrastructure, $892, followed by other, $622, and passenger cars and locomotives, $566. These increases
were partially offset by normal depreciation expenses. Some of the more significant projects included:
— Rehabilitation of track on the Main Line, Port Washington, and West Hempstead Branches and Atlantic
Avenue Tunnel and installation of the third rail on the mainline of the LIRR.
— Updating of the Valley Stream and Queens interlocking with a microprocessor-logic.
— Rehabilitation of the Atlantic Terminal and construction of a new transit entry area.
— Placing new M-7 electric cars into service on both the commuter rail systems and the incurring of additional costs for construction, testing, and quality assurance oversight.
— Continuation of the Jamaica Station rehabilitation and the construction of an inter-modal transportation center which links LIRR, JFK, AirTrain, and NYCTA subway and bus lines.
— Acquisition of 188 new articulated CNG and hybrid buses for the NYCTA.
— Various shop, yard, and depot rehabilitations, upgrade, and replacements.
— Several passenger station rehabilitations on the NYCTA subway lines.
— Rehabilitation of the tunnel walls and roadway of the Brooklyn-Battery Tunnel.
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— Rehabilitation of the Battery-Parking Garage.
— Replacement of the deck at the Triborough and Bronx-Whitestone Bridges, including span replacement
on the Bronx-Whitestone Bridge.
— Replacement of structural steel and the repairing of the drainage system at the Throgs Neck Bridge.
• Other assets had a net decrease of $291. The major items contributing to this change include:
— An increase of $320 in investments due primarily to an increase in MRT special assistance funds, various non-bond proceeds, and available Dedicated Tax Fund funds.
— A net decrease in receivables of $212. This decrease is due primarily to receipt of the $200 World Trade
Center insurance settlement.
— A decrease in prepaid and other current and noncurrent assets of $399 also contributed to the decrease.
A related group of the MTA changed its method of accounting for certain assets and liabilities related to
its employee benefit plan in 2004.
December 31, 2003 versus 2002
• Capital assets increased in 2003 by $2,477. The significant additions included rehabilitation of stations
and structures for the subways and railroad cars of $469, placing in service of new railroad electric passenger cars and subway cars of $851, track and structure rebuild of $899 and other capital assets of
$257. Major projects related to these expenditures included:
— Installation of new Ticket Vending Machines by LIRR and MNCR.
— Rehabilitation of Jamaica station and construction of inter-modal transportation center linking LIRR,
JFK Air Train, and NYCTA subway and bus lines.
— Installation of new electrical distribution systems to the standby power substations in Penn Station.
— Reconstruction of the Atlantic Avenue stations, including disabled accessibility; Roosevelt station;
Queens Plaza; and Times Square.
— Work was done on Canarsie and Flushing lines as part of signal modernization.
— Finalization of construction and reconstruction of the 1 and 9 lines destroyed in the terrorist attack of
September 11, 2001.
— Acquisition of 385 new subway cars.
— Acquisition of 319 new articulated and CNG buses.
• The additions were partially offset by the disposal of 296 “Redbird” subway cars. The disposal of the
“Redbird” subway cars was completed in 2003 by “reefing” the cars off the coast of some states to
enhance sea life.
• Other Assets decreased by $215 from 2002 to 2003. The major components of this decrease were:
— A decrease of $843 in investments primarily related to the acquisition of capital assets, an increase in
operating losses and payment of debt service.
— A decrease of $667 in current receivables and other non-current assets is derived primarily from the settlement of the World Trade Center (“WTC”) disaster, partially offset by the collection of accounts receivable from the City of New York.
— An increase in prepaid expenses is primarily due to the prepayment of pension costs and insurance premiums.
— An increase of $445 in restricted investments related to new capital lease obligations. During 2003, the
Authority engaged in three sale/leaseback transactions with MetLife, Bank of New York, and Bank of
America.
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— An increase of $391 in the NYS Recoverable primarily related to the usage of proceeds available from
the State Service Contract Bonds issued in 2002. This recoverable will be reduced in future years through
NYS reimbursement of principal on the bonds.
Total Liabilities, Distinguishing Between Long-Term Liabilities and Other Liabilities
December
December
2004
2003

December
2002

Other liabilities
Long-term liabilities

$ 2,487
23,754
_________________

$ 2,384
22,133
_________________

$ 2,101
20,805
_________________

Total liabilities

$26,241

$24,517

$22,906

Total Liabilities
2004

2003
2004

■ Accounts payable/accrued expenses
■ Long-term debt (Note 6)
■ Obligations under capital lease (Note 7)
■ Other current liabilities
■ Other long-term liabilities

2003

7%

8%

76%

73%

10%

11%

1%

1%

6%

7%

Significant Changes in Liabilities Include:
December 31, 2004 versus 2003
• Total liabilities increased by $1,724.
• Other liabilities increased by $103. This net increase is due primarily to:
— An increase in the current portion of retirement and death benefits of $58 and the current portion of
long-term debt of $98 which is partially offset by reductions in accounts payable of $176 and other miscellaneous increases of $123.
• Long-term liabilities increased by $1,621. This net increase is primarily related to:
— The increase of $1,896 for Long Term Debt – MTA is authorized to issue bonds to finance transit and
commuter capital projects. TBTA is authorized to issue bonds to finance its own bridge and tunnel capital projects or transit and commuter capital projects. During 2004, MTA and TBTA issued the following
bonds to finance transit and commuter capital projects:
– $250 MTA Dedicated Tax Fund Bonds, Series 2004A
– $500 MTA Dedicated Tax Fund Variable Rate Bonds, Series 2004B
– $120 MTA Dedicated Tax Fund Bonds, Series 2004C
– $280 MTA Dedicated Tax Fund Variable Rate Bonds, Series 2004D
– $500 MTA Transportation Revenue Variable Rate Bonds, 2004A
– $250 TBTA Subordinate Revenue Variable Rate Bonds, Series 2004A
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— In addition, during 2004, MTA, TBTA, and NYCTA participated in the execution and delivery of
$357.925 Variable Rate Certificates of Participation, Series 2004A to refund, and achieve debt service
savings in connection with, outstanding certificates of participation that financed the renovation of the
2 Broadway office building. (See Note 6).
— A decrease of $90 in the long-term portion of obligations under capital lease.
— A decrease in miscellaneous other liabilities, estimated liabilities arising from injuries, and contract
retainage payable of $185 including the effect of a related group of the MTA’s changed method of
accounting for certain assets and liabilities related to its employee benefit plan in 2004.
December 31, 2003 versus 2002
• Total liabilities increased by $1,611
• The Other liabilities increased primarily due to:
— An increase in current portion of bond principal payable.
— An increase of $275 in accrued expenses, partially due to an increase in vacation and sick pay, retirement and death benefits payable, bank and overdraft payable due to timing of payroll, and other
expenses not yet funded.
• The Long-term liabilities increased primarily due to:
— Increase in long-term debt in the amount of $1,444 resulting from the issuance of the Authority’s
Transportation Revenue Bonds, Series 2003A and Series 2003B in the amount of $475 and $752 respectively, for the purpose of providing funds for capital projects as well as redeeming the Bond Anticipation
Notes in the amount of $750. New Bond Anticipation Notes in the amount of $420 were issued. TBTA
also issued Subordinate Revenue Bonds, Series 2003A and TBTA General Revenue Variable Rate Bonds,
Series 2003B in the amounts of $500 and $250 respectively to finance transportation projects, and certain improvements on bridges and tunnels.
— Increase in obligations under capital lease of $437, resulting mainly from the new sale-lease transactions with Met Life, Bank of America, and Bank of New York.
— Increase in estimated liabilities arising from injuries to persons increased by $93, due to increases in
amounts claimed and settled.
— Other long-term liabilities decreased by $645, primarily due to the settlement of the World Trade Center
insurance claims.
Total Net Assets, Distinguishing Among Amounts Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt, Restricted Amounts,
and Unrestricted Amounts
December
December
December
2004
2003
2002
Invested in capital assets,
net of related debt
Restricted for debt service
Unrestricted

$ 13,678
828
3,090
_________________

$ 13,671
2,130
1,712
_________________

$ 13,891
768
2,203
_________________

Total

$17,596

$17,513

$16,862

December 31, 2004 versus 2003
At December 31, 2004, the total net assets increased by $83 from December 31, 2003. This increase includes
non-operating revenue of $2,498, and appropriations, grants and other receipts externally restricted for capital projects of $761, offset by operating losses of $3,176.
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Capital assets net of related debt increased by $7.
Funds restricted for debt service decreased by $1,302 mainly due to the payment of debt service on January
1, 2004 for TBTA bonds and the payments made on May 15 and November 15, 2004 for the Transportation
Revenues Bonds and Dedicated Tax bonds.
December 31, 2003 versus 2002
At December 31, 2003, the total net assets increased by $651 over December 31, 2002. This increase includes
non-operating revenue of $2,267, and appropriations, grants and other receipts externally restricted for capital projects of $1,423, offset by operating losses of $3,039.
Capital assets net of related debt decreased by $220 due mainly to the new capital asset acquisitions. Bond
proceeds available for capital expenditures were not entirely used and at December 31, a total of $455 of
unexpended proceeds was still outstanding.
Funds restricted for debt service increased by $1,362. This increase is derived from the 2002 bond restructuring and the impact of new issuances that took place in 2003.
Condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets
December 31, December 31,
2004
2003
Operating Revenues:
Passenger and tolls
Other

$ 4,521
316
________________

$ 4,228
316
________________

$ 3,912
141
________________

Total operating revenues

4,837
________________

4,544
________________

4,053
________________

Nonoperating Revenues:
Grants, appropriations, and taxes
2,847
Other
513
________________
Total nonoperating revenues
3,360
________________

2,394
723
________________
3,117
________________

2,097
166
________________
2,263
________________

Total revenues

8,197
________________

7,661
________________

6,316
________________

Operating Expenses:
Salaries and wages
Retirement and other
employee benefits
Depreciation and amortization
Other expenses

3,645

3,548

3,435

1,403
1,344
1,621
________________

1,185
1,235
1,614
________________

1,171
1,135
1,251
________________

Total operating expense

8,013
________________

7,582
________________

6,992
________________

Total nonoperating expense

819
43
________________
862
________________

780
70
________________
850
________________

558
72
________________
630
________________

Total expenses

8,875
________________

8,432
________________

7,622
________________

Appropriations, grants, and
other receipts externally
restricted for capital projects

761
________________

1,422
________________

1,666
________________

83

651

360

Net assets, beginning of year

17,513
________________

16,862
________________

16,502
________________

Net assets, end of year

$17,596

$17,513

$16,862

Nonoperating Expense:
Interest on long-term debt
Other nonoperating expense

Change in net assets
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Revenues and Expenses, by Major Source:
December 31, 2004 versus 2003
• Total operating revenues for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004 were $293 higher than in the
twelve months ended December 31, 2003.
— Fare revenues and vehicle toll revenues were higher than the prior year due primarily to the full-year
impact of the fare and toll increases that became effective in May 2003. Also impacting revenues is ridership and vehicle bridge and tunnel crossings, which showed a modest increase as the New York City
economy continues to improve.
• Total operating expenses for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004 were higher than December
31, 2003 by $431.
— Labor costs, including retirement and other employee benefits, were higher by approximately $315 for
the twelve months ended December 31, 2004 when compared to the twelve months ended December 31,
2003. The labor cost increase is due primarily to a 3 percent salary increase approved in 2004 and to
higher pension, health and welfare cost.
— Non-labor costs were higher by approximately $116 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004
when compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2003. Cost elements contributing to this
increase were depreciation resulting from new capital assets being placed into service, maintenance and
other operating contracts and fuel and power expense. These higher costs were partially offset by lower
costs in materials and supplies, claims, and professional service contracts.
• Total grants, appropriations, and taxes were higher by approximately $453 for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2004 compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2003. This is predominantly the result of the NYS budget being approved in August 2004 with increases in NYS and Local
operating subsidies and an increase in tax supported subsidies.
December 31, 2003 versus 2002
• Revenues from fares and tolls for the twelve months ended December 31, 2003 were $316 higher than
in the twelve months ended December 31, 2002. This is primarily due to the commuter rail fare increase
that went into effect on May 1, 2003, and the bridge and tunnel toll increase that went into effect on
May 18, 2003.
— TBTA bridge and tunnel tolls accounted for over 95 percent of their operating revenue. The 2003
increase of $129 in operating revenue at TBTA was related primarily to the toll increase that was implemented in May 2003, as there was a decline in year-to-year traffic. The traffic decline was due in part to
the unfavorable weather conditions at both the beginning and end of the year.
— Commuter Railroads operating revenue increased $85.3 in 2003 over 2002. Passenger revenues accounted for approximately 92 percent or $80 of the increase in operating revenue. The passenger revenue
increase is due primarily to fare increases that took place in May 2003 in New York and July 2003 in
Connecticut. Ridership of the Commuter Railroads declined in 2003 from 2002 due to the economic
slowdown, which continued to linger in the region, the fare increase, and the unusually harsh weather,
with the August blackout also being a contributing factor.
— NYCTA operating revenue from fares increased by approximately $245 in 2003 over 2002 while ridership decreased. As is the case with other components of the Authority’s transportation system, the
increase is due primarily to the fare increase, as the region’s economy was having an adverse effect on
ridership.
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— SIRTOA and MSBA had fare revenue increases of $4 and $35 respectively in 2003 over 2002. These fare
increases, too, are attributable in large part to the May 2003 fare increases, while the weak regional
economy and the August 2003 blackout had a negative impact on revenue.
• Salaries and wages increased by $113 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2003 over 2002. The
increase is primarily attributed to contract settlements, unscheduled overtime expenses, the impact of
August 2003 blackout, and general salary increases.
• Retirement and other employee benefits increased by $14. Pension contributions accounted for the
majority of the increase. This is attributed to an increase in the salary base, pension contributions
required because of the poor investment portfolio performance, and an increase in the rates charged by
the NYS and NYC pension funds, and an increase in workers’ compensation liability.
• Depreciation expenses increased by $100 resulting from new capital assets being placed into service.
• The financial statements reflect $398 of revenues related to the settlement of all claims with the insurers
for losses incurred due to the events of September 11, 2001.
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4. Overall Financial Position and Results of Operations
and Important Economic Conditions
Economic Conditions
Metropolitan New York is the most transit-intensive region in the United States. A financially sound and reliable transportation system is critical to the region’s economic well-being. The Authority’s business consists of
urban subway and bus systems, suburban rail and bus systems, and bridge and tunnel facilities, all of which
are affected by many different economic forces. In order to achieve maximum efficiency and success in its
operations, the Authority must identify economic trends and continually implement strategies to adapt to
changing economic conditions.
The adverse ridership trends, together with additional security costs (both capital and operating) and a
worsening of the operating balance position, moved the Authority to increase fares and tolls in May 2003.
Ridership levels, which experienced losses in the immediate aftermath of the May 2003 fare increase, have
slowly recovered, and improving economic conditions have also had a beneficial impact. During 2004, MTA
ridership was 2.3 percent higher (53.8 million trips) than 2003 and vehicle crossings at MTA Bridge and
Tunnels facilities were 1.8 percent higher for 2004 when compared with the 2003 level.
Job losses bottomed out at the start of 2004, and preliminary results show a modest increase of 10,000 jobs
during 2004, a 0.3 percent increase.
The recoveries of the national and regional economies have resulted in a more inflationary climate. The
consumer price index in the New York metropolitan area increased 3.5 percent in 2004, after a 3.1 percent
increase in 2003. The rising cost of energy had a tremendous impact on the consumer price index: the energy
component of the index increased 10.1 percent in 2004 and the consumer price index excluding energy
increased 3.1 percent. The New York Harbor spot price for conventional gasoline averaged $1.18 per gallon in
2004, an increase of 33.5 percent over the 2003 average spot price.
As the national economy has emerged from recession, the Federal Reserve Board has adjusted its monetary
policies in an effort to keep inflation under control. During 2004, the Federal Reserve Board raised the Federal
Funds Rate – considered to be the most sensitive indicator of the direction of interest rates – by one-quarter
point on five occasions, beginning at the end of June 2004. These were the first increases since May 2000;
from May 2000 through June 2004, the Federal Funds Rate declined from 6.5 percent to 1.0 percent. By the
end of 2004, the Rate had increased to 2.5 percent.
Results of Operations
During the year ended December 31, 2004, paid TBTA traffic reached 302.9 million vehicles, 5.4 million higher than 2003 volume. This can largely be attributed to relative favorable winter weather along with modest
growth in regional employment. The E-ZPass electronic collection system continued to facilitate the management of record high traffic volumes in 2004. E-ZPass traffic reached 212.3 million vehicles in 2004, a 2.3 percent increase over the 2003 level of 207.6 million vehicles. On an average weekday in 2004, 73 percent of all
TBTA traffic used E-ZPass.
During 2004, NYCTA’s total ridership from fares was 2.17 billion trips, an increase of 56 million trips over
2003 (a 2.6 percent increase). The extra leap year day in 2004 and the absence in 2004 of a blackout as
occurred in August 2003 are factors that contributed to this increase. In addition, restoration of full service on
the Manhattan Bridge and an upturn in the City’s economy marked by increased employment and tourism
also positively impacted ridership.
LIRR ridership declined by approximately 2.0 percent in 2004 from 2003. Ridership dropped from 80.9 million in 2003 with passenger revenues of $393.3 to 79.3 million in 2004 with increased revenues of $410.8. The
increase in revenues is attributable to the fare increase that became effective May 1, 2003 which was partially
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offset by the decline in ridership. In 2004, 142 additional M-7 electric cars were placed in service. The M-7
fleet is currently more than doubling its Mean Distance Between Failure goal of 100,000 which is expected to
translate into improved on time performance.
Overall MNCR ridership in 2004 was 70.8 million. However, there were increases on both the Harlem and
New Haven Lines, partially offset by a decrease of less than one percent on the Hudson Line. In 2003 ridership was 70.5 million.
The following factors made for adverse customer usage during 2003: sluggish local economy; adverse
weather conditions (above-average snowfalls during winter and record-breaking rainfalls particularly in the
spring); the May 2003 fare and toll increases. During 2003, total ridership on the MTA network of mass transit, including subway, bus, and commuter rails, was 2.31 billion, down from 2.37 billion in 2002. Average
weekday ridership was 7.53 million, down from 7.71 million. NYCTA ridership totaled 2.12 billion in 2003,
down from its 30-year record high of 2.18 billion in 2002. Subways carried 1.38 billion passengers and buses
carried 735 million, both down slightly from 2002. LIRR ridership declined by 3.6 percent to 80.9 million and
MNCR ridership decreased slightly from 73.1 million in 2002 to 70.5 million in 2003. TBTA bridges and tunnels were used by 297 million vehicles, down approximately 1.0 percent.
Currently, the Authority receives the equivalent of four quarters of MMTOA Receipts each year, with the
first quarter of each succeeding calendar year’s receipts similarly advanced. This results in little or no MMTOA
Receipts being received during the first quarter of each calendar year; the MTA has made other provisions to
provide for cash liquidity during this period. There has been no change in the timing of the State’s payment
of, or MTA’s receipt of, Dedicated Mass Transportation Trust Fund (“MTTF”) Receipts, which MTA anticipates
will be sufficient to make monthly principal and interest deposits into the Debt Service Fund.
Over the last few years, the mortgage recording taxes payable to the Authority have generally exceeded
expectations due primarily to the high level of home buying and refinancings caused by historically low
interest rates. The Authority does not expect that its collection of mortgage recording taxes will continue at
the current levels.
Capital Programs
Capital programs covering the years 2000–2004 have been approved by the MTA Board for (1) the commuter
railroad operations of the Authority conducted by LIRR and MNCR (as amended to December 31, 2004, the
“2000–2004 Commuter Capital Program”), (2) the transit system operated by the NYCTA and its subsidiary,
MaBSTOA, and the rail system operated by SIRTOA (as amended to December 31, 2004, the “2000–2004
Transit Capital Program”), and (3) the toll bridges and tunnels operated by TBTA (as amended to December
31, 2004, the “2000–2004 TBTA Capital Program”). The 2000–2004 TBTA Capital Program was effective upon
adoption by the TBTA Board. The 2000–2004 Commuter Capital Program and the 2000–2004 Transit Capital
program (collectively, the “2000–2004 MTA Capital Programs”) have been approved by the Metropolitan
Transportation Authority Capital Program Review Board (the “CPRB”).
The CPRB-approved 2000–2004 MTA Capital Programs and the TBTA 2000–2004 Capital Program through
December 31, 2004 provide for $20,619 in capital expenditures, of which $10,110 relates to ongoing repairs
of, and replacements to, the Transit System operated by NYCTA and MaBSTOA and the rail system operated
by SIRTOA, $3,854 relates to ongoing repairs of, and replacements to, the commuter system operated by LIRR
and MNCR, $4,365 relates to the expansion of existing rail networks for both the transit and commuter systems to be managed by MTA Capital Construction, $509 relates to planning and design and customer service
projects, $249 relates to World Trade Center repair projects, $1,031 relates to the ongoing repairs of, and
replacements to, TBTA bridge and tunnel facilities, and $455 relates to MTA Bus.
The combined funding sources for the approved 2000–2004 MTA Capital Programs and the TBTA
2000–2004 Capital Program include $7,919 in bonds, $6,342 in Federal funds, $4,544 from the proceeds of
the MTA/TBTA debt restructuring in 2002 and $1,814 from other sources.
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5. Currently Known Facts, Decisions, or Conditions
On December 16, 2004, the Authority’s Board approved certain fare and toll increases for the MTA commuter
rail, transit, and bus systems and for bridge and tunnel crossings.
• Effective March 1, 2005 commuter rail fares on travel in New York State were increased on average by
7.1 percent for LIRR and 6.2 percent for MNCR.
• Effective February 27, 2005, the cost of a 30-day Unlimited Ride MetroCard increased from $70.00 to
$76.00; the cost of a 7-day Unlimited Ride Metro-Card increased from $21.00 to $24.00; and express bus
fares increased from $4.00 to $5.00 per ride. The $2.00 base fare and the 1-Day Fun Pass fare of $7.00
did not change.
• Effective March 13, 2005, an increased crossing charge schedule went into effect, and on July 1, 2005, a
new monthly E-ZPass fee will go into effect.
MTA Bus Company (“MTA Bus”) was created as a public benefit corporation subsidiary of MTA in December
2004 specifically to operate certain City bus routes. At its meeting in December 2004, the MTA Board
approved a letter agreement with the City with respect to MTA Bus’ establishment and operation of certain
bus routes (the “City Bus Routes”) in areas then served by private bus operators in The Bronx, Queens and
Brooklyn pursuant to franchises granted by the City. The letter agreement with the City provides, among
other things, that the City will pay to MTA Bus the difference between the actual cost of operations of the City
Bus Routes (other than certain capital costs) and all revenues and subsidies received by MTA Bus and allocable to the operation of the City Bus Routes. The letter agreement permits the parties after a period of 18
months to negotiate an agreement to establish a formula-based approach for the payment of the City subsidy. MTA Bus began operating a portion of the City Bus Routes in early 2005 and expects to operate the
remainder by the end of the summer of 2005.
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Years Ended December 31, 2004 and 2003
($ millions)

2004

2003

Cash (Note 3)

$
124
________________

$
134
________________

Investments (Note 3)

1,495
________________

1,567
________________

Station maintenance, operation, and use assessments

94

91

State and regional mass transit taxes

46

51

Mortgage Recording Tax

51

43

Assets
Current Assets:

Receivables:

State and local operating assistance

8

9

Other Subsidies

29

88

Connecticut Department of Transportation

19

21

–

200

WTC insurance settlement (Note 11)
Due from New York City

27

66

Other

256

172

Less allowance for doubtful accounts

(34)

(33)

Total receivables – net

496

708

Materials and supplies

274

263

Prepaid expenses and other current assets (Notes 2 and 4)

157

202

2,546

2,874

Total current assets
Noncurrent Assets:
Capital assets–net (Note 5)

33,654

31,556

Restricted investments held for lease obligations (Notes 3 and 7)

2,479

2,555

Investments (Note 3)

1,797

1,405

Receivable from New York State

2,342

2,375

Other noncurrent assets

1,019

1,265

Total noncurrent assets

41,291

39,156

$43,837

$42,030

Total assets
See notes to consolidated financial statements.

26

M E T R O P O L I T A N

(Continued)

T R A N S P O R T A T I O N

A U T H O R I T Y

Consolidated Balance Sheets
Years Ended December 31, 2004 and 2003
($ millions)

2004

2003

Liabilities and Net Assets
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable

$

274

$

450

Accrued expenses:
Interest

197

204

Salaries, wages, and payroll taxes

155

138

Vacation and sick pay benefits

581

558

Current portion–retirement and death benefits

102

44

Current portion–estimated liability from injuries to persons (Note 8)

182

160

Other

379

300

1,596

1,404

312

214

Total accrued expenses
Current portion–long-term debt (Note 6)
Current portion–obligations under capital lease (Note 7)
Deferred revenue
Total current liabilities

7

7

298

309

2,487

2,384

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Retirement and death benefits (Note 4)

59

59

945

889

19,609

17,713

2,634

2,724

Contract retainage payable

206

193

Other long-term liabilities

301

555

Total noncurrent liabilities

23,754

22,133

Total liabilities

26,241

24,517

13,678

13,671

828

2,130

3,090

1,712

17,596

17,513

$43,837

$42,030

Estimated liability arising from injuries to persons (Note 8)
Long-term debt (Note 6)
Obligations under capital lease (Note 7)

Net Assets:
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt
Restricted for debt service
Unrestricted
Total net assets
Total liabilities and net assets
See notes to consolidated financial statements.

(Concluded)
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Consolidated Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended December 31, 2004 and 2003
($ millions)

2004

2003

$ 3,424

$ 3,206

1,097

1,022

316

316

4,837

4,544

Salaries and wages

3,645

3,548

Retirement and other employee benefits

1,403

1,185

203

185

Fuel for buses and trains

95

73

Insurance

66

56

Operating Revenues
Fare revenue
Vehicle toll revenue
Rents, freight and other revenue
Total operating revenues

Operating Expenses

Traction and propulsion power

Claims

133

187

Paratransit service contracts

135

124

Maintenance and other operating contracts

408

387

Professional service contracts

180

202

Materials and supplies
Depreciation
Other
Total operating expenses
Operating Loss
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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390

1,344

1,235

31

10

8,013

7,582

(3,176)

(3,038)
(Continued)
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Consolidated Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended December 31, 2004 and 2003
($ millions)

2004

2003

$ 1,442

$ 1,357

1,011

619

Operating subsidies–NYS

206

211

Operating subsidies–NYC and local

188

207

2,847

2,394

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Grants, appropriations and taxes:
Tax supported subsidies–NYS
Tax supported subsidies–NYC and local

Total grants, appropriations, and taxes
Operating subsidies recoverable from Connecticut Department of Transportation
related to New Haven Line
Subsidies paid to Dutchess, Orange, and Rockland counties
Suburban Highway Transportation Fund subsidy
Interest on long-term debt
Station maintenance, operation, and use assessments
Loss on disposal of subway cars
Revenue from WTC insurance settlement
Unrealized gain/(loss) on investment
Other nonoperating revenue
Net nonoperating revenues and expense

Loss before appropriations
Appropriations, grants, and other receipts externally restricted for capital projects
Change in net assets
Net assets, beginning of year
Net assets, end of year
See notes to consolidated financial statements.

52

56

(22)

(20)

(20)

(19)

(819)

(780)

129

125

(1)

(31)

–

398

15

(18)

317

162

2,498

2,267

(678)

(771)

761

1,422

83

651

17,513

16,862

$17,596

$17,513
(Concluded)
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2004 and 2003
($ millions)

2004

2003

$ 4,663

$ 4,378

Cash Flows Provided by/(Used in) Operating Activities
Passenger receipts/tolls
Rents and other receipts

208

217

Payroll and related fringe benefits

(4,902)

(4,758)

Other operating expenses

(1,569)

(1,585)

(1,600)

(1,748)

2,773

2,341

54

56

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash Flows Provided By/(Used in) Noncapital Financing Activities
Grants, appropriations, and taxes
Operating subsidies from CDOT
Suburban transportation fund subsidy

(39)

Subsidies paid to Dutchess, Orange, and Rockland counties

(20)

WTC insurance claims

200

–

2,968

2,383

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities

–
(14)

Cash Flows Provided by/(Used in) Capital and Related Financing Activities
MTA bond proceeds

2,045

MTA bonds refunded

(345)

MTA anticipation notes proceeds

300

MTA anticipation note repayments

–

TBTA bond proceeds
Proceeds from capital lease transactions
Capital lease payments

420
(750)
761

–

157

1,409

CDOT capital contributions

–

250

(53)

Grants and appropriations

1,277

4

(8)
1,461
2

Capital expenditures

(3,470)

(3,835)

Debt service payments

(1,318)

(928)

(1,178)

(1,443)

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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($ millions)

2004

2003

Cash Flows Provided by/(Used in) Investing Activities
Purchase of securities–long-term
Sales of maturities of securities–long-term
Purchase/(sales) of short-term securities
Earnings on investments
Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities

$ (2,254)
2,640
(647)

$ (3,766)
3,440
1,118

61

47

(200)

839

Net (decrease)/increase in cash

(10)

31

Cash, beginning of year

134

103

$124

$134

Cash, end of period

Reconciliation of Operating Deficit from
Operations to Net Cash Used in Operating Activities
Operating loss

$(3,176)

$(3,038)

1,344

1,235

Adjustments to reconcile to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Net decrease in payables, accrued expenses
and other liabilities

(41)

(105)

Net decrease in receivables

239

208

34

(48)

Net decrease/(increase) in materials and supplies and prepaid expenses
Net cash used in operating activities
See notes to consolidated financial statements.

$(1,600)

$(1,748)
(Concluded)
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1—Basis of Presentation
The Metropolitan Transportation Authority (“MTA”) was established in 1965, under Section 1263 of the New
York State Public Authorities Law, and is a public benefit corporation and a component unit of the State of
New York (“NYS”) whose mission is to continue, develop, and improve public transportation and to develop
and implement a unified public transportation policy in the New York metropolitan area.
These consolidated financial statements are of the Metropolitan Transportation Authority, including its subsidiary units (collectively, the “Authority”) as follows:
Metropolitan Transportation Authority and Related Groups
• Metropolitan Transportation Authority Headquarters (“MTAHQ”) provides support in budget, cash
management, finance, legal, real estate, treasury, risk and insurance management, and other services
to the subsidiary and related groups listed below.
• The Long Island Rail Road Company (“LIRR”) provides passenger transportation between New York City
(“NYC”) and Long Island.
• Metro-North Commuter Railroad Company (“MNCR”), doing business as MNR, provides passenger
transportation between NYC and the suburban communities in Westchester, Dutchess, Putnam, Orange,
and Rockland counties in NYS and New Haven and Fairfield counties in Connecticut.
• Staten Island Rapid Transit Operating Authority (“SIRTOA”), doing business as SIR, provides passenger
transportation on Staten Island.
• Metropolitan Suburban Bus Authority (“MSBA”), doing business as LI Bus, provides public bus service in
NYC and Nassau County.
• First Mutual Transportation Assurance Company (“FMTAC”) provides primary insurance coverage for
property losses, which are reinsured, and assumes reinsurance coverage for station liability and force
account liability.
• MTA Excess Loss Trust Fund (“ELF”) provides coverage against losses from catastrophic events and provides budget stability in the event annual aggregate losses impact negatively upon the operating budgets of its participants. ELF was terminated effective October 31, 2003, when its assets were transferred to
FMTAC, and FMTAC assumed responsibility for ELF’s past liabilities and issued a new policy covering
similar claims.
• MTA Capital Construction Company (“MTA Capital Construction”), doing business as Capital
Construction, provides oversight for the planning, design and construction of current and future major
MTA system-wide expansion projects.
• MTA Bus Company (“MTA Bus”) – operates certain bus routes in areas previously served by private bus
operators pursuant to franchises granted by the City.
• MTAHQ, LIRR, MNCR, SIRTOA, MSBA, ELF, FMTAC and MTA Capital Construction collectively are
referred to herein as MTA. LIRR and MNCR are referred to collectively as the Commuter Railroads.
• New York City Transit Authority (“NYCTA”), doing business as NYCT, and Manhattan and Bronx
Surface Transit Operating Authority (“MaBSTOA”) provide subway and public bus service within the
five boroughs of New York City.
• Triborough Bridge and Tunnel Authority (“TBTA”), doing business as Bridges and Tunnels, operates
seven toll bridges, two tunnels and the Battery Parking Garage, all within the five boroughs of New
York City.
The NYCTA and TBTA are operationally and legally independent of the Authority. These related groups enjoy
certain rights typically associated with separate legal status including, in some cases, the ability to issue debt.
However, they are included in the Authority’s financial statements because of the Authority’s financial
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accountability for these entities and they are under the direction of the MTA Board. Under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”), the Authority is required to include these
related groups in its financial statements. While certain units are separate legal entities they do have legal
capital requirements and the revenues of all components of the Authority are used to support the organization as a whole. The components do not constitute a separate accounting entity (fund) since there is no legal
requirement to account for the activities of the components as discrete accounting entities. Therefore, the MTA
financial statements are presented on a consolidated basis with segment disclosure for each distinct operating
activity.
Capital Program
The Authority has ongoing capital programs, which except for TBTA are subject to the approval of the NYS
Metropolitan Transportation Authority Capital Program Review Board (“CPRB”), and which are designed to
improve public transportation in the New York Metropolitan area.
1995-1999 Capital Program
In November 1995, the Authority’s Board approved a proposed 1995-1999 Capital Program exclusive of TBTA
totaling $11,929, which was increased in July 1997 to $12,169, when it was first approved by the CPRB. In
September 1996, the Governor signed legislation to increase the current bonding authority for capital projects
and approved additional changes to the provisions governing capital programs. In February 1999, the
Authority’s Board approved certain changes to the 1995-1999 Capital Program, raising the amount to
$12,553. The March 1999 amendments have been approved by the CPRB. Since March 1999, the 1995-1999
program is tracked along with the 1992-1994 program and is updated whenever there is an amendment to
the current program. The approved 1992-1999 Capital Program, including TBTA, equals $18,104.
In November 1995, the Authority’s Board approved a proposed 1995-1999 Capital Program for TBTA totaling $665, which was increased in December 1997 to $669. In February 1999, this amount was increased to
$670. The plan does not require the approval of the CPRB. The 1992-1999 MTA Board approved program for
TBTA totals $1,147.
At December 31, 2004, $17,951 had been committed and $17,502 has been expended for the 1992-1999
Capital Program for the Authority, including TBTA.
2000-2004 Capital Program
The 2000-2004 Capital Program, exclusive of TBTA, initially totaling $16,462, was approved by the
Authority’s Board in September 1999. This plan was submitted to the CPRB for approval in October 1999 but
was returned for revision in December 1999. In April 2000, the Authority’s Board approved subsequent revisions to the proposed 2000-2004 Capital Program, with total capital expenditures of $17,062. In May 2000,
CPRB approved the $17,062 Capital Program. In February 2002 the CPRB approved the bonding resolution
for restructuring debt that funds the 2000-2004 Capital Program. In February 2002, the Authority’s Board
increased the 2000-2004 Capital Program to $17,224. The CPRB approved the increase in April 2002. In May
2002, the MTA Board increased the 2000-2004 Capital Program to $17,301. In December 2002, the Authority’s
Board approved changes within and an increase to the Transit, Commuter Railroads and TBTA 2000-2004
programs totaling $591.2 for infrastructure and facilities security program. In February 2003, the MTA Board
approved an amended 2000-2004 Capital Program of $17,901, exclusive of TBTA. In May 2003 the $17,901
amended Capital Program was submitted to the CPRB and subsequently returned due to security funding concerns. The plan was resubmitted to the CPRB in June 2003 and approved on July 5, 2003. In December 2003
the MTA Board approved an amended 2000-2004 program of $19,104. This increase included $1,325 for new
Capital Company projects mostly funded by the federal government. In January 2004 the MTA Board
approved another $231 for the accelerated purchase of M-7 cars for Metro-North. This amended program was
approved by the CPRB in April 2004. In December 2004, the MTA Board approved an additional $255 to the
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program and incorporated the capital budget for the MTA Bus Company. The current MTA Board approved
2000-2004 Capital Program through December 31, 2004 equals $20,364. This amended program was
approved by the CPRB in March 2005.
In September 1999, the MTA Board approved a proposed 2000-2004 Capital Program for the TBTA that provides for approximately $1,000 in capital expenditures. This plan does not require approval of the CPRB. In
March 2000, the MTA Board increased the 2000-2004 Capital Program for TBTA to $1,025. In May 2002 the
MTA Board increased the TBTA program again to $1,029. In December 2004, the MTA Board amended the
TBTA Capital Program to $1,031.
At December 31, 2004, $15,794 had been committed and $9,753 had been expended for the 2000-2004
Capital Program for the Authority, including TBTA.
The federal government has a contingent equity interest in assets acquired by the Authority with federal
funds, and upon disposal of such assets, the federal government may have a right to its share of the proceeds
from the sale.

2—Significant Accounting Policies
In accordance with GASB Statement No. 20, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary Fund Accounting,
the Authority applies all applicable GASB pronouncements as well as Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) Statements and Interpretations issued on or before November 30, 1989 that do not conflict with
GASB pronouncements. The Authority has elected not to apply FASB Standards issued after November 30,
1989.
Financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP require the use of estimates made by management
for certain account balances and transactions. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements consist of MTAHQ, LIRR, MNCR, SIRTOA, MSBA, FMTAC, ELF, MTA
Capital Construction, NYCTA, and TBTA. All significant related group transactions have been eliminated for
consolidation purposes.
Basis of Accounting
The Authority follows enterprise fund and accrual basis of accounting, which is similar in presentation to private business enterprises.
Reclassification
Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year’s financial statements to conform to the current
year presentation.
Investments
The Authority’s investment policies comply with the New York State Comptroller’s guidelines for such policies.
Those policies permit investments in, among others, obligations of the U.S. Treasury, its agencies and instrumentalities, and repurchase agreements secured by such obligations.
Investments maturing and expected to be utilized within a year of December 31 have been classified as current assets in the financial statements.
All investments are recorded on the balance sheets at fair value and all investment income, including
changes in the fair value of investments, is reported as revenue on the statement of revenues, expenses and
changes in net assets. Fair values have been determined using quoted market values at December 31, 2004
and December 31, 2003.
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Materials and Supplies
Materials and supplies are valued principally at the lower of average cost or market value, net of obsolescence reserve.
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets reflect advance payment of insurance premiums as well as farecard
media related with ticket machines, WebTickets, and AirTrain tickets.
Capital Assets
Properties and equipment are carried at cost and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over estimated useful
lives. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred.
Self-Insurance and Risk Retention
On October 31, 2003, FMTAC, an insurance captive subsidiary of MTA, in return for the transfer of the existing assets, assumed an existing program that insured certain claims in excess of the self-insured retention
limits of the agencies (“ELF”) on both a retrospective and prospective basis. The self-insured retention limits
are: $7 for NYCTA, MaBSTOA, MTA Bus, SIRTOA, LIRR and MNCR; $2 for MSBA; and $1.4 for MTAHQ and
TBTA. The maximum amount of claims arising out of any one occurrence is the total assets of the program
available for claims, but in no event greater than $50. The retrospective portion contains the same insurance
agreements, participant retentions, and limits as existed under the ELF program for occurrences happening
on or before October 30, 2003. On a prospective basis, FMTAC will issue insurance policies indemnifying the
MTA, its subsidiaries, and affiliates above their specifically assigned self-insured retention with a limit of $50
per occurrence with $50 annual aggregate. FMTAC will charge appropriate annual premiums based on loss
experience and exposure analysis to maintain the fiscal viability of the program. On December 31, 2004, the
balance of the assets in this program was $82.7. The operations of ELF for the period ended December 12,
2003 are consolidated in the Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Assets.
Effective October 31, 2004, an All-Agency Excess Liability Insurance Policy was renewed. This coverage
affords the MTA and its subsidiaries and affiliates an additional limit of $250, for a total limit of $300 ($250
excess of $50). In certain circumstances, when the assets in the program described in the preceding paragraph
are exhausted due to payment of claims, the All-Agency Excess Liability Insurance will assume the coverage
position of $50.
Property and Casualty Insurance
Effective October 31, 2004, FMTAC insures property damages or loss exposures in excess of $25 per occurrence, $75 annual aggregate, up to a limit of $1.25 billion (up from $1 billion effective October 31, 2003) for
claims brought by the Authority and its subsidiaries and affiliates. With the exception of acts of terrorism
(both domestic and foreign), FMTAC is reinsured in the domestic, London, and European marketplace for this
coverage. With respect to acts of international terrorism covered by the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002
(“TRIA”), FMTAC is reinsured by the United States for 90 percent of losses, subject to an annual cap on all
losses payable under TRIA of $100 billion. With respect to acts of terrorism not covered by TRIA, the Authority
obtained an additional commercial reinsurance policy that provides coverage against all acts of terrorism in
an amount of up to $125 (up from $100 effective October 31, 2003) per occurrence (subject to the $25 per
occurrence self-insurance retention). In the event the occurrence is covered by TRIA, the coverage afforded by
the additional policy provides for the payment of FMTAC’s 10 percent retention not covered by TRIA, subject
to a maximum recovery of $97.5.
FMTAC directly insures the primary $7 in losses for Station Liability and Force Account Liability for MNCR
and LIRR.
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Operating Revenues
Passenger Revenue and Tolls
Revenues from the sale of tickets, tokens, electronic toll collection system, and farecards are recognized as
income as they are used. Deferred revenue is recorded for the estimated amount of unused tickets, tokens, and
farecards.
Nonoperating Revenues
Operating Assistance
The Authority receives, subject to annual appropriation, NYS operating assistance funds that are generally
recognized as revenue when all applicable eligibility requirements are met. Generally, funds received under
the NYS operating assistance program are fully matched by contributions from NYC and the seven other
counties within the Authority’s service area.
Mortgage Recording Taxes (“MRT”)
Under NYS law, the Authority receives capital and operating assistance through a Mortgage Recording Tax
(MRT-1), which is collected by NYC and the seven other counties within the Authority’s service area, at the
rate of one-quarter of one percent of the debt secured by certain real estate mortgages. The Authority also
receives an additional Mortgage Recording Tax (MRT-2) of one-quarter of one percent of certain mortgages
secured by real estate improved or to be improved by structures containing one to six dwelling units in the
Authority’s service area. MRT-1 and MRT-2 taxes are recognized as revenue based upon reported amounts of
taxes collected.
MRT-1 proceeds are initially used to pay MTAHQ’s operating expenses. Remaining funds, if any, are allocated 55 percent to certain Transit Operations and 45 percent to the Commuter Railroads. The Commuter
Railroad portion is first used to fund the NYS Suburban Highway Transportation Fund in an amount not to
exceed $20 annually. As of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003 the amount allocated to the NYS
Suburban Highway Transportation Fund was $20.0 and $18.9, respectively. Of the NYCTA portion, the
Authority distributed $52.9 and $17.8 as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003 respectively.
The first $5 of the MRT-2 proceeds is transferred to the MTA Dutchess, Orange, and Rockland Fund ($1.5
each for Dutchess and Orange counties and $2 for Rockland County). Additionally, the Authority must transfer to each County’s fund an amount equal to the product of (i) the percentage by which each respective
County’s mortgage recording tax payments to the Authority increased over such payments in 1989 and (ii)
the base amount received by each county as described above. Excess amounts transferable to the counties as
of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, were $17.3 and $15.2, respectively. Through December 31,
2004 the Authority has distributed $0 from the MRT-2 funds to the Commuter Railroads and $90.4 to NYCTA
for their current operations. In 2003 the Authority distributed from the MRT-2 funds $31.5 to the Commuter
Railroads and $178.6 to NYCTA for their current operations.
In addition, NYCTA receives operating assistance directly from NYC through a mortgage recording tax at
the rate of five-eighths of one percent of the debt secured by certain real estate mortgages and through a
property transfer tax at the rate of one percent of the assessed value (collectively referred to as “Urban Tax
Subsidies”) of certain properties.
Dedicated Taxes
Under NYS law, subject to annual appropriation, the Authority receives operating assistance through a portion of the Dedicated Mass Transportation Trust Fund (“MTTF”) and Metropolitan Mass Transportation
Operating Assistance Fund (“MMTOA”). The MTTF receipts consist of a portion of the revenues derived from
certain business privilege taxes imposed by the State on petroleum businesses, a portion of the motor fuel tax
on gasoline and diesel fuel, and a portion of certain motor vehicle fees, including registration and non-registration fees. MTTF receipts are applied first to meet certain debt service requirements or obligations and in the
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second instance are used to pay operating and capital costs. The MMTOA receipts comprise a quarter of one
percent regional sales tax, a temporary regional franchise tax surcharge, a portion of taxes on certain transportation and transmission companies, and an additional portion of the business privilege tax imposed on
petroleum businesses. MMTOA receipts, to the extent that MTTF receipts are not sufficient to meet debt service
requirements, will also be applied to certain debt service obligations, and secondly to operating and capital
costs of the Transit System, and the Commuter Railroads.
The State Legislature enacts in an annual budget bill for each state fiscal year an appropriation to the MTA
Dedicated Tax Fund for the then current state fiscal year and an appropriation of the amounts projected by
the Director of the Budget of the State to be deposited in the MTA Dedicated Tax Fund for the next succeeding
state fiscal year. The assistance deposited into the MTTF is required by law to be allocated, after provision for
debt service on Dedicated Tax Fund Bonds (see Note 6), 85 percent to certain Transit Operations and 15 percent to the Commuter Railroads. Revenues from this funding source are recognized based upon amounts of
tax reported collected by NYS, to the extent of the appropriation.
Operating Subsidies Recoverable from Connecticut Department of Transportation (“CDOT”)
The portion of the deficit from operations relating to MNCR’s New Haven line is recoverable from CDOT.
Under the terms of a renewed Service Agreement, which began on January 1, 2000, and the 1998 resolution
of an arbitration proceeding initiated by the State of Connecticut, CDOT pays 100 percent of the net operating deficit of MNCR’s branch lines in Connecticut (New Canaan, Danbury, and Waterbury), 65 percent of the
New Haven mainline operating deficit, and a fixed fee for the New Haven line’s share of the net operating
deficit of Grand Central Terminal (“GCT”) calculated using several years as a base, with annual increases for
inflation and a one-time increase for the cost of operating GCT’s North End Access beginning in 1999. The
Service Agreement also provides that CDOT pay 100 percent of the cost of nonmovable capital assets located
in Connecticut, 100 percent of movable capital assets to be used primarily on the branch lines and 65 percent
of the cost of other movable capital assets allocated to the New Haven line. Remaining funding for New
Haven line capital assets is provided by the Authority. The Service Agreement provides for automatic five-year
renewals. For a third consecutive time, the Service Agreement has been renewed for an additional five years
beginning January 1, 2000. Capital assets completely funded by CDOT are not reflected in these financial
statements, as ownership is retained by CDOT. The Service Agreement provides that final billings for each
year are subject to audit by CDOT. Years subsequent to 2000 remain subject to final audit.
Reimbursement of Expenses
The cost of operating and maintaining the passenger stations of the Commuter Railroads in NYS is assessable
by the Authority to NYC and the other counties in which such stations are located for each NYS fiscal year
ending March 31, under provisions of the NYS Public Authorities Law. This funding is recognized as revenue
based upon an amount, fixed by statute, for the costs to operate and maintain passenger stations and is
revised annually by the increase or decrease of the regional Consumer Price Index.
NYC no longer fully reimburses the Authority for costs of the free fare program for students. However, pursuant to an agreement with NYS and NYC, the Authority continued the student program beginning with the
1995-1996 school year with NYS and NYC each agreeing to pay $45. The estimated cost of this program is
approximately $151 for the 2004-2005 school year. NYC continued to provide for the City’s $45 contribution
for the 2003-2004 school year, of which $15 was received in December 2003. The remaining $30 from NYC
was received in June 2004. The State’s full $45 for the 2003-2004 school year was received from the NYS in
June 2004. For the 2004-2005 school year, $15 was received from NYC in December 2004. The remaining $30
from NYC will be received in 2005. The State’s full $45 for the 2005-2006 school year will be received from
NYS in June 2005. The Transit Operation’s 2005-2008 financial Plan assumes the continuation of the joint
funding of the free fare program for students.
Prior to April 1995, NYC was obligated to reimburse the Authority for the transit police force. As a result of
the April 1995 merger of the transit police force into the NYC Police Department, NYC no longer reimburses
the Authority for the costs of policing the transit system on an ongoing basis since policing of the transit sys37
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tem is being carried out by the NYC Police Department at NYC’s expense. The Authority, however, continues
to be responsible for certain capital costs and support services related to such police activities, a portion of
which is reimbursed by NYC. The Authority received approximately $3.2 in the twelve months ended
December 31, 2004, and $4.2 in the twelve months ended December 31, 2003 from NYC for the reimbursement of transit police costs.
Federal law and regulations require a paratransit system for passengers who are not able to ride the buses
and trains because of their disabilities. Pursuant to an agreement between NYC and the Authority, effective
July 1, 1993, the Authority assumed operating responsibility for all paratransit service required in NYC by the
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. NYC reimburses the Authority for the lesser of 33 percent of net paratransit operating expenses defined as labor, transportation, and administrative costs less fare revenues and
6.0 percent of gross Urban Tax Subsidies, or an amount that is 20 percent greater than the amount paid by
the City for the preceding calendar year. Fare revenue and reimbursements aggregated approximately $53.2
in the twelve months ended December 31, 2004, and $36.5 in the twelve months ended December 31, 2003.
Grants and Appropriations
Grants and appropriations for capital projects are recorded when requests are submitted to the funding agencies for reimbursement of capital expenditures and beginning in 2001 were recorded as nonoperating revenues in accordance with GASB Statement No. 33, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange
Transactions.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
The Authority implemented GASB Statement No. 40, Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosure during the year
ended December 31, 2003. The implementation of the standard resulted in new disclosure related to investment and credit risk.
The Authority has implemented GASB Statement No. 42, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Impairment of
Capital Assets and for Insurance Recoveries. There was no impact on the Authority’s financial position and
results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003. The statement was effective for financial statements for periods beginning after June 15, 2004 and December 15, 2004, respectively.
The Authority has not completed the process of implementing GASB Statement No. 43, Financial Reporting
for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plans. The Authority is therefore unable to prepare the
statement of plan net assets, the statement of changes in net assets, notes to the financial statements, and the
required supplementary information as prescribed by GASB Statement No. 43. The statement is effective in
three phases based on total annual revenues. The first phase ($100 million or more of annual revenues) is
effective for financial statement periods beginning after December 15, 2005, the second phase (total annual
revenues of $10 million or more but less the $100 million) is effective for periods beginning after December
15, 2006, and the third phase (annual revenues of less than $10 million) is effective for periods beginning
after December 15, 2007.
The Authority has not completed the process of evaluating the impact that will result from adopting GASB
Statement No. 44, Economic Condition Reporting: The Statistical Section. The Authority is therefore unable to disclose the impact that adopting this statement will have on its statistical section when such statement is adopted. GASB Statement No. 44 is effective for statistical sections prepared for periods beginning after June 15,
2005.
The Authority has not completed the process of evaluating the impact that will result from adopting GASB
Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than
Pensions. The Authority is therefore unable to disclose the impact that adopting this statement will have on its
financial position and results of operations when such statement is adopted. GASB Statement No. 45 is effective in three phases based on total annual revenues. The first phase ($100 million or more of annual revenues) is effective for financial statement periods beginning after December 15, 2006, the second phase (total
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annual revenues of $10 million or more but less the $100 million) is effective for periods beginning after
December 15, 2007, and the third phase (annual revenues of less than $10 million) is effective for periods
beginning after December 15, 2008.
The Authority has not completed the process of implementing GASB Statement No. 46, Net Assets Restricted
by Enabling Legislation, an amendment of GASB Statement No. 34. The Authority is therefore unable to disclose the impact that adopting this statement will have on its financial position and results of operations
when such statement is adopted. The statement is effective for fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2005.

3—Cash and Investments
Cash, including deposits in transit, consists of the following at December 31, 2004 and 2003:
2004
_________________________________________________

2003
________________________________________________

Carrying
Amount

Bank
Balance

Carrying
Amount

Bank
Balance

FDIC insured or collateralized deposits
Uninsured and not collateralized

$ 53
71
__________

$45
30
________

$ 67
67
__________

$63
22
________

Total

$124

$75

$134

$85

All collateralized deposits are held by the Authority or its agent in the Authority’s name.
The Authority, on behalf of the Transit Operations, Bridge and Tunnel Operations and Long Island Bus
Operations, invests funds which are not immediately required for the Authority’s operations in securities permitted by the State Public Authorities Law, including repurchase agreements collateralized by U.S. Treasury
securities, U.S. Treasury notes, and U.S. Treasury zero coupon bonds.
The Authority’s uninsured and uncollateralized deposits are primarily held by commercial banks in the
metropolitan New York area and are subject to the credit risks of those institutions.
Investments, at fair value, consist of the following at December 31, 2004 and 2003:
2004

2003

Repurchase agreements
U.S. Treasuries due 2003-2020
Investments restricted for capital lease obligations
Other Agencies due 2005-2011

$

583
899
2,479
1,810
______________

$

983
1,040
2,555
995
______________

Total

$5,771

$5,573

Fair values include accrued interest to the extent that it is included in the carrying amounts. Accrued interest
on investments other than Treasury bills and coupons is included in other receivables on the balance sheet.
The Authority’s investment policy states that securities underlying repurchase agreements must have a market value at least equal to the cost of the investment. The Authority’s investment policy restricts the
Authority’s investments to federal government and agency securities.
In connection with certain lease transactions described in Note 7, the Authority has purchased securities or
entered into payment undertaking, letter of credit, or similar type agreements or instruments (guaranteed
investment contracts) with financial institutions that have a credit rating of AAA by Standard and Poors,
which generate sufficient proceeds to make payments under the terms of the leases. If the obligors do not perform, the Authority may have an obligation to make the related rent payments.
All investments are either insured or registered and held by the Authority or its agent in the Authority’s
name. Investments had weighted average yields of 2.5 percent and 1.5 percent for the years ended December
31, 2004 and 2003 respectively.
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Of the above cash and investments, amounts held for restricted purposes were as follows at December 31,
2004 and 2003:
2004

2003

Construction or acquisition of capital assets
Funds received from affiliated agencies for investment
Debt service
Payment of claims
Restricted for capital leases
Other

$ 1,534
601
463
280
2,479
295
______________

$ 1,667
317
444
290
2,555
130
______________

Total

$5,652

$5,403

4—Employee Benefits
Substantially all of the Authority’s related groups and pension plans have separately issued financial statements that are publicly available and contain descriptions and supplemental information regarding employee benefit plans. These statements may be obtained by calling the administrative office of the respective related group.
Pension Plans
The Authority sponsors and participates in a number of pension plans for its employees. These plans are not
component units of the Authority and are not included in the combined financial statements.
Defined Benefit Pension Plans
Single-Employer Pension Plans
The Long Island Rail Road Company Pension Plan and the Long Island Rail Road Company Plan for
Additional Pensions (“Additional Plan”) are contributory, defined-benefit pension plans that cover employees
who began service with LIRR prior to January 1, 1988. Benefit provisions are established by LIRR and are
based on length of qualifying service and final average compensation.
The TWU-MSBA Employees’ Pension Plan (“MSBA Plan”) is a contributory, defined-benefit plan covering
substantially all its employees who began service prior to January 23, 1983. Persons employed after that date
are covered by NYS Employees’ Retirement System (“NYSERS”). In 1999, the “MSBA Plan,” which was administered under terms of the TWU-MSBA Employees’ Pension Trust, was merged with the MTA Defined-Benefit
Plan and administered by the MTA.
The MaBSTOA Pension Plan is a defined-benefit plan covering substantially all of its employees. This plan
assigns authority to amend the plan and determine contributions to the MaBSTOA Board.
During 2004 and 2003, NYCTA made additional contributions to the MaBSTOA Plan of $70.0 and $114.4,
respectively, resulting in the recognition of a pension asset in the combined balance sheets.
SIRTOA has a contributory defined benefit plan that is a single-employer public employee retirement system covering certain employees. Authority to amend the plan and to determine contributions rests with the
MTA Board.
Multi-Employer Pension Plan
The MTA Defined-Benefit Pension Plan (“MTA Plan”), a defined benefit pension plan for certain LIRR non-represented and MNCR non-represented employees hired after December 31, 1987, certain MSBA employees
hired prior to January 23, 1983, MTA Police, and certain LIRR represented employees hired after December 31,
1997 and certain MNCR represented employees, is a cost-sharing multiple-employer retirement plan. LIRR,
MNCR and MTA contribute to the MTA Plan, which offers distinct retirement, disability, and death benefits for
covered MNCR and LIRR employees, MTA 20-year Police Retirement Plan and MSBA Employees’ Pension Plan.
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MTA Police contribute to the MTA Plan at various rates. Annual pension costs and related information about
this plan are presented in the following table for all years presented as if the plan was a single-employer plan
at the MTA level. A stand-alone financial report may be obtained by writing to the MTA Comptroller, 347
Madison Avenue, New York, New York, 10017.
LIRR, MNCR, MTA, and MSBA recognized 2004 and 2003 pension expense based upon an assessment,
which on average was 12.13 percent and 18.27 percent respectively, of annual compensation. The MTA Plan
may be amended by action of the MTA Board.
Annual pension costs and related information about each plan follows:
Single-Employer Plans

Date of valuation
Required contribution rates:
Plan members
Employer:
Employer contributions made in 2004

LIRR

SIRTOA

MaBSTOA

MTA Plan

1/1/2004

1/1/2004

1/1/2004

1/1/2004

variable

3.00%
(1st 10 yrs.)

variable

variable

actuarially
determined

actuarially
determined

actuarially
determined

actuarially
determined

$102.8

$1.5

$142.0

$54.7

$102.9
63.8
41.6

$1.5
1.6
1.4

$140.1
135.2
121.7

$54.7
28.2
21.3

None
None
None

57.0
58.9
60.8

–
–
(3.1)

101%
101%
102%

100%
89%
112%

Three-year trend information:
Annual Pension Cost (APC):
2004
2003
2002
Net Pension Obligation
(NPO) (assets) at end of year:
2004
2003
2002

(4.7)
(4.8)
(4.7)

Percentage of APC contributed:
2004
2003
2002

100%
100%
106%

Components of APC
Annual required contribution (ARC)
Interest on NPO
Adjustment of ARC
APC
Contributions made (Projected)
Change in NPO (assets)
NPO (assets) beginning of year
NPO (assets) end of year
Actuarial cost method

Method to determine actuarial
value of plan assets
Investment return
Projected salary increases
Consumer price inflation
Amortization method and period
Period closed or open

100%
100%
100%

$102.8
(0.3)
(0.4)

$1.5
–
–

$142.0
4.7
6.6

$54.7
–
–

102.9
102.8

1.5
1.5

140.1
142.0

54.7
54.7

–
–

(1.9)
58.9

–
–

0.1
(4.8)
$(4.7)
Entry age
normal

5-year
smoothing
8.00%
3.5%
2.50%
level dollar /
29 years
closed

$ –
Entry age
normal
frozen initial
liability
5-year
smoothing
8.00%
4.0% – 11.0%
2.50%
level dollar /
24 years
closed

$ 57.0
Entry age
normal
frozen initial
liability
5-year
smoothing
8.00%
3.5% – 18.0%
2.50%
level dollar /
16 years
closed

$

–

Entry age
normal
frozen initial
liability
5-year
smoothing
8.00%
3.5% – 36.2%
2.50%
level dollar /
29 years
closed
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Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer Plans
New York City Employees’ Retirement System (“NYCERS”)
Plan Description
NYCTA and TBTA contribute to the New York City Employees’ Retirement System (NYCERS), a cost-sharing
multiple-employer retirement system for employees of NYC and certain other governmental units. NYCERS
combines features of a defined-benefit pension plan with those of a defined-contribution pension plan. NYCERS provides pension benefits to retired employees based on salary and length of service. In addition, NYCERS
provides disability benefits, cost-of-living adjustments, and death benefits subject to satisfaction of certain
service requirements and other provisions. The NYCERS plan functions in accordance with existing NYS
statutes and NYC laws and may be amended by action of the State Legislature. NYCERS issues a publicly
available comprehensive annual financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information. That report may be obtained by writing to the New York City Employees’ Retirement
System, 335 Adams Street, Suite 2300, Brooklyn, New York 11201.
Funding Policy
NYCERS is a contributory plan, except for certain employees who entered prior to July 27, 1976 who make no
contribution and for employees who entered qualifying service after July 1976, who contribute 3 percent of
their salary. The State legislature passed legislation in 2000 that suspends the 3 percent contribution for
employees who have 10 years or more of credited service. The NYCTA and TBTA are required to contribute at
an actuarially determined rate. The contribution requirements of plan members and NYCTA and TBTA are
established and amended by law. NYCTA’s required contributions for NYCERS fiscal years ending June 30,
2005, 2004 and 2003 were $176.0, $68.8, and $24.4 respectively. TBTA’s contributions to NYCERS for the years
ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 were $5.0 and $1.0, respectively, which were equal to or in excess of the
actuary’s recommendation, plus interest.
New York State and Local Employees’ Retirement System (“NYSLERS”)
Plan Description and Funding Policy
MTAHQ and MSBA employees who were hired after January 23, 1983, are members of NYSLERS. NYSLERS is a
cost sharing multiple-employer plan and offers a broad spectrum of benefits including retirement and disability benefits. Generally, employees contribute 3 percent of salary. In 2000, the State legislature passed legislation that suspends the 3 percent contribution of members who have 10 or more years of credited service.
MTAHQ and MSBA recognize pension expense based upon annual assessments made by NYSLERS. NYSLERS
pension expense was approximately $11.2, $4.9 and $1.5, for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively, and was equal to the annual required contributions for each year. Further information
about the plan is more fully described in the publicly available statement of NYSLERS and may be obtained
by writing to New York State and Local Retirement System, Office of the State Comptroller, 110 State Street,
Albany, New York, 12244-0001.
Defined Contribution Plans
Single-Employer
The Long Island Rail Road Company Money Purchase Plan (“Money Purchase Plan”) is a defined contribution plan that covers certain represented employees who began service with LIRR after December 31, 1987.
Employees participating in the plan contribute 3 percent of their compensation and LIRR contributes 4 percent of their compensation. The Plan is administered by the LIRR Board of Managers of Pension. The MTA
Board is responsible for establishing or amending the Plan’s provisions and contribution requirements.
The Metro-North Commuter Railroad Company Defined Contribution Pension Plan for Agreement
Employees (“Agreement Plan”), established January 1, 1988, covers represented employees in accordance with
applicable collective bargaining agreements. Under this plan, MNCR will contribute an amount equal to 4
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percent of each eligible employee’s gross compensation to the plan on that employee’s behalf. For employees
who have 19 or more years of service MNCR contributes 7 percent. In addition, employees may voluntarily
match MNCR’s contribution to the plan, on an after-tax basis. The plan is administered by an employee of
Metro-North Commuter Railroad and the Metro-North Board of Managers of Pension. The MTA Board of
Directors is responsible for establishing or amending the Plan’s provisions and contribution requirements.

Employer contributions
Employee contributions

December 31,

December 31,

2004
_________________________________________________

2003
________________________________________________

LIRR
Money
Purchase
Plan

MNCR
Agreement
Plan

LIRR
Money
Purchase
Plan

MNCR
Agreement
Plan

–

$11.7

$10.9

$16.2

1.1

0.7

6.7

1.2

$

Deferred Compensation Plans
As permitted by Internal Revenue Code Section 457, the Authority has established a trust or custodial account
to hold plan assets for the exclusive use of the participants and their beneficiaries. Plan assets and liabilities
are not reflected on the Authority’s combined balance sheets.
Certain Authority employees are eligible to participate in a second deferred compensation plan established
in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 401(k). Participation in the plan is available to most represented and non-represented employees. All amounts of compensation deferred under the plan, and all
income attributable to such compensation, are in trust for the exclusive use of the participants and their beneficiaries. Accordingly, this plan is not reflected in the accompanying combined balance sheets.
LIRR previously reported the market value of assets in the Additional Pension Plan that are held in Grantor
Trust account with JP Morgan Chase & Company as an asset and corresponding liability since all rights of
the employee or beneficiary are unsecured contracted rights against the LIRR. In accordance with an amendment to the Additional Plan’s Trust Agreement, the assets of the trust are no longer subject to claims of general creditors and accordingly as of January 1, 2004, such assets and liabilities are no longer reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.
Other Post-Employment Benefits
In addition to providing pension benefits, the Authority provides healthcare, life insurance, and survivor benefits for certain retired employees and their families. These benefits are recorded on a pay-as-you-go basis.
The cost of the benefits is shared in varying proportions by the employer and employee. The number of
retirees and costs of providing the benefits by the Authority follows:
December 31,

Authority Total

December 31,

2004
_______________________________________________________

2003
______________________________________________________

Number of
Participants
(Actual)

Cost of
Benefits

Number of
Participants
(Actual)

Cost of
Benefits

38,658

$211.4

38,945

$202.6
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5—Capital Assets
Capital assets and improvements include all land, buildings, equipment, and infrastructure of the Authority
having a minimum useful life of two years, having a cost of more than $.025.
Capital assets are generally stated at historical cost, or at estimated historical cost based on appraisals, or
on other acceptable methods when historical cost is not available. Capital leases are classified as capital
assets in amounts equal to the lesser of the fair market value or the present value of net minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease.
Accumulated depreciation and amortization are reported as reductions of fixed assets. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method based upon estimated useful lives of 25 to 50 years for buildings, 2 to 40
years for equipment, and 25 to 100 years for infrastructure. Capital lease assets and leasehold improvements
are amortized over the term of the lease or the life of the asset, whichever is less.
Capital assets consist of the following at December 31, 2004, December 31, 2003 and 2002:
December 31,
2002

Capital assets, not being
depreciated
Land
Construction work-inprogress
Total capital assets, not
being depreciated
Capital assets, being
depreciated
Buildings and structures
Bridges and tunnels
Equipment
Passenger cars and
locomotives
Buses
Infrastructure
Other
Total capital assets, being
depreciated
Less accumulated
depreciation
Buildings and structures
Bridges and tunnels
Equipment
Passenger cars and
locomotives
Buses
Infrastructure
Other
Total accumulated
depreciation
Total capital assets, being
depreciated, net
Capital assets, net
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$

124

Additions

$

Deletions

–

$

December 31,
2003

–

$

124

Additions

$

1

Deletions

$

December 31,
2004

–

$

125

5,376

1,315

1,671

5,020

2,000

1,549

5,471

5,500

1,315

1,671

5,144

2,001

1,549

5,596

9,267
1,183

815
167

34
–

10,048
1,350

469
254

7
–

10,510
1,604

6,926
1,572
8,560
6,017

1,127
166
1,196
755

100
–
13
68

7,953
1,738
9,743
6,704

656
121
900
626

90
7
8
4

8,519
1,852
10,635
7,326

33,525

4,226

215

37,536

3,026

116

40,446

2,221
315

312
11

1
–

2,532
326

300
13

–
–

2,832
339

2,237
932
2,216
2,025

248
97
291
301

72
–
7
2

2,413
1,029
2,500
2,324

271
107
350
302

62
7
6
4

2,622
1,129
2,844
2,622

9,946

1,260

82

11,124

1,343

79

12,388

23,579

2,966

133

26,412

1,683

37

28,058

$29,079

$4,281

$1,804

$31,556

$3,684

$1,586

$33,654

T R A N S P O R T A T I O N

A U T H O R I T Y

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2004 and 2003
($ millions)

Interest capitalized in conjunction with the construction of capital assets at December 31, 2004 and 2003 is
$68 and $27, respectively.
Capital assets acquired prior to April 1982 for NYCTA were funded primarily by NYC with capital grants
made available to NYCTA. NYC has title to a substantial portion of such assets and, accordingly, these assets
are not recorded on the books of the Authority. Subsequent acquisitions, which are part of the MTA Capital
Program, are recorded at cost by NYCTA. In certain instances, title to TBTA’s real property may revert to NYC
in the event the Authority determines such property is unnecessary for its corporate purpose. The Authority
scrapped 40 buses during the year ended December 31, 2004 and 296 subway cars in the year ended
December 31, 2003. Loss on disposal of capital assets of $.8 and $30.7 were recorded for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively.
For certain construction projects, the Authority holds in a trust account marketable securities pledged by
third-party contractors in lieu of cash retainages. At December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003 these securities totaled $60.9 and $56.5, respectively, and had a market value of $60.7 and $58.8 respectively, and are
not included in these financial statements.

6—Long-Term Debt
December 31,
2003

Issued

Retired

$ 6,179

$ 500

$110

420

300

2,395
2,193

December 31,
Refunded
2004

MTA:
Transportation Revenue Bonds
2.25% – 5.752% due through 2035
Transportation Revenue Bond
Anticipation Notes
Commercial Paper
State Service Contract Bonds
3.00% – 5.50% due through 2031
Dedicated Tax Fund Bonds
3.00% – 6.25% due through 2031
Certificates of Participation
4.40% – 5.625% due through 2029
Less net unamortized bond discount
and premium

$

–

$ 6,569

–

–

720

–

21

–

2,374

1,150

38

–

3,305

422

357

9

317

453

11,609

2,307

178

317

13,421

(13)

27

(480)

37

(457)

$ 11,129

$2,344

$165

$344

$ 12,964

$ 4,470

$

–

$ 39

$

–

$ 4,431

2,187

250

33

–

2,404

6,657

250

72

–

6,835

141

–

19

–

122

TBTA:
General Revenue Bonds
4.00% – 5.77% due though 2033
Subordinate Revenue Bonds
4.00% – 5.77% due though 2032
Less net unamortized bond discount
and premium

$ 6,798

$ 250

$ 91

$

Combined total
Current portion

$ 17,927
(214)

$2,594

$256

$344

–

Long-term portion

$17,713

$ 6,957
$ 19,921
(312)
$19,609
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MTA Transportation Revenue Refunding Bonds
As part of the Authority debt restructuring, the Authority issued in May 2002 Transportation Revenue
Refunding Bonds, Series 2002A, 2002B, 2002C, and 2002D for a total amount of $3,724. In September 2002,
the Authority issued Transportation Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 2002E in the amount of $397. These
bonds were issued to refund Transit and Commuter Facilities Revenue Bonds as well as New York City Transit
Authority Revenue Bonds. In November 2002, the Authority issued Transportation Revenue Refunding Bonds,
Series 2002F and Series 2002G in the amount of $446 and $400, respectively. The purpose of these bonds was
to provide for the payment of a portion of certain TBTA bond anticipation notes that were issued to finance
transit and commuter projects. Transportation Revenue Refunding Bonds are MTA’s special obligations,
payable solely from certain transit and commuter systems revenues and certain state and local operating subsidies.
MTA Transportation Revenue Bonds
In June 2004 the Authority issued Transportation Revenue Bonds, Series 2004A, in the amount of $500. In
May 2003 the Authority issued Transportation Revenue Bonds, Series 2003A in the amount of $475. The purpose of these Series 2004A and Series 2003A bonds is to finance transit and commuter projects. In August
2003, MTA issued $752 Transportation Revenue Bonds Series 2003B as long-term financing for the outstanding commercial paper program. The Transportation Revenue Bonds are MTA’s special obligations, payable
solely from transit and commuter systems revenues and certain state and local operating subsidies.
MTA Bond Anticipation Notes
In 2002, MTA Transit and Commuter Facilities Special Obligation Bond Anticipation Notes were reissued
under the new MTA Transportation Bond Resolution. The interest rate payable on the notes depends on the
maturity and market conditions at the time of issuance. At December 31, 2002, the average rate on the outstanding notes was 1.3 percent. Payment of principal and interest on the notes were additionally secured by a
letter of credit issued by a bank. In August 2003, MTA issued $752 of Transportation Revenue Bonds, Series
2003B to pay at the respective maturity date all of MTA’s Bond Anticipation Notes. The MTA Act requires MTA
to periodically refund its commercial paper notes with bonds. As of December 31, 2003 the Bond Anticipation
Notes reissued in 2002 in the amount of $750 were all paid. In October 2003, MTA issued new Bond
Anticipation Notes in the amount of $420, in accordance with the terms and provisions of the General
Resolution authorizing Transportation Revenue Obligations adopted on March 26, 2002. Payment of principal and interest is also secured by an irrevocable Letter of Credit issued by ABN AMRO bank. As of August 26,
2004, the stated amount of the letter of credit was increased to $738, thereby authorizing an additional $300
of Notes to be issued for a total of $720 authorized.
MTA State Service Contract Bonds
In June 2002, the Authority issued State Service Contract Refunding Bonds, Series 2002A, in the amount of
$1,716 to refund outstanding service contract bonds issued by MTA. Also in June 2002, the Authority issued
State Service Contract Bonds, Series 2002B, in the amount of $679 to finance certain transit and commuter
projects. The Series 2002A and 2002B are MTA’s special obligations, payable solely from certain payments
from the State of New York under a service contract.
MTA Dedicated Tax Fund Bonds
These bonds are payable solely from and secured by monies held in the Pledged Amounts Account of the
MTA Dedicated Tax Fund. State law requires that a portion of the revenues derived from certain business privilege taxes imposed by the State on petroleum businesses, as well as certain special taxes, including a regional sales tax, a temporary regional franchise tax surcharge, a portion of a tax on certain companies, and a
portion of the business privilege tax imposed by the State on petroleum businesses, be deposited, subject to
appropriation by the State Legislature, into the MTA Dedicated Tax Fund.
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In 2002, the Authority as part of its debt restructuring defeased all series from 1996A to 2000A by issuing
Dedicated Tax Bond Series 2002A in the amount of $1,247 and Dedicated Tax Bond Series 2002B in the
amount of $440.
On March 10, 2004 the Authority issued Dedicated Tax Fund Bonds Series 2004A, in the amount of $250
and Series 2004B, in the amount of $500 to finance certain transit and commuter projects operated by MTA’s
affiliates and subsidiaries. The 2004B bonds are issued as auction rate securities.
In December 2004, the Authority issued Dedicated Tax Fund Bonds Series 2004C, in the amount of $120
and Series 2004D, (Subseries 2004D-1, $168 and Subseries 2004D-2, $112), in the amount of $280 to finance
certain transit and commuter projects operated by MTA’s affiliates and subsidiaries. Series 2004D Bonds are
Variable Rate Bonds.
MTA Certificates of Participation
In June 1999, the Authority issued fixed rate Serial and Term Certificates, Series 1999A, in the amount of
$328, which represent proportionate interests in the principal and interest components of Base Rent paid severally, but not jointly, in their respective proportionate shares by NYCTA, MTA, and TBTA, pursuant to a
Leasehold Improvement Sublease Agreement dated June 1, 1999. These certificates were issued to finance certain building and leasehold improvements to an office building at Two Broadway in Manhattan occupied by
NYCTA and TBTA.
In June 2000, additional Certificates of Participation, Series 2000A, in the amount of $121 were executed
and delivered to finance additional improvements at Two Broadway (See Note 7).
In September, 2004, the Authority executed and delivered Variable Rate Certificates of Participation, Series
2004A, (Subseries 2004A-1 through 2004-5), in the amount of $357. The Series 2004A Certificates were executed and delivered to refund certain outstanding certificates of participation.
TBTA General Revenue Bonds
In March 2002 TBTA issued General Purpose Revenue Bonds, Series 2002A, in the amount of $268. These
bonds were issued to finance certain improvements to bridges and tunnels. In October 2002, TBTA issued
General Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002B, in the amount of $2,157, and General Revenue Variable
Rate Refunding Bonds, Series 2002C, in the amount of $103. These bonds were issued to refund TBTA bonds
issued under the old resolutions. In October 2002 TBTA substituted the TBTA General Revenue Bond
Resolution (the Senior Resolution) for TBTA General Purpose Revenue Bond Resolution adopted in 1980 as the
resolution securing $24 General Purpose Revenue Bonds, Series EFC1996A; $1,126 General Purpose Revenue
Bonds, Series 2001A; $296 General Purpose Revenue Bonds, Series 2001B and 2001C; and $268 General
Purpose Revenue Bonds, Series 2002A. In November 2002, TBTA issued $246 General Revenue Refunding
Bonds, Series F. These bonds were issued to refund TBTA bonds issued under the old resolutions. These series
are general obligations of TBTA, payable generally from the net revenues collected on the bridges and tunnels
operated by TBTA. In 2003 TBTA issued $250 General Revenue Variable Rate Bonds, Series 2003B, to finance
certain improvements on bridges and tunnels.
TBTA Subordinate Revenue Bonds
In August 2004 TBTA issued $250 Subordinate Revenue Variable Rate Bonds, Series 2004A. These bonds were
issued to finance transit and commuter projects for the Authority, and are special obligations of TBTA,
payable from the net revenues collected on the bridges and tunnels operated by TBTA. In October 2002, TBTA
issued $262 Subordinate Revenue Variable Rate Refunding Bonds, Series 2002D. In November 2002 TBTA
issued $756 Subordinate Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002E, and $181 Subordinate Revenue Variable
Rate Refunding Bonds, Series 2002G. These bonds were issued to refund TBTA bonds issued under the old resolutions. In October 2002 TBTA substituted the Subordinate Revenue Resolution for the TBTA 1991 Special
Obligation Bond Resolution as the resolution securing $508 Special Obligation Variable Rate Refunding Bonds
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(1991 Resolution) Series 2002A-D. These series are special obligations of TBTA, payable generally from the net
revenues collected on the bridges and tunnels operated by TBTA after the payment of operating expenses and
debt services as required by TBTA’s Senior Resolution. In March 2003 TBTA issued $500 Subordinate Revenue
Bonds, Series 2003A, and in August 2004 TBTA issued $250 Subordinate Revenue Variable Rate Bonds, Series
2004A, (Subseries 2004A-1 through 2004A-3). These bonds were issued to finance transit and commuter projects and are special obligations of TBTA, payable generally from the net revenues collected on the bridges and
tunnels operated by TBTA after the payment of operating expenses and senior debt services as required by
TBTA’s Senior Resolution.
Debt Limitation
The NYS Legislature has imposed limitations on the aggregate amount of debt that the Authority and TBTA
can issue to fund the approved transit and commuter capital programs. For the 1992 through 2004 Capital
Programs, the imposed limitation, subject to certain exclusions, is $16,500 compared with issuances totaling
approximately $10,631 at December 31, 2004.
Bond Refundings
During 2002 and as part of the Debt Restructuring the Authority retired most of the outstanding debt of the
Authority with either funds available or by issuing new bonds, the proceeds of which were used to purchase
U.S. Treasury obligations that were placed in irrevocable trusts. The principal and interest within the trusts
will be used to repay the refunded debt. The trust account assets and the refunded debt are excluded from the
consolidated balance sheets.
In accordance with GASB Statement No. 23, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Refundings of Debt Reported
by Proprietary Activities, gains or losses resulting from debt refundings have been deferred and will be amortized over the lesser of the remaining life of the old debt or the life of the new debt.
The debt refundings resulted in an economic loss of approximately $57 and an increase in future debt service cash flow of $4,283. The economic loss is defined as the present value of the increase in future debt service
cash flows.
During 2003 the Authority completed escrow restructurings of the TBTA Subordinate Revenue Bonds Series
2002E, TBTA General Revenue Bonds Series 2002B, TBTA Subordinate Revenue Bonds Series 2002G, MTA
Dedicated Tax Fund Bonds Series 2002A, MTA Transportation Revenue Bonds Series 2002E, and MTA
Transportation Revenue Series 2002A. These restructurings resulted in a gross benefit of approximately $56.
At December 31, 2004, the following amounts of Authority bonds, which have been refunded, remain valid
debt instruments and are secured solely by and payable solely from their respective irrevocable trusts.
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MTA Transit and Commuter Facilities:
Transit Facilities Revenue Bonds
Commuter Facilities Revenue Bonds
Commuter Facilities Subordinate Revenue Bonds
Transit and Commuter Facilities Service Contract Bonds
Dedicated Tax Fund Bonds
Excess Loss Trust Fund
NYCTA:
Transit Facilities Revenue Bonds (Livingston Plaza Project)
TBTA:
Beneficial Interest Certificates
General Purpose Revenue Bonds
Special Obligation Subordinate Bonds
Mortgage Recording Tax Bonds

9
2,474
228
268
______________

Total

$9,154
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$1,819
1,679
79
1,005
1,426
30
137

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2004 and 2003
($ millions)

Debt Service Payments
Principal and interest debt service payments (excluding refunded bonds) at December 31, 2004, are as follows:
MTA
TBTA
_____________________
______________________
______________________
Senior
Subordinate
Aggregate
Revenue
Revenue
Debt
Service
_____________________ _____________________ _____________________
Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010-2014
2015-2019
2020-2024
2025-2029
2030-2034
2035-2039

$

235
245
249
259
273
1,565
1,992
2,529
3,196
2,159
–
_________________

$

590
585
576
556
554
2,566
2,135
1,603
952
192
–
_________________

$

77
81
78
88
92
515
684
806
1,051
959
–
______________

$

217
213
210
206
202
931
773
584
351
73
–
______________

$

39
40
43
44
48
275
407
472
596
440
–
______________

$

117
115
113
111
108
500
418
314
189
43
–
______________

$

351
366
370
391
413
2,355
3,083
3,807
4,843
3,558
–
_________________

$

924
913
899
873
864
3,997
3,326
2,501
1,492
308
–
_________________

$12,702

$10,309

$4,431

$3,760

$2,404

$2,028

$19,537

$16,097

The above interest amounts include both fixed and variable rate calculations. The interest rate assumptions
for variable rate bonds are as follows:
Dedicated Tax Fund, Series 2004D – 4.00% per annum
Certificates of Participation, Series 2004A – 3.542% per annum taking into account the interest rate swaps
Transportation Revenue Bonds, Series 2004A – 4.00% per annum
Dedicated Tax Fund, Series 2004B – 4.00% per annum
Dedicated Tax Fund, Series 2002B – 4.06% per annum until September 1, 2013 based on the interest rate
swap and 4.00% per annum thereafter
Transportation Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002B – 4.00% per annum
Transportation Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002C – 4.50% per annum
Transportation Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002D – 4.00% per annum and including net payments
made by MTA under the swap agreements
Transportation Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002G – 4.00% per annum
TBTA Subordinate Revenue Bonds, Series 2004A – 4.00% per annum
TBTA Subordinate Refunding Bonds, Series 2000A and 2000B – 4.00% per annum and including net payments made by TBTA under the swap agreements
TBTA General Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002C – 4.00% per annum and including net payments
made by TBTA under the swap agreements
TBTA General Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002D – 4.00% per annum
TBTA General Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002F – 4.00% per annum
TBTA General Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002G – 4.00% per annum
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Tax Rebate Liability
Under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, the Authority accrues a liability for an amount of rebatable arbitrage resulting from investing low-yielding, tax-exempt bond proceeds in higher-yielding, taxable securities.
The arbitrage liability is payable to the federal government every five years and is reported as part of other
long-term liabilities. At December 31, 2004 the Authority recorded a rebate liability amounting to $2.9.
Swap Agreements
Board-adopted Guidelines
The Related Entities adopted guidelines governing the use of swap contracts to manage the interest rate exposure of their debt. The Guidelines establish specific requirements that must be satisfied for a Related Entity to
enter into a swap contract.
Objectives of the Swaps
In order to protect against the potential of rising interest rates, to achieve a lower net cost of borrowing, to
reduce exposure to changing interest rates on a related bond issue, or, in some cases where Federal tax law
prohibits an advance refunding, to achieve debt service savings through a synthetic fixed rate, MTA, TBTA,
and the Transit Authority entered into separate pay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate swaps at a cost anticipated to be less than what MTA, TBTA, and the Transit Authority would have paid to issue fixed-rate debt.
Activity Since January 1, 2005
Effective March 24, 2005, the Authority entered into a $350 million notional amount fixed payer swap with
Citigroup Financial Products Inc. in connection with the issuance on that day of $350 million aggregate principal amount of Dedicated Tax Fund Variable Rate Refunding Bonds, Series 2005A. The Authority is paying
the counterparty the fixed rate of 3.3156% and the counterparty is paying the Authority 67% of one month
LIBOR.
Fair Value
Relevant market interest rates on the valuation date of the swaps reflected in the following charts (December
31, 2004) were lower than market interest rates on the effective date of the swaps. Consequently, as of the valuation date the swaps had negative fair values.
The fair values listed in the following tables represent the theoretical cost to terminate the swap as of the
date indicated, assuming that a termination event occurred on that date. The fair values were estimated
using the zero-coupon method. This method calculates the future net settlement payments required by the
swap, assuming that the current forward rates implied by the yield curve correctly anticipate future spot interest rates. These payments are then discounted using the spot rates implied by the current yield curve for
hypothetical zero-coupon bond due on the date of each future net settlement on the swap. In the event both
parties continue to perform their obligations under the swap, there is not a risk of termination and neither
party is required to make a termination payment to the other. The Authority, TBTA and the Transit Authority
are not aware of any event that would lead to a termination event with respect to any of their existing swaps.
See “Termination Risk” below.
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Terms and Fair Values
The terms, fair values and counterparties of the outstanding swaps of MTA and TBTA, as well as the swaps
entered into in connection with the 2 Broadway Certificates of Participation refunding, are as follows:
MTA
Notional
Amounts
as of
12/31/04 Effective
Associated Bond Issue (in millions)
Date

Dedicated Tax Fund
Variable Rate Bonds,
Series 2002B

$ 440.0

09/05/02

Fixed
Rate
Paid

Variable
Rate
Received

4.06%

Actual bond rate
until 04/30/10,
and thereafter,
BMA(1)

Fair
Values
as of
Swap
12/31/04 Termination
(in millions)
Date

Counterparty

$(20.4)

09/01/13 Morgan Stanley
Capital Services
Inc.

Transportation
Revenue Variable
Rate Refunding Bonds,
Series 2002D-1

200.0

05/30/02 3.385

BMA

(2.5)

01/01/06 Bear Stearns
Capital Markets
Inc.

Transportation
Revenue Variable
Rate Refunding Bonds,
Series 2002D-2

200.0

05/30/02 3.627

BMA

(4.5)

01/01/07 Bear Stearns
Capital Markets
Inc.

Transportation
Revenue Variable
Rate Refunding Bonds,
Series 2002D-2

200.0

01/01/07

4.45

69% of one-month
LIBOR(2)

(19.9)

11/01/32 Bear Stearns
Capital Markets
Inc.

Proposed Issuance of
Transportation Revenue
Bonds

500.0

09/01/05 3.584

67% of one-month
LIBOR

(8.6)

11/01/35 60% – UBS AG
20% – Lehman
Brothers Special
Financing Inc.
20% – AIG
Financial
Products Corp.

Proposed Issuance of
Transportation Revenue
Bonds

500.0

07/01/05 3.5016

67% of one-month
LIBOR

(4.9)

11/01/35 60% – Lehman
Brothers Special
Financing Inc.
40% – AIG
Financial
Products Corp.

Total

$2,040.0

$(60.8)

(1) The Bond Market Association Municipal Swap Index™.
(2) London Interbank Offered Rate.

51

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2004 and 2003
($ millions)

TBTA
Notional
Amounts
as of
12/31/04 Effective
Associated Bond Issue (in millions)
Date

Fixed
Rate
Paid

Variable
Rate
Received

Fair
Values
as of
Swap
12/31/04 Termination
(in millions)
Date

Counterparty

Subordinate
$ 234.3
Revenue Variable
Rate Refunding Bonds,
Series 2000A and
2000B(3)

01/01/01

6.08%

Actual bond rate $ (45.9)

01/01/19 Bear Stearns
Capital Markets
Inc.

Subordinate
Revenue Variable
Rate Refunding Bonds,
Series 2000C and
2000D(3)

234.3

01/01/01

6.07

Actual bond rate

(44.4)

01/01/19 Citigroup
Financial
Products Inc.

General Revenue
Variable Rate
Refunding Bonds,
Series 2001B and
2001C(4)

278.0

01/01/02 5.777

Actual bond rate

(43.0)

01/01/19 Citigroup
Financial
Products Inc.

General Revenue
Variable Rate
Refunding Bonds,
Series 2002C(5)

85.8

01/01/00 5.634

Actual bond rate

(13.0)

01/01/13 Ambac Financial
Services, L.P.

Subordinate
Revenue Variable
Rate Refunding Bonds,
Series 2002G-1

90.5

11/26/02 3.218

Lesser of actual
bond rate, or 67%
of one-month
LIBOR minus 45
basis points

(1.8)

01/01/18 JPMorgan
Chase Bank

Subordinate Revenue
Variable Rate
Refunding Bonds,
Series 2002G-2

90.5

11/26/02 3.218

Lesser of actual
bond rate, or 67%
of one-month
LIBOR minus 45
basis points

(1.7)

01/01/18 JPMorgan
Chase Bank

Total

$1,013.4

$(149.8)

(3) In accordance with a swaption entered into on August 12, 1998 with each Counterparty paying a premium of $22.7.
(4) In accordance with a swaption entered into on February 24, 1999 with the Counterparty paying a premium of $19.2.
(5) In accordance with a swaption entered into on February 24, 1999 with the Counterparty paying a premium of $8.4.

In addition to the foregoing, the Authority entered into separate ISDA Master Agreements with UBS AG relating to the $357.925 Variable Rate Certificates of Participation, Series 2004A (Auction Rate Securities) in connection with the refunding of certain certificates of participation originally executed to fund certain improvements to the office building located at 2 Broadway in Manhattan. The 2 Broadway swaps have (1) an effective date of September 22, 2004, (2) a fixed rate paid of 3.092%, (3) a variable rate received of the lesser of (a)
the actual bond rate, or (b) 67% of one-month LIBOR minus 45 basis points, and (4) a termination date of
January 1, 2030. The Transit Authority is responsible for $245.9 notional amount of the swaps, MTA for
$75.15 aggregate notional amount, and TBTA for $36.875 aggregate notional amount. As of December 31,
2004, the aggregate fair value of the swaps was $(9.946 million).
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Counterparty Ratings
The current ratings of the counterparties, or their credit support providers, on existing swaps with the
Authority are as follows:
Ratings of the Counterparty
or its Credit Support Provider
Counterparty

S&P

Moody’s

Fitch

AIG Financial Products Corp.
Ambac Financial Services, L.P.
Bear Stearns Capital Markets Inc.
Citigroup Financial Products Inc.
JPMorgan Chase Bank
Lehman Brothers Special Financing Inc.
Merrill Lynch Capital Services Inc.
Morgan Stanley Capital Services Inc.
UBS AG

AAA
AAA
A
AAAAA
A+
A+
AA+

Aaa
Aaa
A1
Aa1
Aa2
A1
Aa3
Aa3
Aa2

AAA
AAA
A+
AA+
A+
A+
AAAAAA+

Except as set forth below, the notional amounts of the swaps match the principal amounts of the associated
bonds. The following table sets forth the notional amounts and the outstanding principal amounts as of
December 31, 2004 for those swaps where the notional amounts do not match the outstanding principal
amounts of the associated bonds.

Associated Bond Issue
TBTA General Revenue Variable Rate Refunding Bonds, Series 2001B and 2001C
TBTA General Revenue Variable Rate Refunding Bonds, Series 2002C

Principal
Amount of
Bonds
(in millions)

Notional
Amount
(in millions)

$296.4
103.3

$278.0
85.8

Except as discussed below under the heading “Rollover Risk,” the swap agreements contain scheduled reductions to outstanding notional amounts that are expected to approximately follow scheduled or anticipated
reductions in the principal amount of the associated bonds.
Risks Associated with the Swap Agreements
From the Authority’s perspective, the following risks are generally associated with swap agreements:
• Credit Risk – The counterparty becomes insolvent or is otherwise not able to perform its financial
obligations. In the event of a deterioration in the credit ratings of the counterparty or the
Authority/TBTA/Transit Authority, the swap agreement may require that collateral be posted to secure
the party’s obligations under the swap agreement. See “Collateralization” below. Further, ratings deterioration by either party below levels agreed to in each transaction could result in a termination event
requiring a cash settlement of the future value of the transaction. See “Termination Risk” below.
• Basis Risk – The variable interest rate paid by the counterparty under the swap and the variable
interest rate paid by the Authority, TBTA, or the Transit Authority on the associated bonds may not be
the same. If the counterparty’s rate under the swap is lower than the bond interest rate, then the counterparty’s payment under the swap agreement does not fully reimburse the Authority, TBTA, or the
Transit Authority for its interest payment on the associated bonds. Conversely, if the bond interest rate
is lower than the counterparty’s rate on the swap, there is a net benefit to the Authority, TBTA, or the
Transit Authority.
• Termination Risk – The swap agreement will be terminated and the Authority, TBTA, or the Transit
Authority will be required to make a large termination payment to the counterparty.
• Rollover Risk – The notional amount under the swap agreement terminates prior to the final maturity of the associated bonds on a variable rate bond issuance, and the Authority, TBTA, or the Transit
Authority may be exposed to then market rates and cease to get the benefit of the synthetic fixed rate
for the duration of the bond issue.
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Credit Risk
The following table shows the diversification, by percentage of notional amount, among the various counterparties that have entered into ISDA Master Agreements with the Authority and/or TBTA, or in connection
with the 2 Broadway Certificates of Participation refunding. The notional amount totals below include both
Bear Stearns swaps relating to the Transportation Revenue Bonds, Series 2002D-2 (one of which swaps terminates on January 1, 2007, which is the date that the other swap becomes effective). The counterparties have
the ratings set forth above.
Notional
Amount
(in millions)

Counterparty
Bear Stearns Capital Markets Inc.
UBS AG
Citigroup Financial Products Inc.
Morgan Stanley Capital Services Inc.
Lehman Brothers Special Financing Inc.
AIG Financial Products Corp.
JPMorgan Chase Bank
Ambac Financial Services, L.P.

834.3
657.9
512.3
440.0
400.0
300.0
181.0
85.8
__________________

Total

$3,411.3

% of Total
Notional
Amount

$

24.5%
19.3
15.0
12.9
11.7
8.8
5.3
2.5

The ISDA Master Agreements entered into with the following counterparties provide that the payments under
one transaction will be netted against other transactions entered into under the same ISDA Master
Agreement:
• Bear Stearns Capital Markets Inc. with respect to the TBTA Subordinate Revenue Variable Rate
Refunding Bonds, Series 2000A and 2000B,
• Citigroup Financial Products Inc. with respect to the TBTA Subordinate Revenue Variable Rate
Refunding Bonds, Series 2000C and 2000D,
• Citigroup Financial Products Inc. with respect to the TBTA General Revenue Variable Rate Refunding
Bonds, Series 2001B and 2001C, and
• Ambac Financial Services, L.P. (though there is only one transaction outstanding under that Master
Agreement).
Under the terms of these agreements, should one party become insolvent or otherwise default on its obligations, close-out netting provisions permit the nondefaulting party to accelerate and terminate all outstanding
transactions and net the transactions’ fair values so that a single sum will be owed by, or owed to, the nondefaulting party.
Collateralization
Generally, the Credit Support Annex attached to the ISDA Master Agreement requires that if the outstanding
ratings of the Authority, TBTA, or the Transit Authority, as the case may be, or the counterparty falls to a certain level, the party whose rating falls is required to post collateral with a third-party custodian to secure its
termination payments above certain threshold amounts. Collateral must be cash or U.S. government or certain federal agency securities.
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The following table sets forth the ratings criteria and threshold amounts relating to the posting of collateral
set forth for The Authority, TBTA, or the Transit Authority, as the case may be, and the counterparty for each
swap agreement. In most cases, the Counterparty does not have a Fitch rating on its long-term unsecured
debt, so that criteria would not be applicable in determining if the Counterparty is required to post collateral.

MTA

Associated
Bond Issue

Counterparty

MTA Dedicated Tax
Fund Variable Rate
Bonds, Series 2002B

Morgan Stanley Capital
Services Inc.

MTA Transportation
Revenue Variable Rate
Refunding Bonds –
Series 2002D-1 and
Series 2002D-2

Bear Stearns Capital
Markets Inc.

MTA July 1, 2005 Hedge
– Transportation
Revenue Bonds

60% – Lehman Brothers
Special Financing Inc.
40% – AIG Financial
Products Corp.

MTA September 1, 2005
Hedge – Transportation
Revenue Bonds

60% – UBS AG
20% – Lehman Brothers
Special Financing Inc.
20% – AIG Financial
Products Corp.

If the highest rating of
the related MTA bonds
or the counterparty’s
long-term unsecured
debt falls to

Fitch – BBB+, or
S&P – BBB+
Fitch – BBB and below or
unrated, or
S&P – BBB and below or
unrated
Fitch – BBB+,
Moody’s – Baa1, or
S&P – BBB+
Fitch – BBB and below or
unrated,
Moody’s – Baa2 and
below or unrated by S&P
& Moody’s, or
S&P – BBB and below or
unrated
Fitch – BBB+,
Moody’s – Baa1, or
S&P – BBB+
Fitch – BBB and below or
unrated,
Moody’s – Baa2 and
below or unrated by S&P
& Moody’s, or
S&P – BBB and below or
unrated

Then the downgraded
party must post
collateral if its
estimated termination
payments are in
excess of

$10.0
$–

$10.0

$–

$10.0

$–

$10.0
Fitch – BBB+,
Moody’s – Baa1, or
S&P – BBB+
Fitch – BBB and below or $–
unrated,
Moody’s – Baa2 and
below or unrated by S&P
& Moody’s, or
S&P – BBB and below or
unrated
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2 Broadway Certificates of Participation, Series 2004A

Associated
Agencies

MTA
TBTA
Transit Authority

Counterparty

UBS AG

If the highest rating of
the MTA Transportation
Revenue Bonds falls to

Fitch – BBB+,
Moody’s – Baa1, or
S&P – BBB+
Fitch – BBB and below or
unrated,
Moody’s – Baa2 and
below or unrated by S&P
& Moody’s, or
S&P – BBB and below or
unrated
If the highest rating of
the Counterparty’s
long-term unsecured
debt falls to
Moody’s – Baa1 or lower,
or S&P – BBB+ or lower

Then MTA, TBTA, and
the Transit Authority
must post collateral
if its estimated
termination payments
are in excess of

$25.0

$–

Then the Counterparty
must post collateral if its
estimated termination
payments are in excess of
$–

TBTA

Associated
Bond Issue

Counterparty

Then the downgraded
party must post
collateral if its
estimated termination
payments are in
excess of

TBTA Subordinate
Revenue Variable Rate
Refunding Bonds,
Series 2000A and 2000B

Bear Stearns Capital
Markets Inc.

N/A – Because TBTA’s swap payments are insured,
TBTA is not required to post collateral, but Bear
Stearns is required to post collateral if its estimated
termination payments are in excess of $1.0.

TBTA Subordinate
Revenue Variable Rate
Refunding Bonds,
Series 2000C and 2000D

Citigroup Financial
Products Inc.

N/A – Because TBTA’s swap payments are insured,
TBTA is not required to post collateral, but
Citigroup is required to post collateral if its estimated termination payments are in excess of $1.0.

TBTA General Revenue
Variable Rate Refunding
Bonds, Series 2001B and
2001C

Citigroup Financial
Products Inc.

N/A – Because TBTA’s swap payments are insured,
TBTA is not required to post collateral, but
Citigroup is required to post collateral if its estimated termination payments are in excess of $1.0.

TBTA General Revenue
Variable Rate Refunding
Bonds, Series 2002C

Ambac Financial
Services, L.P.

N/A – Because TBTA’s swap payments are insured,
TBTA is not required to post collateral, but Ambac
is required to post collateral if its estimated termination payments are in excess of $1.0.
Fitch – BBB+,
$10.0
Moody’s – Baa1, or
S&P – BBB+
Fitch – Below BBB+,
$–
Moody’s – Below Baa1, or
S&P – Below BBB+

JPMorgan Chase Bank
TBTA Subordinate
Revenue Variable Rate
Refunding Bonds – Series
2002G-1 and Series
2002G-2
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event any downgraded party is responsible for an event of default or
potential event of default as defined in the ISDA Master Agreement, the downgraded party must immediately
collateralize its obligations irrespective of the threshold amounts.
Under each MTA and TBTA bond resolution, the payments relating to debt service on the swaps are parity
obligations with the associated bonds, as well as all other bonds issued under that bond resolution, but all
other payments, including the termination payments, are subordinate to the payment of debt service on the
swap and all bonds issued under that bond resolution. In addition, MTA and TBTA have structured each of the
swaps (other than the 2 Broadway swaps) in a manner that will permit MTA or TBTA to bond the termination
payments under any available bond resolution.
The payments relating to debt service on the 2 Broadway swaps are parity obligations with respect to the
sublease payments under the 2 Broadway Certificates of Participation, payable solely from available transportation revenues after the payment of the MTA’s transportation revenue bonds and additional parity and
subordinate bonds. All other payments, including the termination payments, are payable from substantially
the same pool of available transportation revenues after the payment of the MTA’s transportation revenue
bonds and additional parity and subordinate bonds.
The ISDA Master Agreement sets forth certain termination events applicable to all swaps entered into by the
parties to that ISDA Master Agreement. The Authority, TBTA, or the Transit Authority have entered into separate ISDA Master Agreements with each counterparty that governs the terms of each swap with that counterparty, subject to individual terms negotiated in a confirmation.
The following table sets forth, for each swap, the additional termination events for the following associated
bond issues. In certain swaps, where the counterparty has a guarantor of its obligations, the ratings criteria
applies to the guarantor and not to the counterparty.

MTA
Associated
Bond Issue

Additional Termination Event(s)

Counterparty

MTA Dedicated Tax
Fund Variable Rate
Bonds, Series 2002B

Morgan Stanley Capital
Services Inc.

The ratings by S&P and Fitch of the Counterparty
or the MTA Dedicated Tax Fund Bonds falls below
“BBB-” or are withdrawn.

MTA Transportation
Revenue Variable Rate
Refunding Bonds, Series
2002D-1 and Series
2002D-2 (both swaps)

Bear Stearns Capital
Markets Inc.

The ratings by S&P and Moody’s of the
Counterparty or the MTA Transportation Revenue
Bonds falls below “BBB-” and “Baa3”, respectively,
or are withdrawn.

MTA July 1, 2005 Hedge
– Transportation
Revenue Bonds

Lehman Brothers/AIG
Financial

The ratings by S&P and Moody’s of the
Counterparty or the MTA Transportation Revenue
Bonds falls below “BBB-” and “Baa3”, respectively,
or are withdrawn.

MTA September 1, 2005
Hedge – Transportation
Revenue Bonds

UBS AG/Lehman
Brothers/AIG Financial

The ratings by S&P and Moody’s of the
Counterparty or the MTA Transportation Revenue
Bonds falls below “BBB-” and “Baa3”, respectively,
or are withdrawn.

2 Broadway
Associated
Bond Issue

2 Broadway Certificates of
Participation, Series 2004A

Counterparty

UBS AG

Additional Termination Event(s)

Negative financial events relating to the swap insurer,
Ambac Assurance Corporation.
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TBTA
Associated
Bond Issue

TBTA Subordinate
Revenue Variable Rate
Refunding Bonds, Series
2000A and 2000B

Counterparty

Bear Stearns Capital
Markets Inc.

Additional Termination Events

1. TBTA can elect to terminate the swap on 10
business days’ notice if the Series 2000A and
2000B bonds are converted to a fixed rate, the
fixed rate on the converted bonds is less than the
fixed rate on the swap and TBTA demonstrates its
ability to make the termination payments, or TBTA
redeems a portion of the Series 2000A or 2000B
Bonds and demonstrates its ability to make the termination payments.
2. Negative financial events relating to the swap
insurer, Financial Security Assurance Inc.

TBTA Subordinate
Revenue Variable Rate
Refunding Bonds, Series
2000C and 2000D

Citigroup Financial
Products Inc.

1. TBTA can elect to terminate the swap on 10
business days’ notice if the Series 2000C and
2000D bonds are converted to a fixed rate, the
fixed rate on the converted bonds is less than the
fixed rate on the swap and TBTA demonstrates its
ability to make the termination payments, or TBTA
redeems a portion of the Series 2000C or 2000D
Bonds and demonstrates its ability to make the termination payments.
2. Negative financial events relating to the swap
insurer, Financial Security Assurance Inc.

TBTA General Revenue
Variable Rate Refunding
Bonds, Series 2001B and
2001C

Citigroup Financial
Products Inc.

1. TBTA can elect to terminate the swap on 10
business days’ notice if the Series 2001B and 2001C
bonds are converted to a fixed rate, the fixed rate
on the converted bonds is less than the fixed rate
on the swap and TBTA demonstrates its ability to
make the termination payments, or TBTA redeems
a portion of the Series 2001B or 2001C Bonds and
demonstrates its ability to make the termination
payments.
2. Negative financial events relating to the swap
insurer, Financial Security Assurance Inc.

TBTA General Revenue
Variable Rate Refunding
Bonds, Series 2002C

Ambac Financial
Services, L.P.

1. TBTA can elect to terminate the swap on 10
business days’ notice if the Series 2002C bonds are
converted to a fixed rate, the fixed rate on the converted bonds is less than the fixed rate on the swap
and TBTA demonstrates its ability to make the termination payments, or TBTA redeems a portion of
the Series 2002C Bonds and demonstrates its ability to make the termination payments.
2. Negative financial events relating to the swap
insurer, Ambac Assurance Corporation.
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TBTA
Associated
Bond Issue

Subordinate Revenue
Variable Rate Refunding
Bonds, Series 2002G-1

Counterparty

JPMorgan Chase Bank

Additional Termination Events

1. The ratings by S&P and Moody’s of the
Counterparty or the MTA Transportation Revenue
Bonds falls below “BBB-” and “Baa3”, respectively,
or are withdrawn.
2. TBTA may terminate the swap at no cost on or
after December 29, 2010.

TBTA Subordinate
Revenue Variable Rate
Refunding Bonds, Series
2002G-2

JPMorgan Chase Bank

1. The ratings by S&P and Moody’s of the
Counterparty or the MTA Transportation Revenue
Bonds falls below “BBB-” and “Baa3”, respectively,
or are withdrawn.
2. TBTA may terminate the swap at no cost on or
after January 5, 2011.

Rollover Risk
MTA and TBTA are exposed to rollover risk on swaps that mature or may be terminated prior to the maturity
of the associated debt. When these swaps terminate MTA or TBTA may not realize the synthetic fixed rate
offered by the swaps on the underlying debt issues. The following debt is exposed to rollover risk:

Associated Bond Issue
TBTA General Revenue Variable Rate Refunding Bonds, Series 2001B and 2001C
MTA Dedicated Tax Fund Variable Rate Bonds, Series 2002B
MTA Transportation Revenue Variable Rate Refunding Bonds, Series 2002D-1
TBTA General Revenue Variable Rate Refunding Bonds, Series 2002C
TBTA Subordinate Revenue Variable Rate Refunding Bonds, Series 2002G(1)

Bond
Maturity
Date

Swap
Termination
Date

01/01/32
11/01/22
11/01/29
01/01/33
11/01/32

01/01/19
09/01/13
01/01/06
01/01/13
01/01/18

(1) The swap relating to the Subseries 2002G-1 Bonds in the notional amount of $90.5 may be terminated at the option of TBTA on
or after December 29, 2010, and the swap relating to the Subseries 2002G-2 Bonds in the notional amount of $90.5 may be terminated at the option of TBTA on or after January 5, 2011.

It should also be noted that, in connection with the TBTA Subordinate Revenue Variable Rate Refunding
Bonds, Series 2000A, 2000B, 2000C, and 2000D, currently, all of the principal of the bonds is scheduled to be
amortized through sinking fund redemption payments by the time of the swap’s termination; however, TBTA
has retained the right to readjust the sinking fund payments to decrease the amounts of the sinking fund payments currently scheduled and to extend the amortization period of the Series 2000A – D Bonds to January 1,
2031. A readjustment of the sinking fund payments would not change the scheduled decreases in notional
amounts of the associated swap. As a result, the principal amount of the bonds outstanding would exceed the
notional amount of the associated swap. However, if TBTA decided to readjust the sinking fund schedules,
TBTA would be exposed to rollover risk at the swap termination date. TBTA could readjust such sinking fund
redemption schedules only upon delivery of an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel meeting the
conditions of the bond resolutions. TBTA has no current intention of exercising these rights.
Swap payments and Associated Debt
The following tables contain the aggregate amount of estimated variable-rate bond debt service and net swap
payments during certain years that such swaps were entered into in order to: protect against the potential of
rising interest rates; achieve a lower net cost of borrowing; reduce exposure to changing interest rates on a
related bond issue; or, in some cases where federal tax law prohibits an advance refunding, achieve debt serv-
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ice savings through a synthetic fixed rate. As rates vary, variable-rate bond interest payments and net swap
payments will vary. Using the following assumptions, debt service requirements of MTA’s and TBTA’s outstanding variable-rate debt and net swap payments are estimated to be as follows:
• It is assumed that the variable-rate bonds would bear interest at a rate of 4.0% per annum.
• The net swap payments were calculated using the actual fixed interest rate on the swap agreements.
MTA (in millions)
Variable-Rate Bonds
Fiscal Year Ending December 31
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010-2014
2015-2019
2020-2024
2025-2029
2030-2034

Principal
$

–
–
–
–
–
40.9
233.2
256.8
131.9
177.2

Interest
$ 33.6
33.6
33.6
33.6
33.6
167.7
140.4
87.1
50.9
16.3

Net Swap
Payments
$(1.7)
(0.5)
1.2
1.2
1.2
5.5
4.5
4.5
4.5
1.8

Total
$ 31.9
33.1
34.8
34.8
34.8
214.1
378.1
348.4
187.3
195.4

TBTA (in millions)
Variable-Rate Bonds
Fiscal Year Ending December 31
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010-2014
2015-2019
2020-2024
2025-2029
2030-2034

Principal

Interest

Net Swap
Payments

Total

$ 20.8
22.1
23.5
31.3
33.6
213.9
282.8
134.0
169.5
118.0

$ 41.3
40.3
39.1
38.6
36.7
160.3
107.2
71.8
39.9
6.5

$14.4
13.5
12.6
11.5
11.1
38.2
7.7
–
–
–

$ 76.5
75.9
75.2
81.3
81.3
412.5
397.6
205.8
209.4
124.4

7—Lease Transactions
Hillside Facility
On March 31, 1997, the Authority entered into a lease/leaseback transaction with a third party whereby the
Authority leased LIRR’s Hillside maintenance facility. The term of the lease is 22 years, but the third party has
the right to renew for a further 21.5 year term. The facility was subsequently subleased back to the Authority
as a capital lease, and sub-subleased by the Authority to LIRR.
Under the terms of the lease/leaseback agreement, the Authority initially received $314, which was utilized
as follows. The Authority paid $266 to an affiliate of the third party’s lender, which has the obligation to
make a portion of sublease rent payments equal to this amount, thereby eliminating the need for the
Authority to make these payments to the third party. The Authority used $21 to purchase Treasury securities,
which it deposited under pledge to the third party. This deposit, together with the aforementioned obligation
of the third party’s lender, resulted in a financial defeasance of all sublease obligations, including the cost of
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purchasing the third party’s remaining rights at the end of the 22 year sublease period, if the purchase option
is exercised. A further $.6 was used to pay for legal and other costs of the transaction, and $3 was used to pay
the first rental payment under the sublease. A further $23 is the Authority’s net benefit from the transaction,
representing consideration for the tax benefits. TBTA has entered into a guarantee with the third party that
the sublease payments will be made. At December 31, 2004, the Authority has recorded a long-term capital
obligation and capital asset of $282 arising from the transaction.
Subway and Rail Cars
On December 12, 1997, the Authority entered into lease/leaseback transactions whereby the Authority leased
certain of MNCR’s rail cars to a third party and NYCTA leased certain subway maintenance cars to the same
third party. The lease periods for MNCR’s rail cars expire between 2009 and 2014, depending on the asset,
and the lease period for NYCTA’s subway maintenance cars expires in 2013. The third party has the right to
renew the lease for an additional period of 12 years for MNCR cars, depending on the asset, and a further 12
years for NYCTA’s subway maintenance cars. The cars were subsequently subleased back to the Authority as a
capital lease, and sub-subleased by the Authority to MNCR and NYCTA, respectively.
Under the terms of the lease/leaseback agreement, the Authority initially received $76.6, which was utilized
as follows. The Authority paid $59.8 to an affiliate of the third party’s lender, which has the obligation to
make a portion of sublease rent payments equal to this amount, thereby eliminating the need for the
Authority to make these payments to the third party. The Authority used $12.5 to purchase a Letter of Credit
from an affiliate of the third-party’s lender, guaranteed by the third-party lender’s parent. This payment,
together with the aforementioned obligation of the third-party’s lender, is sufficient to settle all obligations,
including the cost of purchasing the third party’s remaining rights at the end of the sublease period if the purchase options are exercised. At December 31, 2004, the Authority has recorded a long-term capital obligation
and capital asset of $50 arising from the transaction. The net proceeds are deferred and amortized to operations over the period of the lease.
On September 25, 2002 and December 17, 2002 the Authority entered into four sale/leaseback transactions
whereby NYCTA transferred ownership of certain NYCTA subway cars to the Authority, the Authority sold
those cars to third parties, and MTA leased those cars back from such third parties. The Authority subleased
the cars to NYCTA. The four leases expire in 2032, 2034, 2033, and 2033, respectively. At the lease expiration,
the Authority has the option of either exercising a fixed price purchase option for the cars or returning the
cars to the third party owner.
Under the terms of the sale/leaseback agreements, the Authority initially received $1,514.9, which was utilized as follows: The Authority paid $1,058.6 to affiliates of certain of the lenders to the third parties, which
affiliates have the obligation to make a portion of the lease rent payment equal to the debt service on the
related loans, thereby eliminating the need for MTAHQ to make these payments to the third parties. The
Authority also purchased Freddie Mac, FNMA, and U.S. Treasury debt securities in amounts and with maturities which are sufficient to make the lease rent payments equal to the debt service on the loans from the other
lenders to the third parties. In the case of one of the four leases, MTAHQ also purchased Freddie Mac debt
securities in amounts and with maturities which are expected to be sufficient to pay the remainder of the
lease rent payments under that lease and the purchase price due upon exercise by the Authority of the purchase option if exercised. In the case of the other three leases, the Authority entered into Equity Payment
Agreements with Premier International Funding Co. (which are guaranteed by Financial Security Assurance,
Inc.) whereby that entity has the obligation to provide to the Authority the amounts necessary to make the
remainder of the basic lease rent payments under the leases and to pay the purchase price due upon exercise
by the Authority of the purchase options if exercised. The amount remaining after payment of transaction
expenses, $96.2, was the Authority’s net benefit from these four transactions. These amounts are deferred and
amortized to operations over the period of the lease.
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During 1995, TBTA entered into a sale/leaseback transaction with a third party whereby the TBTA sold certain subway cars, which were contributed by the NYCTA, for net proceeds of $84.2. These cars were subsequently leased back by the TBTA under a capital lease. The deferred credit of $34.2 was netted against the
carrying value of the leased assets, and the assets were recontributed to the NYCTA. TBTA transferred $5.5 to
the Authority, representing the net economic benefit of the transaction. The remaining proceeds, equal to the
net present value of the lease obligation, of which $71.3 was placed in an irrevocable deposit account and
$7.5 was invested in U.S. Treasury Strips. The estimated yields and maturities of the deposit account and the
Treasury Strips are expected to be sufficient to meet all obligations under the lease as they become due. The
capital lease obligation is included in other long-term liabilities. At the end of the lease term TBTA has the
option to purchase the subway cars for approximately $106 which amount has been reflected in the net present value of the lease obligation, or to make a lease termination payment of approximately $89.
QTE Lease Transactions
On December 19, 2002, the Authority entered into four sale/leaseback transactions whereby NYCTA transferred ownership of certain NYCTA qualified technological equipment (QTE) relating to the NYCTA automated
fare collection system to the Authority. The Authority sold that equipment to third parties and the Authority
leased that equipment back from such third parties. The Authority subleased the equipment to NYCTA. The
four leases expire in 2022, 2020, 2022, and 2020, respectively. At the lease expiration the Authority has the
option of either exercising a fixed price purchase option for the equipment or returning the equipment to the
third-party owner.
Under the terms of the sale/leaseback agreements the Authority initially received $507.4, which was utilized
as follows: The Authority paid $316.2 to affiliates of certain of the lenders to the third parties, which affiliates
have the obligation to make a portion of the lease rent payment equal to the debt service on the related
loans, thereby eliminating the need for the Authority to make these payments to the third parties. The
Authority also purchased FNMA and U.S. Treasury debt securities in amounts and with maturities which are
sufficient to make the lease rent payments equal to the debt service on the loans from the other lenders to the
third parties. In the case of three of the four leases the Authority also purchased U.S. Treasury debt securities
in amounts and with maturities which are expected to be sufficient to pay the remainder of the lease rent
payments under those leases and the purchase price due upon exercise by the Authority of the purchase
options if exercised. In the case of the other lease the Authority entered into an Equity Payment Undertaking
Agreement with XL Insurance (Bermuda) Ltd. (which is guaranteed by XL Financial Assurance Ltd.) whereby
that entity has the obligation to provide to the Authority the amounts necessary to make the remainder of
the basic lease rent payments under that lease and to pay the purchase price due upon exercise by the
Authority of the purchase option if exercised. The amount remaining after payment of transaction expenses,
$57.6, was the Authority’s net benefit from these four transactions. As consideration for the cooperation of the
City of New York in these transactions, including the transfer of any property interests held by the City on
such equipment to NYCTA and the Authority, the Authority is obligated to pay to the City 24.11% of the net
benefit received from these four QTE transactions.
On June 3, 2003, the Authority entered into a sale/leaseback transaction whereby NYCTA transferred ownership of certain NYCTA subway cars to the Authority, the Authority sold those cars to a third party, and the
Authority leased those cars back from such third party. The Authority subleased the cars to NYCTA. The lease
expires in 2033. At the lease expiration, the Authority has the option of either exercising a fixed price purchase option for the cars or returning the cars to the third-party owner.
Under the terms of the sale/leaseback agreement, the Authority initially received $168.1 million, which was
utilized as follows: The Authority paid $126.3 to an affiliate of one of the lenders to the third party, which
affiliate has the obligation to make a portion of the lease rent payment equal to the debt service on the related loan, thereby eliminating the need for MTAHQ to make these payments to third parties. The Authority
also purchased FNMA and U.S. Treasury securities in amounts and with maturities which are sufficient to
make the lease rent payments equal to the debt service on the loans from the other lender to the third party
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and to pay the remainder of the rent under that lease and the purchase price due upon exercise by the
Authority of the purchase option if exercised. The amount remaining after payment of transaction expenses,
$7.4, was the Authority’s benefit from the transaction.
On September 25, 2003 and September 29, 2003, MTA entered into two sale/leaseback transactions whereby
NYCTA transferred ownership of certain NYCTA subway cars to MTA, MTA sold those cars to third parties, and
MTA leased those cars back from such third parties. MTA subleased the cars to NYCTA. Both leases expire in
2033. At the lease expiration, MTAHQ has the option of either exercising a fixed price purchase option for the
cars or returning the cars to the third party owner.
Under the terms of the sale/leaseback agreements, MTA initially received $294, which was utilized as follows: In the case of one of the leases MTA paid $97 to an affiliate of one of the lenders to the third party,
which affiliate has the obligation to make a portion of the lease rent payment equal to the debt service on
the related loan, thereby eliminating the need for MTA to make these payments to the third party. In the case
of the other lease MTA purchased U.S. Treasury debt securities in amounts and with maturities which are sufficient to make the lease rent payments equal to the debt service on the loan from the other lender to the
third party. In the case of both of the leases MTA also purchased REFCO debt securities that mature in 2030
under an agreement with AIG Matched Funding Corp. (guaranteed by American International Group, Inc.)
whereby AIG Matched Funding Corp. receives the proceeds from the REFCO debt securities at maturity and is
obligated to pay the remainder of the lease rent payments under those leases and the purchase price due
upon exercise by MTA of the purchase options if exercised. The amount remaining after payment of transaction expenses, $24, was MTA’s net benefit from these two transactions. These amounts are deferred and amortized to operations over the period of the respective leases.
Other Lease Transactions
On July 29, 1998, the MTAHQ, NYCTA, and TBTA entered into a lease and related agreements whereby each
agency, as sublessees, will rent, for an initial stated term of approximately 50 years, an office building at Two
Broadway in lower Manhattan. The lease term expires on July 30, 2048, and, pursuant to certain provisions,
is renewable for two additional 15-year terms. The lease comprises both operating (for the lease of land) and
capital (for the lease of the building) elements. The total annual rental payments over the initial lease term
are $1,602 with rent being abated from the commencement date through June 30, 1999. During 2002 and
2001 the Authority made rent payments of $21. In connection with the renovation of the building and for
tenant improvements, the Authority issued $121 and $328 in 2000 and 1999, respectively, of long-term obligations (see Note 6). The office building is principally occupied by NYCTA and TBTA.
On April 8, 1994, the Authority amended its lease for the Harlem/Hudson line properties, including Grand
Central Terminal. This amendment initially extends the lease term, previously expiring in 2031, an additional 110 years and, pursuant to several other provisions, an additional 133 years. In addition, the amendment
grants the Authority an option to purchase the leased property after the 25th anniversary of the amended
lease. The amended lease comprises both operating (for the lease of land) and capital (for the lease of buildings and track structure) elements.
In August 1988, the Authority entered into a 99-year lease agreement with Amtrak for Pennsylvania
Station. This agreement, with an option to renew, is for rights to the lower concourse level and certain platforms. The $45 paid to Amtrak by the Authority under this agreement is included in other assets. This
amount is being amortized over 30 years. In addition to the 99-year lease, LIRR entered into an agreement
with Amtrak to share equally the cost of the design and construction of certain facilities at Pennsylvania
Station. Under this agreement, the Authority may be required to contribute up to $60 for its share of the cost.
As of December 31, 2000 the project was closed and $50 was included in property and equipment.
Total rent expense under operating leases approximated $50 through December 31, 2004 and $42 through
December 31, 2003.
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At December 31, 2004, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable leases are as follows:
Year

Operating

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010 – 2014
2015 – 2019
2020 – 2024
2025 – 2029
2030 – 2034
Thereafter

Capital

$ 25
24
23
22
20
83
65
60
54
45
464

$

138
187
1,149
100
308
567
401
688
233
1,613
635

$885
Amount representing interest

6,019
(3,378)
______________

Present value of capital lease obligations

$2,641

8—Estimated Liability Arising from Injuries to Persons
A summary of activity in estimated liability as computed by actuaries arising from injuries to persons, including employees, and damage to third-party property, for the periods ended December 31, 2004 and December
31, 2003 is presented below:
December 31, December 31,
2004
2003
Balance, beginning of year
Activity during the year:
Current year claims and
changes in estimates
Claims paid

$1,049

$ 949

216
(138)

253
(153)

Balance, end of period
Less current portion

1,127
(182)
_____________

1,049
(160)
_____________

Long-term liability

$ 945

$ 889

9—Commitments and Contingencies
The Authority actively monitors its properties for the presence of pollutants and/or hazardous wastes and
evaluates its exposure with respect to such matters. When the expense, if any, to clean up pollutants and/or
hazardous wastes is estimable it is accrued by the Authority.
Management has reviewed with counsel all actions and proceedings pending against or involving the
Authority, including personal injury claims. Although the ultimate outcome of such actions and proceedings
cannot be predicted with certainty at this time, management believes that losses, if any, in excess of amounts
accrued resulting from those actions will not be material to the financial position, results of operations, or
cash flows of the Authority.
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10—Segment Information (Presented by Operating Activity)

MTA

Transit

Bridges
and
Tunnels

869
379
–
–
–
(1,145)
456
219

$ 2,787
892
317
1,329
151
(2,496)
1,286
723

$ 1,130
45
–
–
(397)
765
(143)
463

8,531
(83)
–
7,713

24,115
(85)
–
21,773

3,341
(166)
7,003
(4,187)

825
339
–
–
–
(996)
(939)
237

$ 2,602
829
317
1,146
240
(2,385)
1,450
746

$ 1,068
41
–
–
(1,266)
699
(789)
1,094

8,408
(76)
–
7,257

22,661
26
–
20,488

Commuters

Eliminations

Total

December 31, 2004
Operating revenue
Depreciation and amortization
Subsidies and grants
Tax revenue
Interagency subsidy
Operating (deficit) surplus
Net (deficit) surplus
Capital expenditures

$

89
28
374
1,791
397
(313)
(1,516)
3,484

$

$

(38)
–
(159)
(805)
(151)
13
–
(1,419)

$ 4,837
1,344
532
2,315
–
(3,176)
83
3,470

(1,761)
(130)
(46)
–

43,837
59
19,921
17,596

(37)
–
(158)
(757)
594
–
–
(1,905)

4,544
1,235
549
1,845
–
(3,038)
651
3,835

(1,573)
(193)
(43)
–

42,030
490
17,927
17,513

December 31, 2004
Total assets
Net working capital
Long-term debt
Net assets

9,611
523
12,964
(7,703)

December 31, 2003
Operating revenue
Depreciation and amortization
Subsidies and grants
Tax revenue
Interagency subsidy
Operating (deficit) surplus
Net (deficit) surplus
Capital expenditures

$

86
26
390
1,456
432
(356)
929
3,663

$

$

December 31, 2003
Total assets
Net working capital
Long-term debt
Net assets

9,230
838
11,129
(6,187)

3,304
(105)
6,841
(4,045)

NOTE: Only MTA and Bridges and Tunnels agencies are issuing debt.
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11—Settlement of Claims
The September 11, 2001 terrorist attack on the World Trade Center in New York resulted in the following significant items: (1) significant physical and structural damage to NYCTA’s N, R, 1, and 9 lines and related
facilities and stations; (2) temporary closure of some of TBTA’s bridges and tunnels, and certain restrictions
imposed on the number of vehicle occupants when the facilities were reopened; (3) safety and security expenditures in and around the World Trade Center; and (4) temporary closure of MNCR’s Grand Central Terminal
and LIRR’s Pennsylvania Station.
In April 2004, the Authority settled its claims with its property insurance carriers for damage caused as a
result of the September 11, 2001 terrorist attack. The global settlement in the amount of $398 represents the
settlement of claims for losses related to physical damage of property, loss of revenues, increased operating
expenses, and other expenses related to the clean up of its facilities caused by the attack.
On November 4, 2003, MTA entered into agreement to end the litigation between the Authority and the
owners of the 2 Broadway facilities. The settlement provides a $45 rent credit to the Authority over a 30-year
period commencing January 1, 2004.

12—Subsequent Events
In February 2005 the Authority issued Transportation Revenue Bonds, Series 2005A, in the principal amount
of $650 to finance transit and commuter projects.
In March 2005 the Authority issued Dedicated Tax Fund Variable Rate Refunding Bonds, Series 2005A, in
the principal amount of $350. These bonds are being issued to refund certain outstanding Dedicated Tax
Fund Bonds.
TBTA is currently the owner of the John D. Caemmerer West Side Yard (the “West Side Yard”) located
between 30th and 33rd Streets and 10th and 12th Avenues in Manhattan. The West Side Yard is currently
used as a commuter rail car and locomotive storage yard with support facilities. On February 22, 2005, the
Authority solicited interest for the sale or lease of the air space and related real property interests above the
western portion of the West Side Yard for development. It is expected that the Authority will solicit interest for
the sale or lease of the air space and related real property interests above the eastern portion of the West Side
Yard in the future. In the event the Authority selects a developer for all or any portion of the site, it is expected that TBTA will transfer title to the West Side Yard to the Authority for nominal value. It is the Authority’s
expectation that substantially all of the net proceeds of any development sale or lease will be applied to the
transit and commuter capital programs.
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January 1,
2004

January 1,
2003

January 1,
2002

$ 689.7

$ 701.9

$ 820.8

b. Actuarial accrued liability (AAL)

1,745.6

1,567.2

1,451.4

c. Total unfunded AAL (UAAL) [b-a]

1,055.9

865.3

630.6

LIRR
a. Actuarial value of plan assets

d. Funded ratio [a/b]
e. Covered payroll

39.5%
$ 151.2

f. UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll [c/e]

44.8%
$ 174.9

698.3%

56.6%
$ 180.3

494.7%

349.8%

SIRTOA
a. Actuarial value of plan assets

$

36.8

$

34.4

$

33.8

b. Actuarial accrued liability (AAL)

44.8

42.4

42.0

c. Total unfunded AAL (UAAL) [b-a]

7.9

8.1

8.2

d. Funded ratio [a/b]
e. Covered payroll
f. UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll [c/e]

82.3%
$

15.5
51.0%

81.0%
$

15.7

80.5%
$

15.3

51.6%

53.6%

MaBSTOA
a. Actuarial value of plan assets
b. Actuarial accrued liability (AAL)
c. Total unfunded AAL (UAAL) [b-a]
d. Funded ratio [a/b]
e. Covered payroll
f. UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll [c/e]

$ 713.2

$ 629.8

$ 656.4

1,663.3

1,564.6

1,614.9

950.1

934.8

958.5

42.9%
$ 460.9
206.1%

40.3%
$ 450.6
207.5%

40.6%
$ 432.7
221.5%

MTA
a. Actuarial value of plan assets

$ 391.6

$ 243.2

$ 255.5

b. Actuarial accrued liability (AAL)

554.0

268.0

284.3

c. Total unfunded AAL (UAAL) [b-a]

162.4

d. Funded ratio [a/b]
e. Covered payroll
f. UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll [c/e]

70.7%
$ 451.1
36.0%

24.8

28.8

90.7%

89.9%

$ 154.0

$ 144.7

16.1%

19.9%
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Supplementary Information: Schedule of Financial Plan to Financial
Statements Reconciliation
Year Ended December 31, 2004
($ millions)

Financial Plan Actual – Operating Loss

$ (3,110.4)

Reconciling items:
TBTA Depreciation Expense – The Financial Plan subtracts the TBTA’s depreciation in order to reflect
the transfer of surplus revenues.

(45.6)

Timing Differences – The Capital Construction Company’s expenses are reflected in the Financial
Statements until adjusting entries are made for the capital reimbursements from the respective agencies.

(1.6)

FMTAC nonoperating revenues were recorded in the Financial Plan as operating revenues.

(6.9)

Within the Financial Plan, NYCTA interest income is included as operating revenue.

(4.3)

Within the Financial Statements, the Paratransit revenues were recorded in nonoperating.
The Financial Plan includes TBTA capital transfer to agencies.

21.8

Grants are classified in the Financial Plan as operating revenues, whereas on the Financial Statements
they are classified as nonoperating.
Financial Statement – Operating Loss
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Supplementary Information: Consolidated Reconciliation between Financial
Plan and Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2004
($ millions)

Category

Financial
Plan
Actual

Financial
Statement
GAAP Actual

$ 3,424.6
1,097.0
359.3
4,880.9

$ 3,424.6
1,097.0
315.7
4,837.3

Variance
(Financial
Statement
Actual Financial
Plan Actual)

Revenues:
Farebox Revenue
Vehicle Toll Revenue
Other Operating Revenue
Total Revenue
Expenses
Labor:
Payroll
Overtime
Health and Welfare
Pensions
Other Fringe Benefits
Reimbursable Overhead
Rounding
Total Labor Expenses
Non-Labor:

$

–
–
(43.6)
(43.6)

3,302.6
349.9
710.8
480.2
405.4
(233.3)
–
5,015.6

3,296.2
348.8
712.4
480.7
406.4
(196.5)
–
5,048.0

6.4
1.1
(1.6)
(0.5)
(1.0)
(36.8)
–
(32.4)

Traction and Propulsion Power
Fuel for Buses and Trains
Insurance
Claims
Paratransit Service Contracts
Maintenance and Other Operating Contracts
Professional Service Contract
Materials & Supplies
Other Business Expenses
Rounding
Total Non-Labor Expenses
Other Expenses Adjustments:
TBTA Transfer
General Reserve
Interagency Subsidy
Other
Total Other Expense Adjustments
Total Expenses Before Depreciation:

202.6
94.6
66.3
89.5
135.1
411.3
180.3
362.9
136.3
–
1,678.9

202.6
94.6
65.9
132.7
135.0
408.1
180.3
370.4
31.5
–
1,621.1

–
–
0.4
(43.2)
0.1
3.2
–
(7.5)
104.8
–
57.8

21.9
–
(43.4)
20.2
(1.3)
6,693.2

–
–
–
–
–
6,669.1

21.9
–
(43.4)
20.2
(1.3)
24.1

Depreciation
TBTA Depreciation Expense
Rounding
Total Expenses (Excluding TBTA Depreciation)

1,343.8
(45.6)
(0.1)
7,991.3

1,343.8
–
–
8,012.9

–
(45.6)
(0.1)
(21.6)

Net Operating Deficit Excluding Subsidies and Debt Service

$(3,110.4)

$(3,175.6)

$(65.2)
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Supplementary Information: Consolidated Subsidy Accrual Reconciliation
between Financial Plan and Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2004
($ millions)

Financial
Plan
Actual

Accrued Subsidies
Mass Transportation Operating Assistance
Petroleum Business Tax
Mortgage Recording Tax 1
Mortgage Recording Tax 2
Mortgage Recording Tax Transfer
Urban Tax
State and Local Operating Assistance
Additional Mass Transportation Assistance Program
Nassau County Subsidy to Long Island Bus
Station Maintenance
Connecticut Department of Transportation (CDOT)
NYS Grant for D.S.
Investment Income
Adjustment for Rounding

$

Total Accrued Subsidies

$

751.1
559.5
353.4
291.4
(42.2)
360.1
378.8
15.0
7.3
128.5
51.6
131.2
5.6
–

16.3(1)
(1.3)(1)
–
–
(17.0)(2)
(22.5)
–(1)
(15.0)(1)
–
–
–
(131.2)(3)
1.2(2)
(0.1)

2,991.3

(169.6)

(3,110.4)

(3,175.6)

65.2

$ (288.7)

$ (184.3)

Interest on Long-Term Debt

$

Debt Service

$

2,821.7

Net Operating Surplus/(Deficit)
Excluding Accrued Subsidies and Debt Service
Total Net Operating Deficit

767.4
558.2
353.4
291.4
(59.2)
337.6
378.8
–
7.3
128.5
51.6
–
6.8
(0.1)

Financial
Statement
GAAP Actual

Variance
(Financial
Statement
Actual Financial
Plan Actual)

$

$(104.4)

818.4

848.1

(1) The classifications net to $0.
(2) The Financial Plan includes the items on a cash basis while the Financial Statements records them on an accrual basis.
(3) In The Financial Statement, funds received from NYS to cover debt service payments for Service Contract Bonds are being included in the subsidies
line. The Financial Plan does not include either the funds received or disbursed.
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Statistical Section

10-Year Statistical Tables

MTA Passenger Miles
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Rail Cars
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MTA Revenue Vehicle Miles
(millions)

Rail Cars

Buses

412

1995

98
411

1996

101
408

1997

98
411

1998

102
419

1999

106
431

2000

111
435

2001

113
443

2002

115
442

2003

116
449

2004

114
0

100

200

300

400

500

MTA Bridges and Tunnels Revenue Vehicles
(millions)

266

1995

260

1996

267

1997

279

1998

289

1999

296

2000

293

2001
2002

300

2003

297
303

2004
0

500

150

200

250

300

350

75

10-Year Statistical Tables

MTA Buses and Rail Cars
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Buses
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2004 Operating Statistics

MTA
New York City
Transit/Subway

MTA
New York City
Transit/Bus1

MTA
Staten Island
Railway

MTA
Long Island
Rail Road

Paid rides (annual)
2004

1,426,040,136

2003

1,384,068,220

Gain (loss)

740,586,160
727,607,228*

41,971,916

Percent change

12,978,932

3.0%

1.8%

3,343,322

79,253,521

3,398,232

80,924,069

(54,910)

(1,670,548)

-1.6%

-2.1%

Paid rides (average weekday)
2004

4,612,006

2003

4,512,503

Gain (loss)

2,361,292
2,338,751*

99,503

Percent change

22,541

2.2%

1.0%

12,117

278,389

12,359

287,930

(242)

(9,541)

-2.0%

-3.3%

Annual revenue vehicle miles
2004

338,050,195

101,004,313

2,176,581

58,863,939

2003

334,505,342

102,910,387

2,145,732

57,512,396

30,849

1,351,543

Gain (loss)

3,544,853

Percent change

(1,906,074)

1.1%

Average number weekday
train/bus trips

-1.9%

1.4%

2.4%

8,077

46,106

130

728

468

—

22

124

27

243

1

11

Route miles7
Rail route miles
Bus route miles

233
—

—
2,017

14
—

319
—

Track miles8

660

—

29

594

6,191
—

—
4,682

64
—

1,142
—

Bridges

—

—

—

—

Tunnels

—

—

—

—

27,336

14,115

297

6,318

Stations
Train lines/bus routes

Rolling stock
Rail cars
Buses

Employees

1. Includes Manhattan and Bronx Surface Transit Operating Authority,
an MTA New York City Transit subsidiary.
2. Ridership and employee statistics reflect both fixed route and paratransit operations.

3. Includes operations on the Harlem, Hudson, and New Haven lines in
New York State and Connecticut as well as the New York State portions of the Port Jervis and Pascack Valley lines.
4. MTA New York City Transit/Subway plus MTA New York City
Transit/Bus.

* Revised from 2003 Annual Report.
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2004 Operating Statistics

MTA
Long Island
Bus2

MTA
Metro-North
Railroad 3

MTA
Bridges and
Tunnels

30,594,795

72,374,775

302,903,321

30,433,281
161,514
0.5%

71,967,650*
407,125

297,465,352*
5,437,969

0.6%

102,080

248,513

102,401

248,011

(321)

502

-0.3%

0.2%

1.8%

848,134

MTA
New York City
Transit Total 4

2,166,626,296
2,111,675,448*
54,950,848
2.6%

6,973,298

840,706*

6,851,254*

7,428

122,044

0.9%

1.8%

Combined
MTA Railroads
Total 5

151,628,296
152,891,719*
(1,263,423)

MTA
Network
Total6

2,352,192,709
2,298,398,680*
53,794,029

-0.8%

2.3%

526,902

7,614,397

535,941

7,501,955*

(9,039)

112,442

-1.7%

1.5%

12,824,779

49,720,555

—

439,054,508

108,584,494

562,640,362

12,670,397

48,745,706

—

437,415,729

106,258,102

558,489,960

154,382

974,849

—

1,638,779

2,326,392

4,150,402

1.2%

2.0%

—

4,039

655

—

54,183

1,383

59,735

—

120

—

468

244

734

54

6

—

270

17

342

—
950

384
—

—
—

233
2,017

703
—

950
2,967

—

775

—

660

1,369

2,058

—
415

1,180
—

—
—

6,191
4,682

2,322
—

8,577
5,097

—

—

7

—

—

7

—

—

2

—

—

2

1,137

6,041

1,811

46,7219

12,359

5. MTA Long Island Rail Road plus MTA Metro-North Railroad.
6. MTA ridership totals do not include MTA Bridges and Tunnels vehicle
counts.
7. Nondirectional route miles; i.e., the distance from terminal to terminal.
Several rail or bus lines may share the same route.
8. Does not include track in yards.

0.4%

2.2%

0.7%

63,60410

9. Includes 1,489 employees at CPM, 2,943 employees at Executive Vice
President, 108 employees at Paratransit, 259 employees at Corporate
Communications, and 471 employees at other General and
Administrative.
10. Includes 588 employees at MTA Headquarters and 691 employees at
MTA Public Safety.
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The Metropolitan Transportation Authority is a public-benefit corporation chartered by the State of New York,
George E. Pataki, Governor.
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Michael J. Canino
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Katherine N. Lapp
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Mark D. Lebow
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Mark Page
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Andrew M. Saul
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MTA Agencies
MTA New York City Transit
Lawrence G. Reuter
President
370 Jay Street
Brooklyn, NY 11201-5190
718-330-3000

MTA Long Island Rail Road
James J. Dermody
President
Jamaica Station
Jamaica, NY 11435-4380
718-558 -7400

MTA Long Island Bus
Neil S. Yellin
President
700 Commercial Avenue
Garden City, NY 11530-6410
516-542-0100

MTA Metro-North Railroad
Peter A. Cannito
President
347 Madison Avenue
New York, NY 10017-3739
212-340-3000

MTA Bridges and Tunnels
Michael C. Ascher
President
Randalls Island
New York, NY 10035-0035
646-252-7000

MTA Capital Construction
Mysore L. Nagaraja
President
2 Broadway
New York, NY 10004-2207
646-252-4277

MTA Bus Company
Thomas J. Savage
President
347 Madison Avenue
New York, NY 10017-3739
212-878-7174

For additional copies of the 2004 MTA annual report, write to MTA Marketing and Corporate Communications, 347 Madison Avenue, New
York, NY 10017-3739; for information about the 2004 financial statements, write to MTA Office of the Comptroller, 345 Madison Avenue,
New York, NY 10017-3937.
The 2004 MTA annual report and financial statements are also available on the MTA website at www.mta.info.
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